
CITY OF PLYMOUTH, WISCONSIN 
TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 12, 2024 COMMON COUNCIL MEETING  

7:00 PM COUNCIL CHAMBERS, ROOM 302 
128 SMITH ST. PLYMOUTH, WI 53073 

 
AGENDA 

 
1. Call to order and roll call 

 
2. Pledge of Allegiance 
 
3. Approval of the Consent Agenda (Alderpersons may request removal of item(s), or 

part thereof without debate or vote):  
A. Approve minutes of the meeting held Tuesday, October 29, 2024 
B. Approve City and Utility Reports: 

I. List of City & Utility Vouchers dated 10/01/2024 – 10/31/2024 
C. Minutes acknowledged for filing – Committee of the Whole: October 29 - 

Community Television: October 7 
D. Building Report for October 2024 – 37 permits at $3,910,648 
E. Approve Request to Sell Department of Public Works Surplus Equipment 
F. Approve Temporary “Class B” and Class “B” Alcohol License for Plymouth 

Historical Society – Plymouth Historical Society’s Wine & Cheese Event, to 
be held at 420 E Mill St. on November 21, 2024 at 4 PM – 8 PM.  

 
4. Audience Comments: Citizens comments must be recognized by the mayor or 

presiding officer and are limited to three minutes per person from those signed in on 
the registration sheet located at the back of the Council Chambers prior to the start 
of the meeting. 

 
5. Items removed from Consent Agenda: 

 
6. Awards 

A. Meritorious Conduct Award for Officer Konstanz 
 
7. Public Hearings followed by Council Discussion and Possible Action: 

A. Resolution No. 11 Adopting the Annual Budget, Making Appropriations, 
and Levying 2024 Property Taxes – Tim Blakeslee, City 
Administrator/Utilities Manager 

B. Ordinance No. 18 An Ordinance Amending the City of Plymouth, 
Wisconsin Comprehensive Plan Existing Land Use Map and Future Land 
Use Plan Map by Changing Property from Agriculture and Commercial 
to Residential – Tim Blakeslee, City Administrator/Utilities Manager 

C. Ordinance No. 19 An Ordinance Amending Section 13-1-21, Zoning Map 
of the Zoning Code of the City of Plymouth – Tim Blakeslee, City 
Administrator/Utilities Manager 

D. Ordinance No. 20 an Ordinance Amending Section 13-1-21, Zoning Map 
of the Zoning Code of the City of Plymouth – Tim Blakeslee, City 
Administrator/Utilities Manager 

 



 
8. Ordinance: 

A. Ordinance No. 21 an Ordinance Amending Section 15-1-4 of the City of 
Plymouth, Wisconsin General Ordinances Regarding Adoption of 
Camping Unit State Code – Tim Blakeslee, City Administrator/Utilities 
Manager 

 
9. New Business: 

A. Discussion and Possible Action of Ski-Hill License Agreement Approval – 
Tim Blakeslee, City Administrator/Utilities Manager 

B. Discussion and Possible Action of Sargento Development Agreement 
Update – City Administrator/Utilities Manager, Tim Blakeslee 

C. Discussion and Possible Action of Substation Relay Panels – Tim 
Blakeslee, City Administrator/Utilities Manager 
 

10. Entertain a Motion to go into Closed Session for the Following: 
Pursuant to Wis. Stat. 19.85 (1) (e) deliberating or negotiating the purchasing of public 
properties, the investing of public funds or conducting other specified public business, 
whenever competitive or bargaining reasons require a closed session - SCEDC 

 
11. Entertain a Motion to go into Open Session. 

 
12. Discussion and Possible Action on Closed Session Item 

 
13. Adjourn to 7:00 PM on Tuesday, November 26, 2024 

 
It is likely a quorum of members of other governmental bodies of the municipality may be in attendance at the above stated meeting to 
gather information.  No action will be taken by any governmental body at the above stated meeting other than the governmental body 
specifically referred to above in this notice. 
 
Please note that, upon reasonable notice, efforts will be made to accommodate the needs of disabled individuals through appropriate 
aids and services.  For additional information or to request this service, please contact the City of Plymouth ADA Coordinator Leah 
Federwisch, located in the Plymouth Utilities office at 900 County Road PP, Plymouth, WI or call 920-893-3853.  



CITY OF PLYMOUTH, WISCONSIN 
TUESDAY, OCTOBER 29, 2024 COMMON COUNCIL MEETING  

7:00 PM COUNCIL CHAMBERS, ROOM 302 
128 SMITH ST. PLYMOUTH, WI 53073 

 
UNOFFICIAL MINUTES 

 
1. Call to order and roll call: Mayor Pohlman called the morning to order. On the call of 

the roll the following were present: Angie Matzdorf, Diane Gilson, John Binder, Dave 
Herrmann, John Nelson, Mike Penkwitz, Jeff Tauscheck and Greg Hildebrand. Also 
present: City Administrator/Utilities Manager Tim Blakeslee, Police Chief Ken Ruggles, 
Director of Public Works Cathy Austin, HR Specialist Leah Federwisch, and Library 
Director Leslie Jochman.  

 
2. Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
3. Approval of the Consent Agenda (Alderpersons may request removal of item(s), or 

part thereof without debate or vote): Motion was made by Hildebrand/Tauscheck to 
approve the consent agenda. Upon the call of the roll, all voted aye. Motion carried.  

A. Approve minutes of the meeting held Tuesday, October 8, 2024 
B. Approve City and Utility Reports: 

I. Electric, Water and Sewer Sales Report – September 2024 
II. Utility Related Write Offs for October - $2,296.12 

C. Minutes acknowledged for filing – Committee of the Whole: October 8 – 
Plymouth Housing Authority: October 9 - Library Board: September 9 

D. Approve Sheboygan County Sheriff’s Department Annual Joint Powers 
Agreement 2025 

 
4. Audience Comments: Citizens comments must be recognized by the mayor or 

presiding officer and are limited to three minutes per person from those signed in on 
the registration sheet located at the back of the Council Chambers prior to the start 
of the meeting: Dick Seefeldt thanked the Council for considering looking at the outdoor 
heater ordinance at Committee of the Whole. Hat Vu Vrba spoke about signs and the Dollar 
Store coming to the area. Joel Lunning spoke about the outdoor wood heater talked about 
at the Committee of Whole. He is the owner of the wood heater.  

 
5. Items removed from Consent Agenda: No items were removed from the agenda. The 

Mayor stated Item 7B. and 7C would be moved to before the public hearings. 
 

7B. Approval of Development Agreement with Wangard Development 
LLC – Blakeslee City Administrator / Utilities Manager explained Common 
Council approved a resolution at the meeting September 24 creating TID #7. 
Staff and Attorney Fieber have worked with Wangard Development LLC to 
finalize an agreement for the construction of 156 apartment units at a cost to 
the developer of $34.3 million that will create approximately $23.4 million of 
new value in Plymouth. In addition to the apartment development, the 
developer will be installing a private street infrastructure, private sewer 
infrastructure, public water infrastructure, public sidewalk infrastructure, 



private sewer user fees, power extension, security for infrastructure, 
development incentives, indemnification and other legal protections. Elhers 
conducted a financial pro forma analysis related to several developments in 
the proposed district. The pro forma analysis for the Wangard project from 
Ehlers noted based on the review of the proforma caps the maximum 
development incentive at 6.3 million for up to 20 years, with at 90% TIF 
Revenue. This is structured as a municipal revenue obligation, meaning no 
up-front payments are made to the developer. Attorney Fieber explained that 
this isn’t City debt, so this isn’t going to be General Obligation debt. The 
benefit to the developer having this reduced to a Municipal Revenue 
Obligation is that it’s easier to go to the bank to show what the anticipated 
amount is. The principal amount is 6.3 million but its really up to 6.3 million. 
Its what is called a pay-go. So they need to develop it and then they get paid 
under this Municipal Revenue Obligation. Motion was made by 
Nelson/Matzdorf to approve the Development Agreement with Wangard 
Development LLC. Hildebrand stated he spoke with the representative from 
Wangard if they would consider naming their road after the current longtime 
City Mayor. Wangard agreed to it, and gave the name of the road Pohlman 
Way. Upon the call of the roll, all voted aye. Motion carried.  
 
7C. Announce Public Hearing to be held at Common Council Tuesday 
November 12, 2024 at 7:00 PM in Room 302 at City Hall, 128 Smith St. 
Plymouth, WI regarding the proposed 2025 Budget followed by 
consideration of adoption of the 2025 Budget – Mayor Pohlman 
announced the public hearing.  

 
6. Public Hearing followed by Discussion and Action: Pohlman explained that both 

public hearings and the CSM, item 7A, will be talked about at the same time, but separate 
actions will be taken. Mayor Pohlman opened the public hearing at 7:19 PM. Blakeslee 
explained that parcel number 59271829207 is located directly on the southwest corner of 
the intersection of Highway 67 and PP. With the approval of the property owner, Dollar 
General is requesting a Certified Survey Map, A Comprehensive Plan Amendment, and 
Rezoning for a proposed Dollar General. Mayor Polman asked if there were any public 
comments. Mike Fisher lives at the corner of Highway 67 and PP and is opposed to the 
rezoning of the parcel for commercial use for multiple reasons, including traffic. Julia 
Griffin is opposed to the proposed development due to the traffic at that intersection. 
Mitchell Woytych is opposed to the proposed development due to the increase of crime 
from Dollar Generals and traffic safety of the intersection. Kevin Sande is concerned 
about the rezoning of the property to B3 for the possibility in the future the could come 
back and request access on highway 67. He would like the rezone to be reconsidered to 
business and not business highway. Jim Pankow the owner of the property addressed the 
concerns of the intersection. The state won’t look at the intersection because there’s not 
enough traffic and yet the concern is there’s to much traffic. Nicole Fisher lives at the 
corner of Highway 67 and PP and is opposed to the development due to the traffic that is 
at the intersection and would like the safety concerns addressed before anything is 
developed at that intersection. Mayor Pohlman stated that the City doesn’t own that 
intersection and the City has tried to get that intersection from the State in the past. Sheila 
Kaufman is opposed to the development and believes there shouldn’t be anymore traffic 



added to the intersection. Linda Mittag is opposed to the development due to traffic and 
because it is one of the gateways to Plymouth and seeing Dollar General or another 
development wouldn’t do justice to Plymouth. Kevin Sande spoke again about the speed 
study on Hill and Dale. Nelson would like to keep the retail condensed in the same area. 
He is concerned about the traffic, but his main issue is the character of Plymouth. Binder 
is concerned with the intersection and agrees something should be done at the 
intersection. He wanted to make a motion to postpone 6A and 6B until more information 
is collected. Mayor Pohlman explained he couldn’t make a motion in a public hearing he 
will have to wait until out of the public hearing. Attorney Fieber added the Council 
abides by Robert’s Rules of order the Motion Binder would be proposing would be called 
a subsidiary motion. The Council can suspend their rules to make a motion like this 
otherwise the Council would first need a main motion, like a motion to approve or motion 
to deny, bringing the question forward. Than a motion can be made to postponed to refer 
to a committee, wait for an additional study to be done, or give a timeline. Penkwitz 
thanked the residents for sending thoughts. Herrmann added that the City does not control 
that intersection, but the City can control whether there is additional traffic put there. 
With no more comments the Mayor closed the public hearing at 8:08 PM. Fieber just 
asked the Council to confirm any discussion during the public hearing applies to this 
question. Council members confirmed that discussion during the public hearing is their 
viewpoint as it relates to this question.  

A. Ordinance No. 16 Amending the Comprehensive Plan Existing Land Use 
Map and Future Land Use Plan Map by Changing Property From 
Agriculture to Commercial on the southwest corner of the intersection of 
State Highway 67 and Hill and Dale Road: Motion was made by 
Hildebrand/Herrman to deny Ordinance No. 16. A subsidiary motion was 
made by Binder/Matzdorf to postpone action on Ordinance No. 16 for 3 
months for the speed study results. Upon the call of the roll; Gilson, 
Matzdorf, Binder and Penkwitz voted yes, Nelson, Tauscheck, Hildebrand, 
and Herrmann voted no. Mayor broke the tie vote with a yes. Action is 
postponed on Ordinance No. 16 for 3 months for the speed study results.  

B. Ordinance No. 17 Amending the Zoning Map of the Zoning Code of the 
City of Plymouth from A, Agricultural to B-3 on the southwest corner of 
the intersection of State Highway 67 and Hill and Dale Road: Motion was 
made by Hildebrand/Herrman to deny Ordinance No. 17. A subsidiary 
motion was made by Binder/Matzdorf to postpone action on Ordinance No. 
17 for 3 months for the speed study results. Upon the call of the roll; Binder, 
Matzdorf voted yes, Penkwitz, Herrmann, Hildebrand, Gilson, Nelson, and 
Tauscheck voted no. Motion failed. Back to the first motion, Upon the call of 
the roll, Gilson, Nelson, Tauscheck, Hildebrand, Herrmann, Penkwitz voted 
yes, Matzdorf and Binder voted no. Motion carried. Ordinance No. 17 is 
denied.  
 

7. New Business: 
A. Approved Certified Survey Map (CSM) for ; Parcel number 

59271829207, Being All Of Lot 2 Of Certified Survey Map As Recorded 
In Volume 27 Of The Certified Survey Maps, Pages 290-291 As 
Document No 8409549, Located In Part Of The Northeast ¼ Of The 
Northeast ¼ Of Section 33, Township 15 North, Range 21 East, City Of 



Plymouth, Sheboygan County, Wisconsin:  Motion was made by 
Hildebrand/Herrmann to deny the CSM. Motion was made by 
Binder/Matzdorf to postpone action on the CSM. Upon the call of the roll; 
Penkwitz, Binder, and Matzdorf voted yes, and Hermann, Hildebrand, 
Tauscheck, Nelson, and Gilson voted no. Motion failed. Motion was made by 
Tauscheck/Binder to table the item until the City Administrator has time to 
reach out to the property owner. Upon the call of the roll, all voted aye. 
Motion carried. 

8. Entertain a Motion to go into Closed Session for the following: Motion was made by 
Herrmann/Tauscheck to go into closed session. Upon the call of the roll, all voted aye. 
Motion carried. 
Pursuant to Wis. Stat (1)(e) deliberating or negotiating the purchasing of public 
properties, the investing of public funds or conducting other specified public business, 
whenever competitive or bargaining require a closed session – Cheese Capital Winter 
Park License Negotiations  
 
AND 
 
Pursuant to Wis. Stat. 19.85 (1)(g) conferring with legal counsel for the government body 
who is rendering oral or written advice concerning strategy to be adopted by the body 
with respect to litigation in which it is or is likely to become involved regarding – 
Judicial Review Substation and Employment Claim 

 
9. Entertain a motion to go into open session: Motion was made by 

Tauscheck/Hildebrand to go into open session. Upon the call of the roll, all voted aye. 
Motion carried.  
 

10. Discussion and possible action on Closed Session item/s: No action was taken.  
 

11. Adjourn to 7:00 PM on Tuesday, November 12, 2024: Motion was made by 
Nelson/Hildebrand to adjourn the meeting. A unanimous aye vote was cast. Motion 
carried.   



CITY OF PLYMOUTH Payment Approval Report - Council Voucher Report City & Utility Page:     1

Report dates: 10/1/2024-10/31/2024 Nov 05, 2024  08:24AM

Report Criteria:

Detail report.

Invoices with totals above $0 included.

Paid and unpaid invoices included.

Invoice Detail.GL account = "0100100001000"-"2200567002200","2400111000000"-"8000232000000"

Vendor Vendor Name Invoice Number Description Invoice Date Net Invoice Amount Amount Paid Date Paid

10305

10305 BOARDMAN & CLARK LLP 292049 LEGAL SERVICE 10/17/2024 10,965.75 10,965.75 10/25/2024

Total 10305: 10,965.75 10,965.75

10325

10325 BORDER STATES ELECTRIC SU 929177758 SWITCH, REGULATOR BY-PASS  10/04/2024 13,057.08 13,057.08 10/25/2024

Total 10325: 13,057.08 13,057.08

10615

10615 LAKESIDE INTERNATIONAL TR 4094316P GARAGE LARGE EQUIP REPAIR  10/23/2024 1,674.67 1,674.67 11/01/2024

Total 10615: 1,674.67 1,674.67

10720

10720 FERGUSON WATERWORKS #14 0426981 CURB BOX REPAIR COUPLING -  09/17/2024 23.74 23.74 10/17/2024

Total 10720: 23.74 23.74

10825

10825 DORNER CO 512735 PRV REPAIR 10/10/2024 11,513.00 11,513.00 10/25/2024

Total 10825: 11,513.00 11,513.00

10875

10875 KEMIRA WATER SOLUTIONS IN 9017857081 CHEMICALS - WWTP 09/27/2024 11,036.34 11,036.34 10/10/2024

10875 KEMIRA WATER SOLUTIONS IN 9017860218 CHEMICALS - WWTP 10/21/2024 10,676.46 10,676.46 11/01/2024

Total 10875: 21,712.80 21,712.80

10930

10930 AURORA EAP 505-CI0005011 EAP - UTILITIES 09/30/2024 151.20 151.20 10/10/2024

10930 AURORA EAP 505-CI0005011 EAP - CITY 09/30/2024 248.40 248.40 10/10/2024

Total 10930: 399.60 399.60

10945

10945 ENERGENECS INC 0048307-IN SCADA REPAIR 10/18/2024 556.25 556.25 11/01/2024

Total 10945: 556.25 556.25

11027

11027 FASTENAL CO WIPLY158649 HVAC FILTERS 10/16/2024 57.61 57.61 11/01/2024

Total 11027: 57.61 57.61

11040

11040 FELDMANN SALES & SERVICE I 12002 CHAISAW MAINTAINENCE 10/03/2024 53.63 53.63 10/17/2024

11040 FELDMANN SALES & SERVICE I 12029 TOOL MAINTANENCE 10/08/2024 48.80 48.80 10/25/2024

11040 FELDMANN SALES & SERVICE I 40116 PARKS EQUIPMENT REPAIR &  09/30/2024 1,868.00 1,868.00 10/10/2024

11040 FELDMANN SALES & SERVICE I 40117 PARKS EQUIPMENT REPAIR &  09/30/2024 193.57 193.57 10/10/2024



CITY OF PLYMOUTH Payment Approval Report - Council Voucher Report City & Utility Page:     2

Report dates: 10/1/2024-10/31/2024 Nov 05, 2024  08:24AM

Vendor Vendor Name Invoice Number Description Invoice Date Net Invoice Amount Amount Paid Date Paid

11040 FELDMANN SALES & SERVICE I 40118 SNOW & ICE MATERIALS 09/30/2024 59.60 59.60 10/10/2024

11040 FELDMANN SALES & SERVICE I 40293 TREE TRIMMING SUPPLIES 10/08/2024 63.88 63.88 10/25/2024

11040 FELDMANN SALES & SERVICE I 40377 PARKS EQUIPMENT REPAIR &  10/11/2024 273.32 273.32 10/17/2024

Total 11040: 2,560.80 2,560.80

11180

11180 H & H UTILITY EXCAVATING INC 40011393-01 EXCAVATING-ELECTRIC DEPT 10/16/2024 693.60 693.60 10/25/2024

11180 H & H UTILITY EXCAVATING INC 4001392-01 EXCAVATING-ELECTRIC DEPT 10/16/2024 693.60 693.60 10/25/2024

Total 11180: 1,387.20 1,387.20

11205

11205 HAUCKE PLUMBING & HEATING  2401622 WATER LOAN 406 FOREST 08/12/2024 5,175.00 5,175.00 10/10/2024

11205 HAUCKE PLUMBING & HEATING  2401622 REM 406 FOREST AVE 08/12/2024 1,380.00 1,380.00 11/01/2024

11205 HAUCKE PLUMBING & HEATING  2401640 WATER/SEWER LOAN 210 FOR 08/13/2024 8,900.00 8,900.00 10/10/2024

11205 HAUCKE PLUMBING & HEATING  2402075 EVERGREEN GOLF CONTRACT 10/17/2024 190.00 190.00 10/25/2024

Total 11205: 15,645.00 15,645.00

11498

11498 KIEL SAND & GRAVEL 24307 7/8 REG ROAD GRAVEL 10/07/2024 350.57 350.57 11/01/2024

Total 11498: 350.57 350.57

11560

11560 KW ELECTRIC INC 241971 BUILDINGS & GROUNDS 10/08/2024 135.00 135.00 11/01/2024

Total 11560: 135.00 135.00

11615

11615 LENGLING PROPERTY MANAG 10675 PREPAID BILLABLE SERVICE 08/02/2024 175.00 175.00 10/17/2024

11615 LENGLING PROPERTY MANAG 10699 PREPAID BILLABLE SERVICE 09/30/2024 75.00 75.00 10/17/2024

11615 LENGLING PROPERTY MANAG 10715 LAWN SERVICE 10/01/2024 260.00 260.00 10/10/2024

11615 LENGLING PROPERTY MANAG 10715 LAWN SERVICE 10/01/2024 1,685.00 1,685.00 10/10/2024

11615 LENGLING PROPERTY MANAG 10715 LAWN SERVICE 10/01/2024 880.00 880.00 10/10/2024

11615 LENGLING PROPERTY MANAG 10715 LAWN SERVICE 10/01/2024 525.00 525.00 10/10/2024

11615 LENGLING PROPERTY MANAG 10715 LAWN SERVICE 10/01/2024 270.00 270.00 10/10/2024

11615 LENGLING PROPERTY MANAG 10715 LAWN SERVICE 10/01/2024 840.00 840.00 10/10/2024

11615 LENGLING PROPERTY MANAG 10715 LAWN SERVICE 10/01/2024 740.00 740.00 10/10/2024

11615 LENGLING PROPERTY MANAG 10717 PREPAID BILLABLE SERVICE 10/18/2024 75.00 75.00 10/25/2024

11615 LENGLING PROPERTY MANAG 10718 PREPAID BILLABLE SERVICE 10/18/2024 225.00 225.00 11/01/2024

11615 LENGLING PROPERTY MANAG 10719 PREPAID BILLABLE SERVICE 10/18/2024 245.00 245.00 11/01/2024

11615 LENGLING PROPERTY MANAG 10720 PREPAID BILLABLE SERVICE 10/18/2024 245.00 245.00 11/01/2024

Total 11615: 6,240.00 6,240.00

11687

11687 MARTELLE WATER TREATMEN 27911 WATER TREATMENT 09/23/2024 6,868.09 6,868.09 10/10/2024

Total 11687: 6,868.09 6,868.09

11770

11770 MEYER MOTORS INC 63297 GARAGE SMALL EQUIP REPAIR  10/16/2024 129.95 129.95 10/25/2024

Total 11770: 129.95 129.95



CITY OF PLYMOUTH Payment Approval Report - Council Voucher Report City & Utility Page:     3

Report dates: 10/1/2024-10/31/2024 Nov 05, 2024  08:24AM

Vendor Vendor Name Invoice Number Description Invoice Date Net Invoice Amount Amount Paid Date Paid

11815

11815 MIKE BURKART FORD INC 329819 VEHICLE MAINTENANCE FIRE 09/25/2024 640.41 640.41 10/10/2024

11815 MIKE BURKART FORD INC 50046 GARAGE SMALL EQUIPMENT R 10/16/2024 63.30 63.30 10/25/2024

11815 MIKE BURKART FORD INC DEAL 100013 CAPITAL POLICE VEHICLES 10/10/2024 17,087.50 17,087.50 10/17/2024

Total 11815: 17,791.21 17,791.21

11875

11875 SECURIAN FINANCIAL GROUP I November 202 EE CONTRIBUTION-UTILITIES 10/09/2024 413.22 413.22 10/10/2024

11875 SECURIAN FINANCIAL GROUP I November 202 BASIC PREMIUM-UTILITIES 10/09/2024 325.29 325.29 10/10/2024

11875 SECURIAN FINANCIAL GROUP I November 202 ER CONTRIBUTION-UTILITIES 10/09/2024 65.06 65.06 10/10/2024

11875 SECURIAN FINANCIAL GROUP I November 202 EE CONTRIBUTION-CITY 10/09/2024 568.70 568.70 10/10/2024

11875 SECURIAN FINANCIAL GROUP I November 202 BASIC PREMIUM-CITY 10/09/2024 372.49 372.49 10/10/2024

11875 SECURIAN FINANCIAL GROUP I November 202 ER CONTRIBUTION-CITY 10/09/2024 74.50 74.50 10/10/2024

Total 11875: 1,819.26 1,819.26

12207

12207 PLYMOUTH HIGH SCHOOL ORDER Y4862 YEARBOOK ADVERTISING 10/04/2024 75.00 75.00 10/17/2024

Total 12207: 75.00 75.00

12230

12230 PIGGLY WIGGLY 8-22-2024 POOL CONCESSIONS 08/22/2024 4.58 4.58 10/10/2024

12230 PIGGLY WIGGLY 9-9-2024 HRA ITEMS-CITY 09/09/2024 3.76 3.76 10/10/2024

12230 PIGGLY WIGGLY 9-9-2024 HRA ITEMS-UTILITIES 09/09/2024 3.77 3.77 10/10/2024

Total 12230: 12.11 12.11

12250

12250 PLYMOUTH UTILITIES-PC STMT100924 PETTY CASH 10/09/2024 11.56 11.56 10/10/2024

12250 PLYMOUTH UTILITIES-PC STMT100924 PETTY CASH 10/09/2024 94.42 94.42 10/10/2024

12250 PLYMOUTH UTILITIES-PC STMT100924 PETTY CASH 10/09/2024 24.98 24.98 10/10/2024

12250 PLYMOUTH UTILITIES-PC STMT100924 PETTY CASH 10/09/2024 42.95 42.95 10/10/2024

12250 PLYMOUTH UTILITIES-PC STMT100924 PETTY CASH 10/09/2024 45.78 45.78 10/10/2024

12250 PLYMOUTH UTILITIES-PC STMT100924 PETTY CASH 10/09/2024 46.93 46.93 10/10/2024

12250 PLYMOUTH UTILITIES-PC STMT100924 PETTY CASH 10/09/2024 39.95 39.95 10/10/2024

12250 PLYMOUTH UTILITIES-PC STMT100924 PETTY CASH 10/09/2024 60.00 60.00 10/10/2024

Total 12250: 366.57 366.57

12255

12255 PLYMOUTH UTILITIES STMT101724 PUBLIC BENEFITS 10/17/2024 3,070.70 3,070.70 10/25/2024

12255 PLYMOUTH UTILITIES STMT102424 PUBLIC BENEFITS 10/24/2024 1,725.05 1,725.05 10/25/2024

12255 PLYMOUTH UTILITIES STMT103124 PUBLIC BENEFITS 10/31/2024 2,533.42 2,533.42 11/01/2024

Total 12255: 7,329.17 7,329.17

12315

12315 PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION RA25-I-04740 ADVANCE ASSESSMENT 09/27/2024 9,897.00 9,897.00 10/10/2024

12315 PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION RA25-I-04740 ADVANCE ASSESSMENT 09/27/2024 13,918.00 13,918.00 10/10/2024

12315 PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION RA25-I-04740 ADVANCE ASSESSMENT 09/27/2024 7,112.99 7,112.99 10/10/2024

Total 12315: 30,927.99 30,927.99

12335

12335 QUALITY STATE OIL CO 6939950 DIESEL INVENTORY 10/09/2024 4,259.23 4,259.23 10/17/2024

12335 QUALITY STATE OIL CO 6939980 DIESEL INVENTORY 10/09/2024 4,638.70 4,638.70 10/17/2024



CITY OF PLYMOUTH Payment Approval Report - Council Voucher Report City & Utility Page:     4

Report dates: 10/1/2024-10/31/2024 Nov 05, 2024  08:24AM

Vendor Vendor Name Invoice Number Description Invoice Date Net Invoice Amount Amount Paid Date Paid

12335 QUALITY STATE OIL CO 887969 MOBIL SHC 630 10/02/2024 290.45 290.45 10/17/2024

12335 QUALITY STATE OIL CO 888815 GARAGE GAS & OIL 10/09/2024 115.02 115.02 10/17/2024

Total 12335: 9,303.40 9,303.40

12400

12400 RESCO INC 3048678 PUNCH-LOK BANDS FOR PULLI 09/24/2024 79.68 79.68 10/03/2024

12400 RESCO INC 3048678 FREIGHT 09/24/2024 15.92 15.92 10/03/2024

12400 RESCO INC 3048678 DISCOUNT 09/24/2024 .04- .04- 10/03/2024

12400 RESCO INC 3049449 CABLE CLEAN SPRAY 09/30/2024 930.56 930.56 10/03/2024

12400 RESCO INC 3049449 DISCOUNT 09/30/2024 .47- .47- 10/03/2024

12400 RESCO INC 3049449 FREIGHT 09/30/2024 27.73 27.73 10/03/2024

12400 RESCO INC 3049592 INSULATOR, EPOXILATOR DEA 10/01/2024 327.24 327.24 10/17/2024

12400 RESCO INC 3049592A 3T FUSES 10/31/2024 679.82 679.82 11/01/2024

12400 RESCO INC 3049723 TERMINATOR, OUTDOOR 1/0 -4 10/02/2024 2,070.43 2,070.43 10/17/2024

12400 RESCO INC 3049734 SCREW LAG 10/02/2024 228.27 228.27 10/25/2024

12400 RESCO INC 3049734 DISCOUNT 10/02/2024 .11- .11- 10/25/2024

12400 RESCO INC 3049753 BLUE AMPACT SHELL 10/02/2024 165.00 165.00 10/17/2024

12400 RESCO INC 3049753 DISCOUNT 10/02/2024 .08- .08- 10/17/2024

12400 RESCO INC 3050336 ERMCO 3PH PAD TRANSFORM 10/08/2024 61,692.00 61,692.00 11/01/2024

12400 RESCO INC 3050336 DISCOUNT 10/08/2024 43.57- 43.57- 11/01/2024

12400 RESCO INC 3050336 ERMCO 3PH PAD TRANSFORM 10/08/2024 25,445.00 25,445.00 11/01/2024

12400 RESCO INC 3050420 336 TO #6 AMPACT 10/08/2024 932.50 932.50 10/25/2024

12400 RESCO INC 3050420 DISCOUNT 10/08/2024 .47- .47- 10/25/2024

12400 RESCO INC 3051356 336 TO 4 SOL AMPACT 10/17/2024 2,331.25 2,331.25 10/25/2024

12400 RESCO INC 3051356 DISCOUNT 10/17/2024 1.17- 1.17- 10/25/2024

Total 12400: 94,879.49 94,879.49

12575

12575 SHEBOYGAN COUNTY HIGHWA 135225 STREET REPAIR MATERIALS 09/30/2024 306.40 306.40 10/17/2024

12575 SHEBOYGAN COUNTY HIGHWA 135225 STREET SIGN IMPROVEMENT  09/30/2024 700.51 700.51 10/17/2024

Total 12575: 1,006.91 1,006.91

12695

12695 US POSTAL SERVICE STMT100824 ENVELOPES 10/08/2024 1,688.00 1,688.00 10/10/2024

Total 12695: 1,688.00 1,688.00

12696

12696 STOP PROCESSING CENTER 20670 AUTOPAY SERVICE 10/01/2024 35.25 35.25 10/17/2024

Total 12696: 35.25 35.25

12750

12750 SUPERIOR CHEMICAL LLC 401269 DIRECT HIT BEE SPRAY 09/26/2024 208.08 208.08 10/10/2024

12750 SUPERIOR CHEMICAL LLC 402216 GARAGE OPERATIONAL SUPPL 10/11/2024 116.35 116.35 10/17/2024

12750 SUPERIOR CHEMICAL LLC 402236 CITY HALL JANITORIAL 10/11/2024 192.18 192.18 10/17/2024

12750 SUPERIOR CHEMICAL LLC 402237 DUMPSTER BREATH ODOR PE 10/11/2024 127.71 127.71 10/17/2024

Total 12750: 644.32 644.32

12882

12882 SPECTRUM 152367101100 INTERNET 10/01/2024 129.98 129.98 10/10/2024

12882 SPECTRUM 160218701100 PHONE LINES - UTILITIES 10/01/2024 159.96 159.96 10/17/2024

12882 SPECTRUM 160218701100 PHONE - FIRE 10/01/2024 39.99 39.99 10/17/2024

12882 SPECTRUM 160218701100 PHONE - POLICE 10/01/2024 39.99 39.99 10/17/2024



CITY OF PLYMOUTH Payment Approval Report - Council Voucher Report City & Utility Page:     5

Report dates: 10/1/2024-10/31/2024 Nov 05, 2024  08:24AM

Vendor Vendor Name Invoice Number Description Invoice Date Net Invoice Amount Amount Paid Date Paid

12882 SPECTRUM 160218701100 PHONE - EVERGREEN GOLF 10/01/2024 39.99 39.99 10/17/2024

12882 SPECTRUM 160218701100 PHONE LINES - CITY 10/01/2024 119.97 119.97 10/17/2024

12882 SPECTRUM 160218701100 INTERNET 10/01/2024 819.00 819.00 10/17/2024

12882 SPECTRUM 160218701100 PRI - UTILITIES 10/01/2024 275.95 275.95 10/17/2024

12882 SPECTRUM 160218701100 PRI - CITY 10/01/2024 135.91 135.91 10/17/2024

12882 SPECTRUM STMT 10-15-20 POLICE CABLE TV 10/15/2024 42.27 42.27 10/25/2024

12882 SPECTRUM STMT 10-15-20 PHONE - YOUTH CENTER 10/15/2024 14.09 14.09 10/25/2024

12882 SPECTRUM STMT FD 10-1 CABLE - FIRE - CITY 10/15/2024 37.58 37.58 11/01/2024

12882 SPECTRUM STMT FD 10-1 CABLE - FIRE - TOWN 10/15/2024 18.78 18.78 11/01/2024

Total 12882: 1,873.46 1,873.46

12965

12965 US CELLULAR 0684085634 CELL PHONE - EMPLOYEES 10/08/2024 1,767.52 1,767.52 10/25/2024

12965 US CELLULAR 0684085634 CELL PHONE - STREETS 10/08/2024 42.50 42.50 10/25/2024

12965 US CELLULAR 0684085634 CELL PHONES - PARKS 10/08/2024 43.00 43.00 10/25/2024

12965 US CELLULAR 0684085634 CELL PHONES - POLICE 10/08/2024 366.98 366.98 10/25/2024

12965 US CELLULAR 0684085634 CELL PHONE SERVICE (FIRE) 10/08/2024 319.50 319.50 10/25/2024

12965 US CELLULAR 0684085634 CELL PHONE SERVICE (UTILITI 10/08/2024 970.99 970.99 10/25/2024

12965 US CELLULAR 0684449754 CELL MODEM - POLICE 10/10/2024 316.16 316.16 10/25/2024

12965 US CELLULAR 0684449754 CELL MODEM - ELECTRIC 10/10/2024 79.04 79.04 10/25/2024

12965 US CELLULAR 0684449754 AQUATIC CENTER 10/10/2024 35.51 35.51 10/25/2024

Total 12965: 3,941.20 3,941.20

13030

13030 BAKER TILLY US LLP BT2933708 TIF 5 CONTRACT ACCTG/AUDIT 09/30/2024 1,533.00 1,533.00 10/17/2024

Total 13030: 1,533.00 1,533.00

13221

13221 WEX BANK 100288150 FLEET FUELING 10/15/2024 901.33 901.33 10/17/2024

13221 WEX BANK 100288150 FLEET FUELING 10/15/2024 726.17 726.17 10/17/2024

13221 WEX BANK 100288150 FLEET FUELING 10/15/2024 3,583.13 3,583.13 10/17/2024

Total 13221: 5,210.63 5,210.63

30006

30006 AFLAC 520509 AFLAC-UTILITIES 09/26/2024 163.38 163.38 10/03/2024

30006 AFLAC 520509 AFLAC-CITY 09/26/2024 1,327.98 1,327.98 10/03/2024

30006 AFLAC 857845 AFLAC-UTILITIES 10/24/2024 163.38 163.38 10/25/2024

30006 AFLAC 857845 AFLAC-CITY 10/24/2024 1,327.98 1,327.98 10/25/2024

Total 30006: 2,982.72 2,982.72

30022

30022 ASSOCIATED APPRAISAL CON 176662 CONTRACT - ASSESSOR 10/01/2024 2,333.95 2,333.95 10/10/2024

30022 ASSOCIATED APPRAISAL CON 177162 CONTRACT - ASSESSOR 11/01/2024 2,333.95 2,333.95 11/01/2024

Total 30022: 4,667.90 4,667.90

30028

30028 BAKER & TAYLOR 2038063345 BOOKS - LIBRARY 10/02/2024 373.80 373.80 10/17/2024

30028 BAKER & TAYLOR 2038063345 SHIPPING - LIBRARY 10/02/2024 11.21 11.21 10/17/2024

30028 BAKER & TAYLOR 2038563819 BOOKS - LIBRARY 09/17/2024 320.68 320.68 10/10/2024

30028 BAKER & TAYLOR 2038563819 SHIPPING - LIBRARY 09/17/2024 9.62 9.62 10/10/2024

30028 BAKER & TAYLOR 2038573049 BOOKS - LIBRARY 09/20/2024 511.70 511.70 10/10/2024

30028 BAKER & TAYLOR 2038573049 SHIPPING - LIBRARY 09/20/2024 15.35 15.35 10/10/2024



CITY OF PLYMOUTH Payment Approval Report - Council Voucher Report City & Utility Page:     6

Report dates: 10/1/2024-10/31/2024 Nov 05, 2024  08:24AM

Vendor Vendor Name Invoice Number Description Invoice Date Net Invoice Amount Amount Paid Date Paid

30028 BAKER & TAYLOR 2038588031 BOOKS - LIBRARY 09/26/2024 984.70 984.70 10/17/2024

30028 BAKER & TAYLOR 2038588031 SHIPPING - LIBRARY 09/26/2024 29.54 29.54 10/17/2024

30028 BAKER & TAYLOR 2038613438 BOOKS - LIBRARY 10/07/2024 329.16 329.16 10/17/2024

30028 BAKER & TAYLOR 2038613438 SHIPPING - LIBRARY 10/07/2024 9.87 9.87 10/17/2024

30028 BAKER & TAYLOR 2038638453 DONATION BOOKS RESTRICTE 10/17/2024 497.62 497.62 11/01/2024

30028 BAKER & TAYLOR 2038638453 BOOKS - LIBRARY 10/17/2024 219.12 219.12 11/01/2024

30028 BAKER & TAYLOR 2038638453 SHIPPING - LIBRARY 10/17/2024 21.50 21.50 11/01/2024

30028 BAKER & TAYLOR 29038626240 SHIPPING - LIBRARY 10/11/2024 10.19 10.19 10/25/2024

30028 BAKER & TAYLOR 29038626240 BOOKS - LIBRARY 10/11/2024 339.66 339.66 10/25/2024

Total 30028: 3,683.72 3,683.72

30055

30055 CEDAR CREEK SURVEYING LL 2023120E-E SUBSTATION 5 09/26/2024 24,385.63 24,385.63 10/03/2024

Total 30055: 24,385.63 24,385.63

30073

30073 COMPLETE OFFICE OF WI 792065 OFFICE SUPPLIES - POLICE 10/07/2024 29.09 29.09 10/10/2024

30073 COMPLETE OFFICE OF WI 794872 OFFICE SUPPLIES - LIBRARY 10/10/2024 34.76 34.76 10/17/2024

30073 COMPLETE OFFICE OF WI 795793 OFFICE SUPPLIES - LIBRARY 10/11/2024 10.41 10.41 10/17/2024

30073 COMPLETE OFFICE OF WI 796690 OFFICE SUPPLIES - LIBRARY 10/14/2024 5.86 5.86 10/17/2024

30073 COMPLETE OFFICE OF WI 801729 OFFICE SUPPLIES - COURT 10/22/2024 57.62 57.62 10/25/2024

30073 COMPLETE OFFICE OF WI 807073 MATERIALS SUPPLIES - LIBRAR 10/30/2024 2.76 2.76 11/01/2024

30073 COMPLETE OFFICE OF WI 807073 COPY MACHINE - LIBRARY 10/30/2024 20.69 20.69 11/01/2024

30073 COMPLETE OFFICE OF WI AR70851 COPY MACHINE CLERK OFFICE 10/15/2024 247.12 247.12 10/17/2024

30073 COMPLETE OFFICE OF WI AR70895 COPY MACHINE - LIBRARY 10/15/2024 25.00 25.00 10/17/2024

30073 COMPLETE OFFICE OF WI AR70896 COPY MACHINE - LIBRARY 10/15/2024 114.28 114.28 10/17/2024

Total 30073: 547.59 547.59

30084

30084 DELTA DENTAL OF WISCONSIN 000002227055 DENTAL - CITY 10/24/2024 1,144.06 1,144.06 10/25/2024

30084 DELTA DENTAL OF WISCONSIN 000002227055 DENTAL - UTILITIES 10/24/2024 599.80 599.80 10/25/2024

Total 30084: 1,743.86 1,743.86

30098

30098 DINGES FIRE COMPANY 59187 MEDICAL SUPPLIES 10/08/2024 81.49 81.49 10/17/2024

30098 DINGES FIRE COMPANY 60460 EQ/RPR - FIRE - CITY 10/18/2024 210.26 210.26 11/01/2024

30098 DINGES FIRE COMPANY 60460 EQ/RPR - FIRE - CITY 10/18/2024 105.12 105.12 11/01/2024

30098 DINGES FIRE COMPANY 60736 EQ/RPR - FIRE - CITY 10/28/2024 493.07 493.07 11/01/2024

30098 DINGES FIRE COMPANY 60736 EQ/RPR - FIRE - TOWN 10/28/2024 246.53 246.53 11/01/2024

30098 DINGES FIRE COMPANY 60823 EQ/RPR - FIRE - CITY 10/28/2024 223.94 223.94 11/01/2024

30098 DINGES FIRE COMPANY 60823 EQ/RPR - FIRE - TOWN 10/28/2024 111.96 111.96 11/01/2024

Total 30098: 1,472.37 1,472.37

30124

30124 FAULKS BROS CONSTRUCTIO 413852 EVERGREEN GOLF MATERIALS 10/08/2024 314.88 314.88 10/17/2024

30124 FAULKS BROS CONSTRUCTIO 414491 EVERGREEN GOLF MATERIALS 10/16/2024 323.52 323.52 11/01/2024

30124 FAULKS BROS CONSTRUCTIO 414927 EVERGREEN GOLF MATERIALS 10/21/2024 307.52 307.52 11/01/2024

Total 30124: 945.92 945.92

30133

30133 FRANK'S RADIO SERVICE 126236 RADIO - FIRE 10/15/2024 1,283.80 1,283.80 10/25/2024

30133 FRANK'S RADIO SERVICE 126236 RADIO - FIRE 10/15/2024 641.89 641.89 10/25/2024



CITY OF PLYMOUTH Payment Approval Report - Council Voucher Report City & Utility Page:     7

Report dates: 10/1/2024-10/31/2024 Nov 05, 2024  08:24AM

Vendor Vendor Name Invoice Number Description Invoice Date Net Invoice Amount Amount Paid Date Paid

Total 30133: 1,925.69 1,925.69

30135

30135 GALE/CENGAGE LEARNING 85691585 BOOKS - LIBRARY 09/25/2024 32.79 32.79 10/10/2024

Total 30135: 32.79 32.79

30148

30148 GRAND VIEW LAWNS & LANDS 241848 EVERGREEN GOLF CONTRACT 10/15/2024 2,355.00 2,355.00 10/17/2024

Total 30148: 2,355.00 2,355.00

30150

30150 GREAT AMERICA FINANCIAL SE 37576046 COPY MACHINE - LIBRARY 10/02/2024 173.30 173.30 10/17/2024

Total 30150: 173.30 173.30

30164

30164 HORST DISTRIBUTING INC 110846-000 EVERGREEN GOLF COURSE M 10/08/2024 1,203.50 1,203.50 10/17/2024

Total 30164: 1,203.50 1,203.50

30165

30165 HOSPITAL SISTERS HEALTH SY STMT 10-3-202 BLOOD DRAW 10/15/2024 93.00 93.00 10/17/2024

Total 30165: 93.00 93.00

30201

30201 LAKESIDE BOTTLING CO STMT 10-7-202 GOLF COURSE CONTRACTOR 10/07/2024 70.00 70.00 10/17/2024

Total 30201: 70.00 70.00

30216

30216 MARCO 37550864 PRINTER CONTRACT 09/30/2024 152.90 152.90 10/17/2024

Total 30216: 152.90 152.90

30227

30227 MENARDS 92761 BUILD MAINT - LIBRARY 10/05/2024 62.24 62.24 10/17/2024

30227 MENARDS 92967 AQUATIC CENTER REPAIR & M 10/10/2024 46.90 46.90 10/17/2024

30227 MENARDS 93201 OPERATING SUPPLIES - POLIC 10/15/2024 30.82 30.82 10/25/2024

Total 30227: 139.96 139.96

30238

30238 MONARCH LIBRARY SYSTEM 416334 MONARCH SYSTEM SERVICE -  10/15/2024 16.37 16.37 10/17/2024

30238 MONARCH LIBRARY SYSTEM 416351 MOVIE LICENSE - LIBRARY 10/22/2024 329.00 329.00 10/25/2024

Total 30238: 345.37 345.37

30245

30245 MUNICIPAL PROPERTY INSURA 2024-2025 48- CITY PROP/CAS 09/30/2024 32,839.09 32,839.09 10/17/2024

30245 MUNICIPAL PROPERTY INSURA 2024-2025 48- UTIL PROP/CAS 09/30/2024 39,867.91 39,867.91 10/17/2024

Total 30245: 72,707.00 72,707.00



CITY OF PLYMOUTH Payment Approval Report - Council Voucher Report City & Utility Page:     8

Report dates: 10/1/2024-10/31/2024 Nov 05, 2024  08:24AM

Vendor Vendor Name Invoice Number Description Invoice Date Net Invoice Amount Amount Paid Date Paid

30247

30247 NAPA AUTO PARTS OF SHEBOY 100824 PARKS EQUIPMENT REPAIR &  10/08/2024 798.50- .00

30247 NAPA AUTO PARTS OF SHEBOY 100824 STREET SIGNS & MARKINGS -  10/08/2024 101.50- .00

30247 NAPA AUTO PARTS OF SHEBOY 100824 GARAGE LARGE EQUIPMENT R 10/08/2024 82.81- .00

30247 NAPA AUTO PARTS OF SHEBOY 28852 GARAGE SMALL EQUIPMENT R 09/05/2024 18.00- .00

30247 NAPA AUTO PARTS OF SHEBOY 30444 GARAGE SMALL EQUIPMENT R 09/27/2024 415.98 .00

30247 NAPA AUTO PARTS OF SHEBOY 30783 GARAGE LARGE EQUIPMENT R 10/03/2024 41.78 .00

30247 NAPA AUTO PARTS OF SHEBOY 30784 GARAGE LARGE EQUIPMENT R 10/08/2024 19.94 .00

30247 NAPA AUTO PARTS OF SHEBOY 30810 GARAGE LARGE EQUIPMENT R 10/03/2024 15.67 .00

30247 NAPA AUTO PARTS OF SHEBOY 30864 GARAGE LARGE EQUIPMENT R 10/04/2024 18.99 .00

30247 NAPA AUTO PARTS OF SHEBOY 31032 EVERGREEN GOLF COURSE M 10/07/2024 29.98 .00

30247 NAPA AUTO PARTS OF SHEBOY 31036 EVERGREEN GOLF COURSE E 10/07/2024 20.40 .00

30247 NAPA AUTO PARTS OF SHEBOY 31073 EVERGREEN GOLF COURSE E 10/08/2024 20.40 .00

30247 NAPA AUTO PARTS OF SHEBOY 31812 GARAGE SMALL EQUIPMENT R 10/17/2024 7.99 .00

Total 30247: 409.68- .00

30299

30299 RAY OHERRON CO INC 2371445 UNIFORMS - POLICE 10/15/2024 910.72 910.72 11/01/2024

30299 RAY OHERRON CO INC 2371445 UNIFORMS - POLICE 10/15/2024 74.97 74.97 11/01/2024

30299 RAY OHERRON CO INC 2372527 UNIFORMS - POLICE 10/21/2024 910.72 910.72 11/01/2024

30299 RAY OHERRON CO INC 2372527 WEAPON SUPPLIES 10/21/2024 1,006.30 1,006.30 11/01/2024

30299 RAY OHERRON CO INC 2372578 WEAPON SUPPLIES 10/21/2024 1,190.00 1,190.00 11/01/2024

Total 30299: 4,092.71 4,092.71

30335

30335 SHEBOYGAN COUNTY TREASU COUNTY COU COURT DISBURSEMENT - SEPT 09/30/2024 650.65 650.65 10/03/2024

Total 30335: 650.65 650.65

30350

30350 STATE OF WI COURT FINES & S STATE COURT  COURT DISBURSEMENT - SEPT 09/30/2024 1,786.20 1,786.20 10/03/2024

Total 30350: 1,786.20 1,786.20

30355

30355 SUPERIOR VISION INSURANCE  0000853948 VISION - CITY 10/17/2024 184.30 184.30 10/25/2024

30355 SUPERIOR VISION INSURANCE  0000853948 VISION - UTILITIES 10/17/2024 134.99 134.99 10/25/2024

Total 30355: 319.29 319.29

30358

30358 TACTICAL SOLUTIONS 10505 OPERATING SUPPLIES - POLIC 10/05/2005 2,151.00 2,151.00 11/01/2024

Total 30358: 2,151.00 2,151.00

30403

30403 WAUKESHA COUNTY TECHNIC S0841483 EDUCATION - POLICE 09/27/2024 1,005.00 1,005.00 10/10/2024

Total 30403: 1,005.00 1,005.00

30411

30411 WI DEPT OF JUSTICE - TIME 455TIME-0000 TIME ACCESS 10/10/2024 371.25 371.25 10/17/2024

Total 30411: 371.25 371.25



CITY OF PLYMOUTH Payment Approval Report - Council Voucher Report City & Utility Page:     9

Report dates: 10/1/2024-10/31/2024 Nov 05, 2024  08:24AM

Vendor Vendor Name Invoice Number Description Invoice Date Net Invoice Amount Amount Paid Date Paid

30423

30423 WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF  STMT 9-30-202 CIB WORCS 09/30/2024 7.00 7.00 10/17/2024

Total 30423: 7.00 7.00

30434

30434 WISCONSIN PUBLIC SERVICE 52000959644 UTILITIES GARAGE 10/03/2024 28.60 28.60 10/17/2024

30434 WISCONSIN PUBLIC SERVICE 52000959644 UTILITIES GOLF 10/03/2024 16.21 16.21 10/17/2024

30434 WISCONSIN PUBLIC SERVICE 52000959644 UTILITIES LIBRARY 10/03/2024 29.72 29.72 10/17/2024

30434 WISCONSIN PUBLIC SERVICE 52000959644 UTILITIES POOL 10/03/2024 41.06 41.06 10/17/2024

30434 WISCONSIN PUBLIC SERVICE 52000959644 UTILITIES SKI HILL 10/03/2024 16.21 16.21 10/17/2024

30434 WISCONSIN PUBLIC SERVICE 52000959644 UTILITIES YOUTH CENTER 10/03/2024 16.60 16.60 10/17/2024

30434 WISCONSIN PUBLIC SERVICE STMT103124 NATURAL GAS SERVICE 10/21/2024 634.60 634.60 11/01/2024

30434 WISCONSIN PUBLIC SERVICE STMT103124A NATURAL GAS SERVICE 10/23/2024 28.60 28.60 11/01/2024

Total 30434: 811.60 811.60

30452

30452 YOUR FLEETCARD PROGRAM STMT 10-6-202 GAS & OIL - FIRE CITY 10/06/2024 375.61 375.61 10/25/2024

30452 YOUR FLEETCARD PROGRAM STMT 10-6-202 GAS & OIL - FIRE TOWN 10/06/2024 136.87 136.87 10/25/2024

Total 30452: 512.48 512.48

50014

50014 AYRES ASSOCIATES 218285 DAM - REPLACEMENT ENGINE 10/10/2024 8,386.43 8,386.43 10/17/2024

Total 50014: 8,386.43 8,386.43

50041

50041 Community Education & Recreati STMT 10-2-202 YOUTH CENTER CONTRACT 10/02/2024 6,400.00 6,400.00 10/10/2024

Total 50041: 6,400.00 6,400.00

50064

50064 INFO USA MARKETING, INC. 10004251125 BOOKS-LIBRARY 09/20/2024 430.00 430.00 10/10/2024

Total 50064: 430.00 430.00

50106

50106 MIDWEST TAPE LLC 506126122 DIGITAL CONTENT - LIBRARY 10/01/2024 994.80 994.80 10/10/2024

50106 MIDWEST TAPE LLC 506152119 AV - LIBRARY 10/07/2024 357.60 357.60 10/17/2024

50106 MIDWEST TAPE LLC 506218073 AV - LIBRARY 10/21/2024 87.72 87.72 11/01/2024

Total 50106: 1,440.12 1,440.12

50109

50109 MILLER ENGINEERS SCIENTIS 15686 SUBSTATION 5 TESTING 09/30/2024 1,750.00 1,750.00 11/01/2024

Total 50109: 1,750.00 1,750.00

50118

50118 Patek Hospitality Consultants 574-24 HOTEL STUDY 09/30/2024 6,820.00 6,820.00 11/01/2024

Total 50118: 6,820.00 6,820.00

50142

50142 SHERWIN INDUSTRIES, INC SS104498 STREET REPAIR & MAIN MATE 10/01/2024 900.00 900.00 10/17/2024



CITY OF PLYMOUTH Payment Approval Report - Council Voucher Report City & Utility Page:     10

Report dates: 10/1/2024-10/31/2024 Nov 05, 2024  08:24AM

Vendor Vendor Name Invoice Number Description Invoice Date Net Invoice Amount Amount Paid Date Paid

Total 50142: 900.00 900.00

91505

91505 WI DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE 59-271 2024 M MUNI FEE FOR ASSESS MANUF 10/21/2024 7,411.02 7,411.02 11/01/2024

Total 91505: 7,411.02 7,411.02

91542

91542 BELL LUMBER & POLE CO INV-034486 45' POLE - CLASS 3 NRP 09/27/2024 22,620.00 22,620.00 10/17/2024

Total 91542: 22,620.00 22,620.00

91561

91561 PACE ANALYTICAL SERVICES I 2440152089 PFOS/PFOA MONITORING 10/03/2024 644.00 644.00 10/17/2024

Total 91561: 644.00 644.00

91886

91886 PLYMOUTH JOINT SCHOOL DIS STMT 10-2-202 MOBILE HOME TAX 10/02/2024 1,935.82 1,935.82 10/10/2024

Total 91886: 1,935.82 1,935.82

92133

92133 ENDURACLEAN INC 16393 BUILDING MAINTENANCE - LIB 10/01/2024 57.10 57.10 10/17/2024

92133 ENDURACLEAN INC 16394 CITY HALL JANITORIAL 10/02/2024 403.47 403.47 10/17/2024

Total 92133: 460.57 460.57

92148

92148 ANSER 6509-100724 ANSWERING SERVICE 10/07/2024 420.00 420.00 10/17/2024

Total 92148: 420.00 420.00

92174

92174 AIRGAS USA LLC 5510879947 BOTTLED GAS CYLINDER RENT 09/30/2024 74.20 74.20 10/25/2024

92174 AIRGAS USA LLC 5510978221 BOTTLED GAS CYLINDER RENT 09/30/2024 71.21 71.21 11/01/2024

92174 AIRGAS USA LLC 5510978221 BOTTLED GAS CYLINDER RENT 09/30/2024 68.40 68.40 11/01/2024

92174 AIRGAS USA LLC 9154530705 GARAGE LARGE EQUIPMENT R 10/09/2024 225.59 225.59 11/01/2024

Total 92174: 439.40 439.40

92475

92475 J F AHERN CO 684902 CONTRACT - CITY HALL MAINT 10/08/2024 655.02 655.02 11/01/2024

Total 92475: 655.02 655.02

92503

92503 GIBBSVILLE IMPLEMENT INC 17142 PARKS EQUIPMENT REPAIR &  07/17/2023 3.41- 3.41- 11/01/2024

92503 GIBBSVILLE IMPLEMENT INC 28857 PARKS EQUIPMENT REPAIR &  08/26/2024 98.35 98.35 11/01/2024

92503 GIBBSVILLE IMPLEMENT INC 29974 O-RINGS 09/28/2024 6.05 6.05 10/17/2024

Total 92503: 100.99 100.99

92717

92717 VERIZON WIRELESS 9974160911 OFFICE SUPPLIES - FIRE 09/18/2024 35.99 35.99 10/10/2024

92717 VERIZON WIRELESS 9976593991 PHONE - FIRE 10/18/2024 35.99 35.99 11/01/2024



CITY OF PLYMOUTH Payment Approval Report - Council Voucher Report City & Utility Page:     11

Report dates: 10/1/2024-10/31/2024 Nov 05, 2024  08:24AM

Vendor Vendor Name Invoice Number Description Invoice Date Net Invoice Amount Amount Paid Date Paid

Total 92717: 71.98 71.98

92869

92869 DAVID LAGERMAN STMT100824 SOLAR CREDIT PAYMENT 10/09/2024 65.07 65.07 10/10/2024

Total 92869: 65.07 65.07

92881

92881 MIDSTAR PRINTING 14242 ENVELOPES - CITY 10/01/2024 675.83 675.83 10/17/2024

92881 MIDSTAR PRINTING 14272 RECEIVING STATION LOG 10/02/2024 1,192.70 1,192.70 10/17/2024

92881 MIDSTAR PRINTING 14285 RECEIPTS 10/02/2024 165.56 165.56 10/17/2024

92881 MIDSTAR PRINTING 14290 BLANK INVOICE STOCK 10/02/2024 205.92 205.92 10/25/2024

Total 92881: 2,240.01 2,240.01

92957

92957 FRONTIER STMT 10-19-20 PHONE - LIBRARY 10/19/2024 67.62 67.62 11/01/2024

92957 FRONTIER STMT 10-19-20 PHONE - 911 DIAL LINES 10/19/2024 107.17 107.17 11/01/2024

92957 FRONTIER STMT 10-19-20 PHONE - POLICE 10/19/2024 333.89 333.89 11/01/2024

92957 FRONTIER STMT 10-19-20 PHONE - AQUATIC CENTER 10/19/2024 191.11 191.11 11/01/2024

92957 FRONTIER STMT 9-9-2024 PHONE - LIBRARY 09/19/2024 67.45 67.45 10/03/2024

92957 FRONTIER STMT 9-9-2024 PHONE - 911 DIAL LINES 09/19/2024 106.59 106.59 10/03/2024

92957 FRONTIER STMT 9-9-2024 PHONE - POLICE 09/19/2024 330.81 330.81 10/03/2024

92957 FRONTIER STMT 9-9-2024 PHONE - AQUATIC CENTER 09/19/2024 190.08 190.08 10/03/2024

Total 92957: 1,394.72 1,394.72

92982

92982 HOPP NEUMANN HUMKE LLP 13960-698 TID 7 LEGAL 10/02/2024 66.00 66.00 10/17/2024

92982 HOPP NEUMANN HUMKE LLP 13993-699 TID 7 LEGAL 10/02/2024 374.00 374.00 10/17/2024

92982 HOPP NEUMANN HUMKE LLP 9431-700 LEGAL SERVICE 10/02/2024 6,503.00 6,503.00 10/10/2024

92982 HOPP NEUMANN HUMKE LLP 9431-700 TID 7 CONSULTING 10/02/2024 286.00 286.00 10/10/2024

92982 HOPP NEUMANN HUMKE LLP 9432-697 LEGAL SERVICE 10/02/2024 241.00 241.00 10/10/2024

92982 HOPP NEUMANN HUMKE LLP 9436-734 LEGAL SERVICE 10/02/2024 1,566.00 1,566.00 10/10/2024

92982 HOPP NEUMANN HUMKE LLP 9472-696 LEGAL SERVICE 10/02/2024 44.00 44.00 10/10/2024

Total 92982: 9,080.00 9,080.00

93036

93036 SEERA FOCUS ON ENERGY STMT101724 FOCUS ON ENERGY PAYMENT 10/17/2024 6,109.38 6,109.38 10/25/2024

Total 93036: 6,109.38 6,109.38

93069

93069 DEGROOT INC 9739 SANITARY RELAY 10/10/2024 36,500.00 36,500.00 10/25/2024

Total 93069: 36,500.00 36,500.00

93377

93377 SHRED IT USA 8008660160 PAPER SHREDDING SERVICE 10/18/2024 157.60 157.60 10/25/2024

93377 SHRED IT USA 8008776813 PAPER SHREDDING SERVICE 10/25/2024 116.51 116.51 11/01/2024

Total 93377: 274.11 274.11

93405

93405 POLLARD WATER 0267394 STL LPD DECHLORINATOR 09/30/2024 1,076.35 1,076.35 11/01/2024

93405 POLLARD WATER 0267394 8FT VALVE BOX CLEANER 09/30/2024 272.90 272.90 11/01/2024



CITY OF PLYMOUTH Payment Approval Report - Council Voucher Report City & Utility Page:     12

Report dates: 10/1/2024-10/31/2024 Nov 05, 2024  08:24AM

Vendor Vendor Name Invoice Number Description Invoice Date Net Invoice Amount Amount Paid Date Paid

93405 POLLARD WATER 0267394 10" PIPE PLUG 09/30/2024 141.35 141.35 11/01/2024

93405 POLLARD WATER 0267394 HYDRANT PRESSURE RECORD 09/30/2024 1,668.60 1,668.60 11/01/2024

Total 93405: 3,159.20 3,159.20

93432

93432 ADVANCED DISPOSAL SVCS S 0133485-4172- WASTE DISPOSAL SERVICE 10/01/2024 490.23 490.23 10/10/2024

93432 ADVANCED DISPOSAL SVCS S 0133485-4172- WASTE DISPOSAL SERVICE 10/01/2024 381.92 381.92 10/10/2024

93432 ADVANCED DISPOSAL SVCS S 0133485-4172- WASTE DISPOSAL SERVICE 10/01/2024 4,818.19 4,818.19 10/10/2024

Total 93432: 5,690.34 5,690.34

93556

93556 EHLERS INVESTMENT PARTNE 98722 TID 7 CONSULTING 08/08/2024 1,300.00 1,300.00 10/10/2024

93556 EHLERS INVESTMENT PARTNE 99059 CONT BOND DISCLOSURE 09/09/2024 515.00 515.00 10/10/2024

93556 EHLERS INVESTMENT PARTNE 99059 CONT BOND DISCLOSURE 09/09/2024 511.00 511.00 10/10/2024

93556 EHLERS INVESTMENT PARTNE 99059 CONT BOND DISCLOSURE 09/09/2024 224.00 224.00 10/10/2024

93556 EHLERS INVESTMENT PARTNE 99059 CONT BOND DISCLOSURE 09/09/2024 374.00 374.00 10/10/2024

93556 EHLERS INVESTMENT PARTNE 99059 CONT BOND DISCLOSURE 09/09/2024 1,445.00 1,445.00 10/10/2024

93556 EHLERS INVESTMENT PARTNE 99059 CONT BOND DISCLOSURE 09/09/2024 264.00 264.00 10/10/2024

93556 EHLERS INVESTMENT PARTNE 99059 CONT BOND DISCLOSURE 09/09/2024 367.00 367.00 10/10/2024

93556 EHLERS INVESTMENT PARTNE 99060 TID 7 CONSULTING 09/09/2024 1,950.00 1,950.00 10/10/2024

93556 EHLERS INVESTMENT PARTNE 99371 TID 7 CONSULTING 10/08/2024 568.75 568.75 10/25/2024

93556 EHLERS INVESTMENT PARTNE 99372 TID 7 CONSULTING 10/08/2024 3,818.75 3,818.75 10/25/2024

93556 EHLERS INVESTMENT PARTNE STMT100924 INVESTMENT FEES 10/09/2024 2,579.99 2,579.99 10/17/2024

93556 EHLERS INVESTMENT PARTNE STMT100924 INVESTMENT FEES 10/09/2024 832.14 832.14 10/17/2024

Total 93556: 14,749.63 14,749.63

93838

93838 NORTH CENTRAL LABS OF WI I 510010 LABORATORY SUPPLIES 10/03/2024 170.13 170.13 10/17/2024

Total 93838: 170.13 170.13

93845

93845 HYDROCORP CI-02379 CROSS CONNECTION PROGRA 09/30/2024 1,083.00 1,083.00 10/10/2024

Total 93845: 1,083.00 1,083.00

93877

93877 INFOSEND INC 266879 BILL MAILING SERVICE 07/13/2024 1,040.23 1,040.23 10/03/2024

93877 INFOSEND INC 268228 BILL MAILING SERVICE 07/31/2024 4,916.08 4,916.08 10/03/2024

93877 INFOSEND INC 272441 BILL MAILING SERVICE 09/30/2024 3,858.56 3,858.56 10/17/2024

Total 93877: 9,814.87 9,814.87

94072

94072 AMORE E02093 LAPWA MEETING 10/09/2024 296.18 296.18 10/17/2024

Total 94072: 296.18 296.18

94128

94128 FORSTER ELECTRICAL ENGIN 25726 SUBSTATION #5 10/07/2024 178.75 178.75 10/25/2024

Total 94128: 178.75 178.75

94248

94248 BOBCAT OF JANESVILLE 02-286528 CHIPPER MAINTENANCE 09/12/2024 417.00 417.00 10/17/2024



CITY OF PLYMOUTH Payment Approval Report - Council Voucher Report City & Utility Page:     13

Report dates: 10/1/2024-10/31/2024 Nov 05, 2024  08:24AM

Vendor Vendor Name Invoice Number Description Invoice Date Net Invoice Amount Amount Paid Date Paid

Total 94248: 417.00 417.00

94333

94333 FISCHERS FLEET SERVICE INC 71845 FLEET VEHICLE  MAINTENANC 09/30/2024 1,956.28 1,956.28 10/25/2024

94333 FISCHERS FLEET SERVICE INC 71846 FLEET VEHICLE  MAINTENANC 09/24/2024 306.10 306.10 10/17/2024

94333 FISCHERS FLEET SERVICE INC 71903 FLEET VEHICLE  MAINTENANC 09/26/2024 524.80 524.80 10/17/2024

94333 FISCHERS FLEET SERVICE INC 71913 FLEET VEHICLE  MAINTENANC 09/30/2024 993.72 993.72 10/25/2024

94333 FISCHERS FLEET SERVICE INC 72004 GARAGE LARGE EQUIPMENT R 10/16/2024 113.38 113.38 10/25/2024

Total 94333: 3,894.28 3,894.28

94341

94341 MONROE TRUCK EQUIPMENT I 47153 CAP C STREET MACHINERY 10/21/2024 37,317.00 37,317.00 11/01/2024

Total 94341: 37,317.00 37,317.00

94491

94491 H & R SAFETY SOLUTIONS INC  8961 RUBBER GLOVE PROTECTORS   09/25/2024 522.00 522.00 10/03/2024

Total 94491: 522.00 522.00

94517

94517 DEAN ENTERPRISES LLC A-163223 EVERGREEN GOLF COURSE C 10/11/2024 136.97 136.97 10/17/2024

94517 DEAN ENTERPRISES LLC A-163229 PARKS CONTRACTOR 10/11/2024 136.97 136.97 10/17/2024

Total 94517: 273.94 273.94

94527

94527 JOHNSON SCHOOL BUS STMT100824 SOLAR CREDIT PAYMENT 10/09/2024 874.45 874.45 10/10/2024

Total 94527: 874.45 874.45

94544

94544 RICHARD COOK STMT100824 SOLAR CREDIT PAYMENT 10/08/2024 95.98 95.98 10/10/2024

Total 94544: 95.98 95.98

94573

94573 DIGICORP INC 352476 SENTINEL ONE EDR SUBSCRIP 10/15/2024 535.00 535.00 11/01/2024

94573 DIGICORP INC 352476 MICROSOFT EXCHANGE ONLIN 10/15/2024 4.00 4.00 11/01/2024

Total 94573: 539.00 539.00

94625

94625 MARCO TECHNOLOGIES LLC N INV13095197 PRINTER CONTRACT 10/22/2024 80.90 80.90 11/01/2024

Total 94625: 80.90 80.90

95083

95083 ERIC PAULSON STMT100824 SOLAR CREDIT PAYMENT 10/09/2024 436.12 436.12 10/10/2024

Total 95083: 436.12 436.12

95085

95085 PAUL & ELIZABETH BARTELT STMT100824 SOLAR CREDIT PAYMENT 10/08/2024 241.56 241.56 10/10/2024



CITY OF PLYMOUTH Payment Approval Report - Council Voucher Report City & Utility Page:     14

Report dates: 10/1/2024-10/31/2024 Nov 05, 2024  08:24AM

Vendor Vendor Name Invoice Number Description Invoice Date Net Invoice Amount Amount Paid Date Paid

Total 95085: 241.56 241.56

95121

95121 NELSON & ASSOCIATES, LLC 8035 UNIFORMS - POLICE 09/16/2024 111.56 111.56 10/17/2024

Total 95121: 111.56 111.56

95122

95122 MACQUEEN EQUIPMENT P60345 GARAGE SMALL EQUIPMENT M 10/11/2024 269.59 269.59 10/17/2024

Total 95122: 269.59 269.59

95125

95125 FALLS ACE HARDWARE 29566 TOOL MAINTAINENCE 09/26/2024 28.99 28.99 10/10/2024

Total 95125: 28.99 28.99

95127

95127 GOLDEN WEST INDUSTRIAL SU 2128596 KNIFE MULTI-TOOL 10/09/2024 277.51 277.51 11/01/2024

95127 GOLDEN WEST INDUSTRIAL SU 2128596 KNIFE MULTI-TOOL 10/09/2024 138.75 138.75 11/01/2024

Total 95127: 416.26 416.26

95222

95222 BOUND TREE MEDICAL, LLC 85501517 MEDICAL SUPPLIES - FIRE 09/26/2024 219.69 219.69 10/17/2024

Total 95222: 219.69 219.69

95281

95281 LEAVES INSPIRED TREE NURS 8926 CAP C TREE IMPROVEMENTS 10/17/2024 3,253.00 3,253.00 11/01/2024

Total 95281: 3,253.00 3,253.00

95391

95391 BELCO VEHICLE SOLUTIONS 9750 CAP-C VEHICLES POLICE 10/02/2024 15,453.58 15,453.58 10/17/2024

Total 95391: 15,453.58 15,453.58

95398

95398 ODP BUSINESS SOLUTIONS LL 389966159001 COPY PAPER 10/11/2024 319.92 319.92 10/25/2024

Total 95398: 319.92 319.92

95459

95459 BLACK DAWG DIESEL LLC 6134 GARAGE LARGE EQUIPMENT C 10/07/2024 1,606.14 1,606.14 10/17/2024

Total 95459: 1,606.14 1,606.14

95508

95508 NOVATECH 34245 ORIONLX: 49 - MODBUS TCP (S 10/10/2024 560.00 560.00 10/25/2024

95508 NOVATECH 34245 ORIONLX: 44 - DNP3 IP (SERIAL 10/10/2024 560.00 560.00 10/25/2024

Total 95508: 1,120.00 1,120.00

95714

95714 TRANSUNION RISK AND ALTER 1355047-2024 MINIMUM USAGE FEE 10/01/2024 75.00 75.00 10/10/2024



CITY OF PLYMOUTH Payment Approval Report - Council Voucher Report City & Utility Page:     15

Report dates: 10/1/2024-10/31/2024 Nov 05, 2024  08:24AM

Vendor Vendor Name Invoice Number Description Invoice Date Net Invoice Amount Amount Paid Date Paid

Total 95714: 75.00 75.00

95739

95739 MARK HEMBEL STMT100824 SOLAR CREDIT PAYMENT 10/09/2024 235.95 235.95 10/10/2024

Total 95739: 235.95 235.95

95741

95741 DAVID SHELVER STMT100824 SOLAR CREDIT PAYMENT 10/09/2024 128.44 128.44 10/10/2024

Total 95741: 128.44 128.44

95743

95743 ESSENTIAL SEWER & WATER S C-10P.O.42009 WATER MAIN REPAIR 09/25/2024 3,675.00 3,675.00 10/10/2024

Total 95743: 3,675.00 3,675.00

95751

95751 NORTHEAST WISCONSIN TECH SFT000012742 APPRENTICE SCHOOLING 09/21/2024 670.71 670.71 10/10/2024

Total 95751: 670.71 670.71

95899

95899 TERESE SHAW STMT 10-15-20 PETTY CASH - POLICE 10/15/2024 36.36 36.36 10/17/2024

95899 TERESE SHAW STMT 10-28-20 PETTY CASH - POLICE 10/28/2024 86.97 86.97 11/01/2024

95899 TERESE SHAW STMT 9-30-202 PETTY CASH - POLICE 09/30/2024 115.75 115.75 10/10/2024

Total 95899: 239.08 239.08

95917

95917 BADGER LABORATORIES INC 24-018591 WATER SAMPLES 10/07/2024 185.00 185.00 10/17/2024

Total 95917: 185.00 185.00

95932

95932 KORFF PLUMBING LLC 6170 WATER/SEWER LOAN 304 FOR 07/18/2024 10,850.00 10,850.00 10/10/2024

95932 KORFF PLUMBING LLC 6173 316 FOREST AVE 10/16/2024 9,000.00 9,000.00 10/17/2024

95932 KORFF PLUMBING LLC 6176 WATER/SEWER LOAN 232 FOR 07/18/2024 8,850.00 8,850.00 10/10/2024

95932 KORFF PLUMBING LLC 6208 30 FOREST AVE 10/16/2024 8,800.00 8,800.00 10/17/2024

95932 KORFF PLUMBING LLC 6212 WATER LINE REPAIR 10/10/2024 1,345.00 1,345.00 11/01/2024

95932 KORFF PLUMBING LLC 6213 WATER LINE REPLACEMENT 10/10/2024 1,750.00 1,750.00 11/01/2024

Total 95932: 40,595.00 40,595.00

95940

95940 GORDON FLESCH COMPANY IN IN14874285 COPY MACHINE 10/09/2024 180.62 180.62 10/10/2024

Total 95940: 180.62 180.62

95959

95959 ALEX & MACKINZI BEATY STMT100824 SOLAR CREDIT PAYMENT 10/08/2024 182.52 182.52 10/10/2024

Total 95959: 182.52 182.52

95960

95960 EDLER INVESTMENTS LIMITED  STMT100824 SOLAR CREDIT PAYMENT 10/09/2024 1,056.80 1,056.80 10/10/2024



CITY OF PLYMOUTH Payment Approval Report - Council Voucher Report City & Utility Page:     16

Report dates: 10/1/2024-10/31/2024 Nov 05, 2024  08:24AM

Vendor Vendor Name Invoice Number Description Invoice Date Net Invoice Amount Amount Paid Date Paid

Total 95960: 1,056.80 1,056.80

95963

95963 JON SOMMER STMT100824 SOLAR CREDIT PAYMENT 10/09/2024 197.20 197.20 10/10/2024

Total 95963: 197.20 197.20

95975

95975 RENNERT'S FIRE EQUIPMENT  3108 VEHICLE MAINTENANCE - FIRE 10/03/2024 349.50 349.50 10/17/2024

95975 RENNERT'S FIRE EQUIPMENT  3127 VEHICLE MAINTENANCE - FIRE 10/08/2024 2,561.48 2,561.48 10/25/2024

Total 95975: 2,910.98 2,910.98

95988

95988 MMW INDUSTRIAL SUPPLY LLC 9000746 HARDWARE 09/25/2024 229.18 229.18 10/17/2024

95988 MMW INDUSTRIAL SUPPLY LLC 9000753 HARDWARE 10/01/2024 773.08 773.08 10/17/2024

Total 95988: 1,002.26 1,002.26

96003

96003 AURORA MEDICAL CENTER GR 136-CI0000262 FIRE MED SUPPLIES 09/26/2024 10.92 10.92 10/10/2024

Total 96003: 10.92 10.92

96100

96100 MPOWER TECHNOLOGIES INC 5906 EXTRACT CMEP METER DATA F 09/30/2024 9,900.00 9,900.00 10/17/2024

Total 96100: 9,900.00 9,900.00

96160

96160 LAWSON PRODUCTS INC 9311914072 SNOW & ICE  EQUIPMENT REP 10/09/2024 135.13 135.13 10/17/2024

Total 96160: 135.13 135.13

96197

96197 MEAD & HUNT 374746 DIGESTER ROOF - ENGINEERI 10/09/2024 2,779.00 2,779.00 10/17/2024

Total 96197: 2,779.00 2,779.00

96207

96207 JONATHAN ARNHOELTER STMT100824 SOLAR CREDIT PAYMENT 10/08/2024 941.59 941.59 10/10/2024

Total 96207: 941.59 941.59

96208

96208 STEVE ZIMMERMANN STMT100824 SOLAR CREDIT PAYMENT 10/09/2024 374.49 374.49 10/10/2024

Total 96208: 374.49 374.49

96269

96269 AQUALIS PSI-2020-1706 SANITARY SEWER CLEANING A 10/09/2024 1,140.00 1,140.00 10/17/2024

96269 AQUALIS PSI-2020-1716 SANITARY SEWER REPAIRS 10/18/2024 10,580.00 10,580.00 11/01/2024

Total 96269: 11,720.00 11,720.00

96300

96300 TJS MAINTENANCE CONSTRU STMT100124 POCKET PARK 08/30/2024 1,665.00 1,665.00 10/03/2024



CITY OF PLYMOUTH Payment Approval Report - Council Voucher Report City & Utility Page:     17

Report dates: 10/1/2024-10/31/2024 Nov 05, 2024  08:24AM

Vendor Vendor Name Invoice Number Description Invoice Date Net Invoice Amount Amount Paid Date Paid

Total 96300: 1,665.00 1,665.00

96309

96309 ANNE & MATTHEW DREWRY STMT100824 SOLAR CREDIT PAYMENT 10/09/2024 124.11 124.11 10/10/2024

Total 96309: 124.11 124.11

96310

96310 MARC SHUMAN STMT 10-10-20 FROM HEATHER STROBEL 10/10/2024 30.00 30.00 10/17/2024

Total 96310: 30.00 30.00

96312

96312 LOCHEN EQUIPMENT 002-20001523 PARKS EQUIPMENT REPAIR &  10/08/2024 50.28 50.28 10/17/2024

Total 96312: 50.28 50.28

96317

96317 ETI LLC 1-881 LICENSE MANAGER 10/09/2024 284.00 284.00 10/17/2024

Total 96317: 284.00 284.00

96329

96329 CREXENDO 203956 PHONE - LIBRARY 10/01/2024 229.27 229.27 10/10/2024

Total 96329: 229.27 229.27

96336

96336 DICTATIONPRODUCTS.COM 10815 PHILIPS ENTERPRISE LICENSE 09/24/2024 450.00 450.00 11/01/2024

Total 96336: 450.00 450.00

96355

96355 BRYON PREISSNER STMT100804 SOLAR CREDIT PMT 10/09/2024 454.60 454.60 10/10/2024

Total 96355: 454.60 454.60

96362

96362 O'REILLY AUTO PARTS 6583-124055 BATTERY 10/17/2024 9.99 9.99 10/25/2024

Total 96362: 9.99 9.99

96383

96383 MEYER YAMAHA 31921 EVERGREEN GOLF COURSE E 10/09/2024 580.98 580.98 11/01/2024

Total 96383: 580.98 580.98

96389

96389 FASTSIGNS SHEBOYGAN 2444-1589 EVERGREEN GOLF COURSE M 10/11/2024 110.20 110.20 10/17/2024

Total 96389: 110.20 110.20

96392

96392 QUASIUS BUSINESS SOLUTION STMT100824 SOLAR CREDIT PAYMENT 10/09/2024 1,112.54 1,112.54 10/10/2024

Total 96392: 1,112.54 1,112.54



CITY OF PLYMOUTH Payment Approval Report - Council Voucher Report City & Utility Page:     18

Report dates: 10/1/2024-10/31/2024 Nov 05, 2024  08:24AM

Vendor Vendor Name Invoice Number Description Invoice Date Net Invoice Amount Amount Paid Date Paid

96418

96418 FEH DESIGN 114700 SPACE NEEDS STUDY - LIBRAR 10/23/2024 318.49 318.49 10/25/2024

Total 96418: 318.49 318.49

96425

96425 AUGUST WINTER & SONS INC 61667 DIGESTER COVER 09/30/2024 110,550.93 110,550.93 11/01/2024

Total 96425: 110,550.93 110,550.93

96449

96449 AVENUE REAL ESTATE STMT100824 SOLAR CREDIT PAYMENT 10/08/2024 79.41 79.41 10/10/2024

Total 96449: 79.41 79.41

96450

96450 KEITH FISHER STMT100824 SOLAR CREDIT PAYMENT 10/09/2024 228.66 228.66 10/10/2024

Total 96450: 228.66 228.66

96476

96476 GREATLAKES AIRBRUSH STMT 10-17-20 FACADE GRANT - APPROVED 10/17/2024 250.00 250.00 10/25/2024

Total 96476: 250.00 250.00

96501

96501 CURTISS & GRETCHEN ANDRE PAYMENT 1 F MILL POND DAM CONSTRUCTI 09/24/2024 15,000.00 15,000.00 10/01/2024

Total 96501: 15,000.00 15,000.00

96503

96503 HAROLD BINDER ACCOUNTING 18875465102 REFUND OVERPAYMENT 10/01/2024 28.72 28.72 10/03/2024

Total 96503: 28.72 28.72

96505

96505 1ST AYD CORPORATION PSI731062 GARAGE GAS & OIL 09/24/2024 471.56 471.56 10/10/2024

Total 96505: 471.56 471.56

96506

96506 MARK DIENER ELECTRIC LLC 5021 GENERATIONS LED LIGHTS - W 09/05/2024 7,640.00 7,640.00 10/10/2024

Total 96506: 7,640.00 7,640.00

96507

96507 MUNIAID LLC PLYM-24-01 JOB POSTING 10/02/2024 100.00 100.00 10/10/2024

Total 96507: 100.00 100.00

96508

96508 JAKE BONNETT 3883095203 ENERGY STAR INCENTIVE - R 10/14/2024 25.00 25.00 10/25/2024

Total 96508: 25.00 25.00

96509

96509 DAVID SCHRAM 1885496205 ENERGY STAR INCENTIVE - R 10/21/2024 25.00 25.00 10/25/2024



CITY OF PLYMOUTH Payment Approval Report - Council Voucher Report City & Utility Page:     19

Report dates: 10/1/2024-10/31/2024 Nov 05, 2024  08:24AM

Vendor Vendor Name Invoice Number Description Invoice Date Net Invoice Amount Amount Paid Date Paid

Total 96509: 25.00 25.00

96510

96510 JAMES VOIGT 21884349205 ENERGY STAR INCENTIVE - R 10/21/2024 25.00 25.00 10/25/2024

Total 96510: 25.00 25.00

96511

96511 TOM TURICIK 407 E Mill St PLYMOUTH SHARE OF 407 E MI 10/24/2024 1,665.00 1,665.00 10/25/2024

Total 96511: 1,665.00 1,665.00

96513

96513 HUNTERS RIDGE APARTMENTS 6871282015 REFUND OVERPAYMENT 10/31/2024 3.28 3.28 11/01/2024

Total 96513: 3.28 3.28

Grand Totals: 840,529.21 840,938.89



CITY OF PLYMOUTH Payment Approval Report - Council Voucher Report City & Utility Page:     20

Report dates: 10/1/2024-10/31/2024 Nov 05, 2024  08:24AM

Vendor Vendor Name Invoice Number Description Invoice Date Net Invoice Amount Amount Paid Date Paid

CITY OF PLYMOUTH- PLYMOUTH UTILITIES

The above listed checks and ACH is in payment of the Utilities' accounts and are hereby approved with the following exceptions:   

Exceptions:             

______________________________________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________________________________

THE FINANCE COMMITTEE

_______________________________________________________________________________________________________

_______________________________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________

Dated: ______________________________________________________

Report Criteria:

Detail report.

Invoices with totals above $0 included.

Paid and unpaid invoices included.

Invoice Detail.GL account = "0100100001000"-"2200567002200","2400111000000"-"8000232000000"



 
 
 
  

CITY OF PLYMOUTH, WISCONSIN 
TUESDAY, OCTOBER 29, 2024 COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE MEETING 

6:30 PM, COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

CITY HALL, 128 SMITH STREET 
 

UNOFFICIAL MINUTES 
 

1. Call to Order and Roll Call: Mayor Pohlman called the meeting to order. On the call of 
the roll, the following were present: Diane Gilson, Greg Hildebrand, Jeff Tauscheck, Dave 
Herrmann, Angie Matzdorf, Mike Penkwitz and John Binder. The following were also 
present: City Administrator/Utilities Manager Tim Blakeslee, Police Chief Ken Ruggles,  
Director of Public Works Cathy Austin, and City Clerk Anna Voigt.  
 

2. Approve the Minutes from October 8, 2024:  Motion was made by Binder/Tauscheck to 
approve the minutes from October 8. A unanimous aye vote was cast. Motion carried. 

 
3. Discussion and Possible Recommendation on Outdoor Heater Ordinance: Blakeslee 

explained that in Plymouth detached heating systems are regulated only for structures that 
allow human habitation per 13-1-75(f) of the municipal code. To install a detached heating 
system in Plymouth, it must meet specific distance and operational requirements outlined 
in Section 13-1-75. Detached heating systems are not currently regulated when attached to 
structures that are unsuitable for human habitation. In July 2024 a resident raised concerns 
about a detached heating system in their neighborhood being used to burn wood constantly 
to heat a pool, causing constant smoke in the area. Alder Nelson requested that this item be 
placed on the agenda for discussion. Mayor asked the Committee for comments. Binder 
stated he has a friend in the area notice a cloud of smoke almost like a fog. He mentioned 
he like the code change to add it can only be a manufactured item. Mayor asked if the 
original ordinance had set backs and the new ordinance wouldn’t change that. Blakeslee 
confirmed the set backs wouldn’t change. Mayor asked if there was a permit pulled and if 
set backs applied. Blakeslee stated that the current heater isn’t applicable, because it is not 
heating a item for human habitation so set backs don’t apply to it. He will check into if a 
permit is required. Tauscheck liked the idea of having permit to be filed. Penkwitz stated 
the set backs aren’t really clear. Blakeslee went through the set back on each side. 
Penkwitz asked what if there isn’t enough room on the property for it. Blakeslee stated if 
there wasn’t room on the property it would be prohibited. Hildebrand asked if has broken 
any ordinances. Blakeslee stated no. Hildebrand asked if he could be grandfathered in. 
Blakeslee stated the intent of this discussion is to prohibit these structures. Mayor 
explained this would go to Plan Commission before coming back to Council.  

 
4. Adjourn: Motion was made Gilson/Penkwitz to adjourn the meeting. A unanimous aye 

vote was cast. Motion carried. 



Plymouth Community Television 
Board Meeting 10/07/2024 

 
 

Checking:      651.21 
Unrestricted:   1,869.63 
Restricted: 13,197.68 
 
 
Attendance:  Gary Kaiser, Kurt Zolp, Mike Briggs, and Konrad Kaczkowski 
 
 
 
Gary reported looking to update to another camera. Kurt gave an update with phone changes 
with Frontier. He said the that PCTV phone (920) 893-0006 is now tagged with the School 
District system and we should no longer be receiving a bill from Frontier. 
 
Mike reported all stock races have been completed. There was discussion into change the 
payment for filming of the races, to offer an incentive for someone to do the filming. The 
regular football season will be ending within the next few weeks. Travel costs this year will be 
considerably higher this year due to the changes in scheduled games. There has been a sound 
issue and cable boxes were changed, hopefully this will improve sound on Channel 14. 
 
Mike reported that Plymouth Community Television received a special proclamation for the 
service it provides the city. Mike accepted the proclamation at a City Council meeting. 
 
School Board meeting October 15th and the annual meeting October 22nd. Action-14 will be 
filmed on October 22nd prior to the School Board annual meeting. Veteran to Veteran on hold 
for this month 
 
 
 

Next Board Meeting November 11th 2024 5:00 PM School District Board room 
 
 
 

Respectfully submitted 
 
Konrad Kaczkowski 



Plymouth Community TV Cash Flow Year: 2024

Summary Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun July Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec TOTAL
Opening Balance 749.35 486.61 354.93 355.09 647.68 507.03 550.81 527.56 610.36 396.25 1,202.57 1,202.57
Total Reciepts 5,000.00 3,700.00 5,500.00 4,250.00 7,500.00 4,050.00 4,500.00 3,700.00 4,500.00 5,000.00 0.00 0.00 47,700.00$       
Total Disbursements 5,262.74 3,831.68 5,499.84 3,957.41 7,640.65 4,006.22 4,523.25 3,617.20 4,714.11 4,193.68 0.00 0.00 47,246.78$       
Total Cash Flow -262.74 -131.68 0.16 292.59 -140.65 43.78 -23.25 82.80 -214.11 806.32 0.00 0.00
Ending Balance 486.61$       354.93$       355.09$       647.68$       507.03$      550.81$      527.56$      610.36$      396.25$      1,202.57$   1,202.57$   1,202.57$          1,202.57$         

Receipt
Restricted 5,000.00 3,700.00 4,500.00 3,500.00 6,500.00 4,050.00 3,500.00 3,000.00 4,500.00 4,000.00 42,250.00$       
Unrestricted 1,000.00 750.00 1,000.00 1,000.00 700.00 1,000.00 5,450.00$         
Ads & Tape Sales -$                  
Other -$                  
TOTAL 5,000.00$    3,700.00$    5,500.00$    4,250.00$    7,500.00$   4,050.00$   4,500.00$   3,700.00$   4,500.00$   5,000.00$   -$            -$                   47,700.00$       

Disbursements
Wages / Salaries/ Benefits 3,040.64 2,730.75 4,334.59 2,326.73 3,209.41 2,900.35 3,021.87 2,553.69 2,953.52 2,357.63 29,429.18$       
Telephone 130.99 131.36 131.36 145.07 149.47 149.47 157.91 157.80 157.80 157.80 1,469.03$         
Dues -$                  
Card Member Services 697.89 216.85 12.99 278.97 82.83 57.41 66.89 9.00 827.53 192.24 2,442.60$         
Action - 14 40.00 40.00 80.00 40.00 40.00 40.00 280.00$            
Work Comp Insurnace 355.00 355.00$            
Supplies 30.00 68.00 92.25 13.64 203.89$            
P.O.Box Rental 118.00 118.00$            
Postage 68.00 68.00 136.00$            
State With Holding 309.38 308.62 304.50 306.00 1,228.50$         
FUTA 157.68 157.68$            
Unemployment Insurance 6.16 11.65 12.02 12.05 41.88$              
941 Tax 752.00 672.72 700.90 728.37 638.94 768.99 734.06 754.46 671.62 722.96 7,145.02$         
Equipment 3,500.00 3,500.00$         
Miscellanous 230.00 230.00$            
Mileage 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 500.00$            
Business Tax Registration 10.00 10.00$              

Wi Corp. Filing -$                  
Closed Caption Exemption -$                  
941 Quarterly Taxes
Cooking Show

-$                  
TOTAL 5,262.74$    3,831.68$    5,499.84$    3,957.41$    7,640.65$   4,006.22$   4,523.25$   3,617.20$   4,714.11$   4,193.68$   -$            -$                   47,246.78$       



24-368 10/1/2024 37 Stafford Street Repairs (Walls, insulation, cabinets) $15,000
24-369 10/1/2024 303 N Milwaukee Street Stairs in Basement $200
24-370 10/1/2024 429 Western Ave Interior Remodel - cabinets & floors $5,000
24-371 10/3/2024 206 Forest Avenue Stairs by Side Door $1,000
24-372 10/3/2024 22 E Riverbend Drive Tearoff Reroof $9,000
24-373 10/3/2024 24 South Street Replace Mixer Valve & Tub to Shower Conversion $11,335
24-374 10/3/2024 703 McColm Street New Roof $12,900
24-375 10/3/2024 411 County Road PP Automatic Fire Sprinkler System $824,825
24-376 10/3/2024 412 Harvey Drive Tub to Shower $17,569
24-377 10/4/2024 1610 Eastern Avenue Interior/Exterior Commercial Remodel TBD
24-378 10/7/2024 1 Persnickety Place Demolition and Rebuild of Disposal Room $476,500
24-379 10/7/2024 1610 Eastern Avenue Signs $10,000
24-380 10/7/2024 517 Reed Ave Tearoff Reroof $5,909
24-381 10/7/2024 531 Smith Street Sump Pump, Crock, Drain Tile $14,000
24-382 10/7/2024 927 Bonnie Court Sump Pump, Crock, Drain Tile $21,000
24-383 10/8/2024 1224 Kensington Ave Tearoff Reroof & Gutters $21,000
24-384 10/8/2024 327 Western Ave Fence $5,000
24-385 10/10/2024 235 Karin Circle New Furnace $4,940
24-386 10/10/2024 2602 County Road PP Loading Dock Addition $1,300,000
24-387 10/10/2024 404 E Mill Replace basement door & frame $4,000
24-388 10/10/2024 2602 County Road PP Electrical Work for Loading Dock $19,250
24-389 10/11/2024 1411 Greystone Drive NSFD $359,260
24-390 10/11/2024 710 Meadow Ridge NSFD $506,028
24-391 10/14/2024 751 Tallgrass Lane 8 Windows and Patio Door $25,000
24-392 10/15/2024 1398 Greystone Drive 1 Patio Door, 3 Entry Door $30,473
24-393 10/15/2024 15 South Street Tear Off, Re-roof $13,450
24-394 10/17/2024 422 Airpark Road Remove & Replace roof $21,978
24-395 10/18/2024 403 South Hills Drive Install Awning over deck $7,300
24-396 10/18/2024 530 S. Pleasant View Rd #416 Replace Boiler $8,851
24-397 10/21/2024 235 Karin Circle Complete roof replacement $14,000
24-398 10/22/2024 529 North Street Replace Kitchen Bay Window $4,700
24-399 10/22/2024 19 Reed St. Deck footing replacement $0
24-400 10/24/2024 732 June Grass Court Replacing 7 Windows; same size $40,000
24-401 10/24/2024 27 Lolie Court Reroof, Soffit, Fascia $39,000
24-402 10/24/2024 435 North Milwaukee Street Tear Off, Re-roof $17,400
24-403 10/28/2024 1101 Evergreen Drive Reroof $31,000
24-404 10/29/2024 429 Western Ave Remodel kitch & bedroom - electrical $3,000
24-405 10/31/2024 710 McColm Remodel dining room & add half bath $7,655
24-406 10/31/2024 702 McColm Replace exterior doors $3,125
24-407 10/31/2024 1919 County Rd C New Sign $0

Totals $3,910,648

Witkowski Inspection Agency, LLC - Contracted Inspection Report
City of Plymouth - October 2024

Project DescriptionAddressDate ValuePermit #



City of Plymouth
October 2024

Number of Building Permits Issued 37
Valuation of Building Permits Issued $1,745,359.62
**Includes Commercial Remodels

New Single Family Homes 2
Valuation of Single Family Homes $865,288.00
**Includes Two Family Homes

New Multi Family Buildings 0
Number of Units 0
Valuation of Multi Family Homes 0

New Commercial/Industrial Buildings 0
Valuation of Commercial/Industrial Buildings 0

Number of Commercial/Industrial Additions 1
Valuation of Commercial/Industrial Additions $1,300,000.00

Total Permits 40
Total Value $3,910,648



 

 
 
 
City of Plymouth 
128 Smith St. - P.O. Box 107 
Plymouth, WI  53073-0107 
  
 

 
  
 

 
 
 

Telephone: (920) 893-3745 
Facsimile: (920) 893-0183 

     Web Site:        plymouthgov.com 
 
 

 
DATE:  November 6, 2024 

TO:  Mayor and Common Council 

FROM: Cathy Austin, Director of Public Works   

RE:  DPW – Surplus Equipment   
 
 
 

The Department of Public Works has identified the following pieces of equipment for potential 
auction since the equipment listed below has either not been used in years or is now unreliable to 
perform the work.   
 
Pursuant to City Ordinance Section 3-4-1 DISPOSAL OF SURPLUS CITY PROPERTY, Common 
Council shall determine whether or not the item(s) are surplus City property, when valued over 
$500.00.   
 
All items will be sold in “as-is” condition.  
 
 
John Deere Walk Behind - Reel Mower 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

• Serial Number - M00022G912279 
• Ran last season 2023, not used in 2024 
• No longer serves a purpose for DPW 



 
 
Aquatic Center - Carpigiani soft serve ice cream maker 
 

 

• 220 volt 
• Model No. 191/Bar/USA G 
• Serial No. IC37198 
• Used during the 2023 swim season, not in 2024 
• Personal inspection recommended, sold as is. 
• Due to daily cleaning requirements per State Code, 

not financially responsible to continue to sell soft 
serve ice cream.   

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
2006 Chevrolet Silverado 1500 4x4 with Lift Gate 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

• Serial number – 3GCEK14V46G190109 
• 58,875 miles 
• Crack in driver side frame rail, between the cab and box. Has an uncertified temporary patch 

over crack. 
• Rust, and dents on all sides of vehicle. 
• Hole in the floor board on driver’s side. 
• Shifter has “play”. 
• Lift gate has a slow hydraulic leak. 
• Hole in side of driver’s seat. 







 
 
 
City of Plymouth 
128 Smith St. - P.O. Box 107 
Plymouth, WI  53073-0107 
  
 

 
  
 

 
 
 

Telephone: (920) 893-3745 
Facsimile: (920) 893-0183 

     Web Site:        plymouthgov.com 
 
 

 
DATE:  November 8, 2024 

TO:  Mayor and Common Council 
 
FROM: Tim Blakeslee, City Administrator/Utilities Manager   
 
RE: Public Hearing, discussion, and action regarding Resolution No. 11 - Adopting 

the 2025 Annual Budget, Making Appropriations, and Levying 2024 Property 
Taxes. 

 
 
Background: 
The Finance and Personnel committee reviewed the draft 2025 Annual Budget during three 
budget work sessions on August 27, September 10, and September 24. During these meetings 
the committee discussed city services, city projects, and impacts on the levy amount, tax rate, 
and utility rates. The first three pages of the budget document provide a detailed summary of the 
budget document. An executive summary of the 2025 Budget is listed below:   

• 0.63% levy decrease ($30,371). The 2024 budget increase was 2.14% 
• 1.67% assessed tax rate increase from 5.92 per thousand to 6.06 per thousand.  

o A home valued at $200,000 would see a city property tax increase of approximately 
$2.38 per month ($28.65 per year). This total includes prior direction to phase in 
the Trash/ Recycling fee over several years ($9.46 per year). 

• 0% percent increase to water and wastewater utility rates. A rate case submission for 
electric utility rates is currently under review at the PSC, but the timing of implementation 
will be dependent on the review time of the Public Service Commission.  

• 3% employee wage increase and continuation of the Police Union contract. Funding is 
also including to begin phasing in the Compensation and Classification Study. The annual 
wage resolution will be considered at an upcoming council meeting.  

• No significant changes from the budget work session process. 
 
As the City and Utility continue to deal with high equipment costs and longer equipment lead 
times, City Staff will continue to seek out ideas and strategies that will not only maintain, but 
improve the infrastructure, financial stability, and quality services of the City. The 2025 Budget 
places the City in great financial shape to balance resident needs and costs while proactively 
addressing the needs affecting Plymouth. As an organization, the City of Plymouth is committed 
to looking forward and planning for the future. 
 
Recommendation: Approval of Resolution No. 11 - Adopting the 2025 Annual Budget, Making 
Appropriations, and Levying 2024 Property Taxes. 
 
Attachments:  

1. Resolution No. 11 - Adopting the 2025 Annual Budget, Making Appropriations, and 
Levying 2024 Property Taxes. 

2. 2024 Annual Budget 



 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 11 of 2024 
 

A RESOLUTION ADOPTING THE 2025 ANNUAL BUDGETS, MAKING 
APPROPRIATIONS, AND LEVYING 2024 PROPERTY TAXES 

 
 
WHEREAS, the budget has been presented to the Common Council of the City of Plymouth in 
accordance with law, setting forth estimated receipts and expenditures for the budget year 2025; 
 
WHEREAS, the Common Council held a public hearing on November 12, 2024 on the City of 
Plymouth’s 2025 Annual Budget; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Common Council has deliberated said budget; 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Common Council of the City of Plymouth, 
Sheboygan County, Wisconsin, that: 
 

1. Expenditure of Funds from the General Fund.  The Municipality shall make 
expenditures as needed from its General Fund to pay for desired community services in 
the amount of $8,265,384 
 

2. Expenditure of Funds from the Enterprise Funds (Plymouth Utilities).  The 
Municipality shall make expenditures as needed from its Enterprise Funds to pay for 
desired utility services (electric, water, sewer) for combined operating expenditures 
estimated at $31,089,147 with estimated capital expenditures of $8,901,050   
 

3. Approval of 2025 General Fund Transfer to Capital Projects Fund.  The Municipality 
shall transfer $1,008,988 from the General Fund to the Capital Projects Fund for the 2025 
approved capital projects budget and subsequent budget years. 
 

4. Approval of 2025 General Fund Transfer to the Debt Service Fund.  The Municipality 
shall transfer $382,600 from the General Fund to the Debt Service Fund in order to make 
principal and interest payments on outstanding general obligation debt of the City of 
Plymouth. 
 

5. Approval of 2025 Transfers to the Risk Management Fund.  The Municipality shall 
transfer $160,810 from the General Fund and $150,565  from Enterprise Funds (Plymouth 
Utilities) to the Risk Management Fund for the payment of insurance premiums and claims 
costs. 
 

6. Approval of Tax Levy.  This Municipality shall levy a tax in the amount of $4,741,933  
 

7. Approval of Mil Rate Per 1,000 of Assessed Value.  The assessed tax rate for the City 
of Plymouth prior to various state credits shall be $6.06 per thousand. 
 



 

 2 

8. Utility Rates.  The budget includes a no increase to the water rates and sewer rates and 
a planned electric rate increase, which will be determined by the PSC.  
 

9. Wages. The 2025 wage resolution will be adopted on November 26, 2024. Any approved 
changes will be reflected in full on the first paycheck of 2025 for employees. Proposed 
wages are reflected in the 2025 budget.  
 

10. Budget Document. Approve of the 2025 Annual Budget document as presented 
 

11. Effective Date.  This Resolution shall be effective upon its adoption and approval. 
 
 

 
Adopted:  November 12, 2024 
 

CITY OF PLYMOUTH 
 
 

 
      
Donald O. Pohlman, Mayor 
 
 
      
Anna Voigt, Clerk 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Resolution Requested By: Tim Blakeslee, City Administrator/Utilities Manager 



Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.   

2025 Annual Budget - DRAFT 

CITY OF PLYMOUTH 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

1 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL 
 
November 2024 
 

The Honorable Mayor Donald O. Pohlman, Council President John Nelson, Members 
of the Common Council, and Citizens: 
 
2024 has been a year focused on preparing for the future. Key developments included the 
closure of TID#4, with an extension for affordable housing purposes, and the creation of TID#7 
to drive development on the City’s east side, adding multi-family housing, single-family housing, 
and commercial growth to Plymouth. The ad-hoc housing committee will finalize its housing 
study in December 2024, outlining future housing needs. Additionally, the City completed a 
sewer needs analysis on multiple development sites to support the growth anticipated by the 
housing study. We are also conducting a compensation and classification study to confirm and 
update employee wages. 
 
Over the course of 2024, the City completed several significant projects. These include 
approving the purchase of a new fire truck (to be delivered in 2027), launching a new e-
newsletter, expanding online self-service tools, initiating electric utility outage management 
software, planning for a new electric utility storage building, and completing the reconstruction of 
Forest Avenue. The City also reached an agreement with Cheese Capital Winter Park to 
rehabilitate Nutt Ski-Hill. In addition, the City kicked off the Mill Pond Dam project (planning for 
2024-2025 and construction for 2025-2026). The project received a $1 million earmark in the 
biennial state budget and a $640,000 matching grant from the State Dam Grant Program.  
 
The City also completed the installation of railroad crossing signals funded by the American 
Rescue Plan Act (ARPA). ARPA funding has supported portions of the Compensation and 
Classification Study, funded new SCBA tanks for the Fire Department in 2022, and funded fiber 
optic expansion to Well 11, Well 12, and the Sunset Lift Station in 2023. All ARPA funds are 
fully obligated.  
 
Significant City projects planned for 2025 include the reconstruction of Collins St and Highland 
Avenue (north of Eastern), continued cybersecurity upgrades, pool floor improvements, and the 
purchase of several new DPW trucks along with a Spalding Road Saver to enhance road repair 
capabilities. Staff also plans to implement badger books for elections, improve police body 
cameras, and install an LED pedestrian crossing at Burns Ave and Eastern Avenue. In addition, 
the complete closure of TID#4 after 2025 will provide an opportunity for levy relief for residents 
while enabling long-term capital project planning in 2026. The 2025 budget also funds a new 
Assistant City Administrator/Community Development Director position, an exciting addition to 
the Department Head team.  
 
On the utility side, 2025 will see continued implementation of a new substation in the southern 
portion of our service territory, finalization of the Wastewater Treatment Plant Digester Roof 
Replacement, ongoing work on electric line upgrades, and construction of a storage facility for 
electric utility materials. While the Water and Wastewater Utilities are not planning rate 
increases in 2025, the Electric Utility prepares for a rate increase, the first since 2015.  
 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

2 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

As the City and Utility address longer equipment lead times, we continue to pursue strategies 
that maintain and improve the infrastructure, financial stability, and quality services of the City. 
The City of Plymouth remains committed to forward planning and preparing for the future. 
 
2025 BUDGET 
 
The 2025 annual budget for the City of Plymouth is transmitted herein for the following funds: 
 General Fund 
 Debt Service Fund 
 Capital Projects Fund 
 Enterprise Funds (Plymouth Utilities (Electric, Water, Sewer) and Stormwater) 
 Special Revenue Funds  
 Internal Service Funds (Self-Health Insurance & Risk Management) 

The 2025 budget was prepared based on several parameters recommended by the Finance & 
Personnel Committee. The budget includes no increase to the water rates/sewer rates and a 
potential increase to the electric rates. The garbage fee increases as planned (10-year phase-in of 
garbage & recycling costs to special charge) by $8.53 and an $0.86 adjustment to the recycling fee. 
The 2025 budget includes a ~$4.5 million total debt issuance for the general fund and enterprise 
funds, with first payment in 2026.  
 
GENERAL FUND HIGHLIGHTS 
 
Total annual revenue for the City of Plymouth General Fund totals $8,265,384. The property tax levy 
decreases $30,371. From an expense perspective, our budget includes a 3% payroll increase and 
targeted increases for specific positions. The employee contribution requirement for health insurance 
moves to 12% in 2025 to match the police union contract.  
 
ACTIVITY MEASURES 
 
Activity measures continue to be provided in the annual budget to quantify many of the essential 
services we provide. While 2025 did not see the direct impact of COVID-19 on planned projects, 
several activities and projects were still affected by COVID or were completed a year late due to 
COVID. Both 2020 to 2022 activity measures may deviate from previous trends and should not be 
used in projecting future trends.   

DEBT SERVICE FUND 
 
The principal and interest payments for the General Fund totals $382,600 in 2025.  
 
CAPITAL PROJECTS FUND 
 
The Capital Projects Fund includes a General Fund contribution of $1,008,988. An additional, 
$142,000 of estimated revenue is also coming from the enacted half-percent sales tax for Sheboygan 
County and $9,233 is expected from the Town of Plymouth for their contribution to fire department 
capital costs. The full capital improvement plan is included as an appendix to this document.   
 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

3 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

PLYMOUTH UTILITIES BUDGET 
 
Total estimated revenue for Plymouth Utilities (water, sewer, electric) is $31,089,174. Purchased 
power is forecasted using information provided by WPPI. Total estimated expenses for the Utility is 
$29,434,137. This does not include the Stormwater Utility. 
 
SPECIAL REVENUE FUND 
 
The garbage and recycling fund include a $100.63 special fee for garbage and a $38.97 special fee 
for recycling. The special fees appear on the tax bill. The current garbage and recycling contract with 
Waste Management will end on December 31, 2026. Over the 10-year period, garbage and recycling 
costs will transition to being fully covered by a special fee and those properties that receive the 
service will pay the cost. The change in financing this service (which occurred in 2016) was to ensure 
appropriate cost recovery from the individuals that receive the benefit of the service.  

MISCELLANEOUS 
 
The City has several other funds not listed above allocated for specific uses. These funds are listed 
below and additional detail can be found in each related budget section.  

• List of internal service funds: 71-Health Insurance Fund, 72-Risk Insurance Fund.  
• Large Funds: 41- TID#4, 42- TID#5 
• Small Funds: 20- Committee fund, 21-Business Revolving Loan Fund, 22-USDA Revolving 

Loan Fund, 25-Housing Fund, 26-Water Sewer Lateral Revolving Loan Fund, 43- TID#6, 65-
Stormwater Utility, 80-American Rescue Plan Fund 

 
Similar to previous budgets, the 2025 Budget was prepared with the future in mind. The Common 
Council, staff, and residents alike continue to seek strategies to increase efficiency and cost 
effectiveness, while maintaining exemplary service levels in the City. Our employees are proud of 
their work and I hope you are as well, as we move out of 2024 and into 2025. We are confident the 
2025 Budget places the City in great financial shape to balance resident needs and proactively 
address the issues affecting Plymouth. Thank you for your time and effort in reviewing the 2025 
Budget 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 

 
Tim Blakeslee, City Administrator/Utilities Manager 
Cathy Austin, P.E., Director of Public Works 
Chris Russo, Finance Director  



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

4 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
Letter of Transmittal ........................................................................................................ 1 
Leadership & Organizational Chart ................................................................................. 5 
Philosophy & Strategic Areas of Emphasis ..................................................................... 8 
Annual Budget Policies ................................................................................................... 9 
Budget Calendar ........................................................................................................... 14 
Description of City Funds & Accounting Structure ......................................................... 15 
 
General Fund  
General Fund Revenue Sources & Trends .................................................................... 18 
General Fund Expenditure Sources & Trends ............................................................... 26 
Mayor & Common Council ............................................................................................ 35 
Municipal Court ............................................................................................................. 38 
City Clerk-Treasurer ...................................................................................................... 39 
City Administrator/Utilities Manager .............................................................................. 42 
Contracted Services ...................................................................................................... 44 
Miscellaneous General Government ............................................................................. 46 
IT Services .................................................................................................................... 49 
Police Department ........................................................................................................ 52 
Fire Department ............................................................................................................ 55 
Miscellaneous Public Safety .......................................................................................... 61 
Department of Public Works & Sanitation ...................................................................... 62 
Plymouth Public Library ................................................................................................ 66 
Recreational & Leisure Services ................................................................................... 69 
General Fund Expense Summary by Department ......................................................... 71 
 
Debt Service Fund ...................................................................................................... 72 
 
Capital Improvement Fund ......................................................................................... 78 
 
Enterprise Funds ........................................................................................................ 82 
Plymouth Utilities - Electric ............................................................................................ 92 
Plymouth Utilities - Water .............................................................................................. 96 
Plymouth Utilities - Wastewater ................................................................................... 100 
Stormwater ................................................................................................................. 104 
 
Self-Health Insurance Fund ...................................................................................... 106 
 
Risk Management Fund ............................................................................................ 110 
 
Special Revenue Funds ............................................................................................ 114 
 
Glossary...................................................................................................................... 126 
 
Appendix A: General Government Capital Improvement Plan (10-Year) .................. A 
 
Appendix B: Plymouth Utilities Capital Improvement Plan (10-Year) ........................ A 
 
Appendix C: Line-Item Budget Summary .................................................................... A 
  



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

5 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

LEADERSHIP & ORGANIZATIONAL CHART 
 
Who We Are? 
 
The City of Plymouth (including Plymouth Utilities) is 
governed by nine part-time elected officials including a 
Mayor.  The Common Council serves as the legislative 
branch of local government while the Mayor services 
as the executive head.  The Mayor presides at the 
Common Council meetings and may vote in the case of 
a tie and may also veto acts of the Common Council.  
Day-to-day operations are coordinated by the City 
Administrator/Utilities Manager (Chief Administrative 
Officer) and department heads.  
 
Elected Officials 
 
Donald O. Pohlman, Mayor 
 
John Nelson, Council President, 2nd District 
 
Diane Gilson, Alderman, 1st District    Greg Hildebrand, Alderman, 1st District 
 
Angie Matzdorf, Alderman, 2nd District  Jeffrey Tauscheck, Alderman, 3rd District 
 
John Binder, Alderman, 3rd District   David Herrmann, Alderman, 4th District 
 
Mike Penkwitz, Alderman, 4th District   Matthew Mooney, Municipal Judge 

 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

6 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

Municipal Staff 
 

Chief Administrative Officer (CAO) 
Tim Blakeslee, City Administrator/Utilities Manager* 

Vacant (New), Assistant City Administrator/Community Development Director* 
 
City Clerk and Treasurer’s Office       Fire Department 
Paul Seymour, City Treasurer        Ryan Pafford, Fire Chief 
Anna Voigt, City Clerk           Rory Beebe, Assistant Chief 
                Mike Birschbach, Assistant Chief 
 
Police Department 
Ken Ruggles, Police Chief/Public Safety Director 
Matthew Starker, Deputy Chief/Assistant Public Safety Director 
 
Library              
Leslie Jochman, Library Director         
 
Public Works Department 
Cathy Austin, P.E., Director of Public Works/City Engineer* 
Matt Magle, Street Superintendent 
 
Plymouth Utilities 
Chris Russo, Finance Director* 
Matt Schultz, Water Foreman 
Tyler Wollershiem, Wastewater Superintendent  
Ryan Roehrborn, Electrical Operations Manager 
Leah Federwisch, Human Resources Specialist* 
 
*Shared positions between City/Utilities. 
 

Municipal Facilities 
 

Plymouth City Hall       Public Works Garage 
128 Smith Street       1004 Valley Road 
PO Box 107        Plymouth, WI 53073 
Plymouth, WI 53073      Phone: (920) 892-4925 
Phone: (920) 893-1271       
 
Plymouth Utilities Operations Center  Plymouth Public Library 
900 County Road PP      130 Division Street 
PO Box 277        Plymouth, WI 53073 
Plymouth, WI 53073      Phone: (920) 892-4416 
Phone: (920) 893-1471 
 
 

 
 
 
 
  



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

7 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

Organizational Chart 
 

 
 
 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

8 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 
 

Our Philosophy  
 
Our city was incorporated in 1877 as an effort to plan for the future.  In 1900, the city granted a 
franchise to W.H. Wheeler Company of Beloit, Wisconsin to construct a waterworks and lighting 
system.  When the system was complete in 1901, the city took over and established the local 
utility.  Ever since, we have been planning for the future without loosing focus on the present.  
No doubt that it is hard work with all of the external factors we face as an organization such as 
fewer state aids and more federal regulations.  However, by staying focused and taking a long-
term perspective we will continue to overcome those external factors.  Your Utility.  Your 
Government.  Working Together.   
 

Mission, Vision, and Core Values 
 
 

VISION: 
A friendly small town where everyone wants to be! In Plymouth, all are connected, cared for, 
and able to thrive in a beautiful, safe community that values opportunity and a high quality of life 
for all.  
 
MISSION: 
Our mission is to support a high quality of life for the city and build long-term sustainability for 
the future. We continually improve by engaging our community, leveraging partnerships, and 
maintaining high quality staff to provide our community with safe and cost-effective services.  
 
CORE VALUES: 

• Respect: We treat others like we want to be treated.  
• Integrity: We honor our commitments in our words and actions.  
• Safety: We prioritize the wellbeing of all in our community.  
• Community: We work on behalf of everyone and treat everyone like family.  
• Honesty: We value truth and transparency in our interactions.  
• Openness: We listen to what others have to say.  
• Fun: We enjoy the work we do together.  
• Innovative: We are open to new ideas and ways of doing things. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

9 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 
 
 

CITY OF PLYMOUTH 
ANNUAL BUDGET POLICIES 

 
The budget for the City of Plymouth is a comprehensive guide for the financial decision-making 
and operational management throughout the fiscal year (January 1 to December 31). The 
budget is not only a financial plan but also a performance plan to assist in accomplishing the 
strategic goals set forth by the Mayor and Common Council with the support of the City 
Administrator/Utilities Manager. The Common Council has adopted several financial policies 
that guide the financial management of the City including policies that address the annual 
budget. This section describes the policies and procedures that govern the preparation and 
implementation of the annual budget.  
 
Annual Budget Policy 

 
The City has established a budget policy to guide the development of the annual budget.  The 
objectives of the policy are as follows: 
 
A. The City Administrator/Utilities Manager on an annual basis will provide the Finance & 

Personnel Committee with a proposed work calendar for the adoption of the budget.  The 
calendar will be reviewed by the Finance & Personnel Committee.   

 
B. The City Administrator/Utilities Manager with input from the Finance & Personnel Committee 

will develop general guidelines to be utilized by department heads in establishing respective 
department budgets. 

 
C. The City Administrator/Utilities Manager and Clerk/Treasurer will compile the requests and 

prepare a complete draft budget document to the Finance & Personnel Committee annually.  
The City Administrator/Utilities Manager and Clerk/Treasurer will work with the Finance & 
Personnel Committee to develop a final proposed budget before October 20th of each year. 

 
D. The Finance & Personnel Committee and Common Council will schedule appropriate time 

to review the recommended budget, suggest changes, and allow time for public comment. 
 

E. The Common Council will schedule a Public Hearing for public comment on the proposed 
budget in accordance with state law and conduct the hearing. 

 
F. Annual operating budgets will be proposed and adopted on a balanced basis, where 

operating revenues (estimated revenues) are used to fund operating expenditures 
(appropriations). 

 
G. The annual budget for the General Fund will include a contingency of a least one percent 

(1.0%) of the total General Fund Appropriations.   
 

H. Department program budgets will be used to provide greater detail in the budget process 
including a department mission statement, service line descriptions, and statistical data 
related to department services. 

 
I. The City will attempt to maintain a diversified and stable revenue system to shelter it from 

short-term fluctuations in any one revenue source. 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

10 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 
J. User charges and fees will be set at levels that offset wholly or partially direct and indirect 

costs of providing the service by a fee where possible. 
 

K. Annual budget increases shall be consistent with the tax levy law and other state statutes 
and shall be consistent with increase growth in the tax base, government aids and credits, 
and other non-property tax revenue. 

 
L. Enterprise funds will pay for a proportionate share of administrative costs incurred in General 

Fund departments when deemed appropriate by the Common Council. 
 

M. The budget process will strive to include performance measurements and indicators in the 
actual budget document. 

 
N. Periodically, the Common Council may review a particular department/program budget in 

greater detail.  This review may include a justification of all expenditures for each program as 
well as revenues generated by each program. 

 
O. A ten-year capital improvement plan (CIP) will be developed and presented as part of the 

annual budget.  Only the adopted annual budget will appropriate funds for a specific capital 
project unless other formal action is taken by the Common Council. 

 
P. The annual budget shall include budget sections on the revenues and expenditures of all 

funds.  
 

Debt Management Policy 
 

Debt can be an effective way to finance capital improvements.  Properly managed debt preserves 
credit ratings, provides flexibility in current and future operating budgets, and provides long-term 
assets that maintain or improve our quality of life.  To provide for the appropriate issuance and 
responsible use of debt, the City has adopted the following (below) debt management policy 
objectives. 
 
A. Long-term debt will be issued only for objects or purposes having a period of probable 

usefulness of at least five years. 
 
B. Short-term debt should be limited, but may be issued whenever appropriate for objects or 

purposes having a period of probable usefulness of at least five years, when deemed 
financially prudent. 
 

C. Debt maturity will not exceed the lesser of: the useful life, or the period of probable 
usefulness, of the object or purpose so financed. 

 
D. The annual operating budgets of all funds will be maintained so as to ensure the full and 

timely repayment of debt principal and interest due that year. 
 
E. The total amount of outstanding debt will comply with Wisconsin State Statutes.   
 
F. Good communications will be maintained with bond rating agencies, bond counsel, banks, 

financial advisors, and others involved in debt issuance and management. 
 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

11 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

G. Comprehensive annual financial reports and official statements will reflect the City’s 
commitment to full and open disclosure concerning debt. 

 
H. All revenue debt shall be in compliance with bond covenants and the utilities will have debt 

coverage ratios of at least 1.25 times the specified debt service requirements (revenues less 
operating expenses = 1.25). 

 
I. Except for unique circumstances, General Obligation debt shall not exceed 60% of the City’s 

legal debt limit (3% of equalized property value).  Under no circumstances except for the 
case of extreme emergency, shall the city exceed more than 80% of the City’s debt limit (4% 
of equalized value).  The City’s legal debt limit is 5% of equalized value.   

 
Fund Balance Policy 

 
The establishment of a formal fund balance policy is an important component of the City’s financial 
management policies.  Maintaining appropriate levels of fund balance is a key element of the City’s 
overall financial health.  This policy is intended to set targets for the desired level of fund balances, 
identify the approach to maintain these levels, and to provide guidelines for the use of fund balance.  
The objectives of the fund balance policy are as follows: 
 
A. To insulate the City from large, unanticipated one-time expenditures or revenue reductions 

resulting from external changes or events. 
 
B. To provide funds to allow the City to respond to unforeseen emergencies. 
 
C. To help stabilize the City’s tax levy due to a temporary reduction in non-property tax revenue. 
 
D.  To provide sufficient working capital to eliminate the need for short-term borrowing due to the 

timing of the receipt of short-term receivables and the remittance of short-term payables. 
 
E. To strive to maintain at least a general fund balance equal or above the range of 20% to 25% 

of budgeted general fund appropriations. In determining the acceptable range of general fund 
balance, the City considered the following factors: 

 
 Historical stability of the City’s revenues, expenditures and mil rate. 
 Timing of revenue collections in relation to payments made for operational 

expenditures. 
 Anticipated growth in the City’s valuation and/or services to be provided to City 

residents. 
 

F. Apply any operational surplus at the end of any fiscal year to the reserve for working capital if 
necessary, to meet policy minimums.  In addition, the Finance & Personnel Committee may 
recommend the designation of surplus to a committed-other fund balance. 

 
G. Eliminate the budgeted use of fund balance if its use would reduce the available balance 

below policy minimums. Fund balance should be utilized only in extreme cases and as 
approved by the Common Council.  

 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

12 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

Balance Requirements 
 
The City recognizes that fund balances are targeted objectives to ensure the long-term stability of the 
City’s finances.  From time to time, upon Common Council authorization, the funds may not contain 
the stated goal.  This is done with the understanding that it is in the best interests of the taxpayers 
and most cost-effective manner to utilize the reserve funds. 
 
A. General Fund Reserve – It is the goal for the fund balance to not be less than 20% to 25% 
of the budgeted general fund appropriations and any excess shall be allocated according to the 
percentages outlined below, and approved by the Common Council upon completion of the 
annual audit or year-end financials.    
 

Amounts over the 25% will be allocated to the following: 
 
 20% to Remain in General Fund Balance 
 80% to Capital Projects Fund 
 Committed Fund Balance by Approval of Common Council 
 Debt Service Fund by Approval of Common Council 

 
B. Utility/Enterprise Fund Reserve – The fund balance (unrestricted cash and investments) for 
the Utility/Enterprise Fund Reserves shall be in the range of 25% to 30% of annual billings. 
 
C.  Risk Management Fund Reserve - The City shall maintain a dedicated assigned  fund 
balance for Liability Claims, Property Claims, Auto Physical Damage  Claims, Crime Coverage 
Claims, Employment Practices Liability Claims, Privacy  Protection & Network Liability 
Insurance Claims, Workers Compensation Insurance  and related Claims expenses such as 
legal costs and other professional service  costs.  The reserve requirement shall take into 
consideration the historical trends,  potential pending claims against the City, status of other 
reserves, and overall risk associated to policy deductibles and self-insured retentions. 
 

The risk management fund will include a contingency reserve in an amount equal to the 
following:  
 
 Liability Insurance Coverage        $100,000  
 100% of Self-Insured Retention (4 x $25,000) 
 
 Auto Physical Damage Deductible (4x Deductible)    $10,000 
 
 Boiler & Machinery Coverage (2x Deductible)       $5,000 
 
 Crime Coverage (1x Deductible)         $20,000 
 
 Employment Practices Liability (2x Deductible)     $50,000 
 
 Privacy Protection & Network Liability Deductible*    $10,000 
 *Cyber security policy (1x Deductible) 
 
 Municipal Property Insurance Corp. (3x Deductible)     $45,000 
 
 Minimum Reserve Requirements:                      $240,000  
 
 Reserve Fund Replenishment – Claims paid from the risk management fund  reserve 
assigned fund balances shall be replenished the following fiscal year in an  amount to bring 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

13 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

the fund to a minimum of 75% of the reserve requirements and to  100% within two fiscal years.  
Reserve fund replenishment may come  from  unassigned fund balances, budgeted funds, or 
insurance dividend  income. 
 
Budget Principles 
 
In addition to the formal policies adopted by the City, there are several principles that the City of 
Plymouth uses as informal policy guidance for the budget, particularly with respect to operating 
budgets.  They are as follows: 

 
1. The City has adopted a program/service budget format, to convey the policies and purposes of 

City operations in a user-friendly form.  In most instances, individual programs are provided by a 
distinct department.  The City also provides line-item budget information for management control 
purposes and for those users who are interested in such information.   

 
2. The City uses encumbrances with respect to certain unexpended general fund appropriations.  

An encumbrance is a method of obligating monies for future expenditures through a formal 
commitment to obtain goods or services intended to be purchased with current year budget 
authority.  Departments may encumber funds via issuance of a purchase order or in accordance 
with an approved contract or by Council resolution.   

 
3. The annual General Fund budget contains a contingency appropriation established to cover 

unexpected situations, emergencies, etc. for all departments.  Department budgets are generally 
prohibited from containing planned contingencies.  The contingency appropriation is determined 
annually based on available resources after considering operating budget requests from the 
various departments/programs.  A portion of the contingency appropriation is sometimes utilized 
for salary adjustments approved by the Common Council after budget adoption.  The financial 
policies recommend a minimum of a 1.0% contingency fund on an annual basis. 

 
4. The City of Plymouth historically has not established definitive tax rate targets.  Rather, the City 

seeks to provide stable changes in tax bills to its citizens.  This philosophy means that in 
developing the tax and fee components of the budget, the City looks to provide annual increases 
that bear some relationship to the rate of inflation.  Artificially reducing the tax rate in one year, 
followed by double-digit increases in the next year, has been determined unacceptable by the 
Mayor, Common Council, and staff.  This philosophy recognizes that to provide the services 
desired by the City’s residents, costs do increase annually, and the budget process seeks to 
continue to provide the same or increased level of service at a reasonable cost. 

 
 
 
 
  



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

14 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 
CITY OF PLYMOUTH 2025 ANNUAL BUDGET CALENDAR 

 

State statute, local ordinance and the City’s budget development guidelines prescribe the 
process of budget review and adoption for the City of Plymouth.  The laws require public 
input in the budget process, including the publishing of a budget summary in the local 
newspaper.  Public input is always available during the Public Comment period of Common 
Council meetings and the official public hearing before the Common Council.  The following 
is the calendar for the 2025 budget process: 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

15 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

CITY OF PLYMOUTH 
DESCRIPTION OF CITY FUNDS & ACCOUNTING STRUCTURE 

 
The accounts of the City are organized on the basis of funds, each of which is considered a 
separate accounting entity.  Certain funds are classified according to generally accepted 
accounting principles as major funds.  The City’s fiscal year is the calendar year.  As required by 
Wisconsin Statutes, budgets are adopted for all of the City’s funds, which are classified and 
defined as follows: 
 
GOVERNMENTAL FUND TYPES 
 
These are the funds through which most of the functions of the City are financed.  These funds 
are budgeted on a modified accrual basis of accounting.  The focus of the modified accrual basis 
of accounting is on available spendable resources; that is, the flow of resources into and out of 
the organization in providing services.  The reported fund balance of a governmental fund 
represents a measure of the available spendable resources.  Under the modified accrual basis of 
accounting, revenues are recognized when measurable and available.  Available means 
collectable within the current period or soon enough thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the 
current period.  Expenditures are recorded when the liability is incurred, if measurable.  The 
following are the City’s governmental fund types: 
 
General Fund 
The general fund is the operating fund of the City.  It is used to account for all financial resources 
except those required to be accounted for in another fund.  The general fund is a major fund. 
 
Special Revenue Funds 
Special revenue funds are used to account for the proceeds of specific revenue sources that are 
designated or legally restricted to expenditures for specified purposes.  Special revenue funds in 
the City budget include the following: 
 
Committed Funds 
Revolving Loan Funds (multiple)   
Garbage & Recycling Fund 
Tax Increment Funds 
 
Debt Service Fund 
The debt service fund is used to account for the accumulation of resources for, and the payment 
of, general obligation long-term debt principal, interest and related costs not funded by proprietary 
fund operations.  The debt service fund is a major fund. 
 
Capital Projects Funds 
Capital projects funds are used to account for financial resources to be used for the acquisition of 
equipment, construction of major capital facilities, or other long-term projects.  The City adopts an 
annual capital improvement budget (the first year of a 10-year capital improvement plan).  In 
budgeting capital funds, the City generally assumes that all budgeted amounts will be spent on 
the indicated projects within the fiscal year or shortly thereafter, or for other long-term identified 
capital projects.  

 
PROPRIETARY FUND TYPES 
These fund types are used to account for activities funded primarily through user charges.  The 
basis of accounting used in budgeting such funds is accrual accounting.  The focus of accrual 
accounting is primarily upon the determination of net income and the maintenance of capital.  
Therefore, included within these funds are all assets and liabilities associated with the fund’s 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

16 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

operations.  Revenues are recognized under the accrual basis of accounting when earned and 
expenses are recorded as soon as they result in liabilities for benefits received, notwithstanding 
that the receipt or payment of cash may take place in another accounting period.  Budgeted 
expenses include depreciation.  For budgetary control purposes, the City also appropriates the 
capital expenditures for the proprietary funds.  The City prepares budgets for the following 
proprietary fund types: 
 
Enterprise Funds 
Enterprise funds are used to account for operations (a) that are financed and operated in a 
manner similar to private business – where the intent of the governing body is that the costs 
(expenses, including depreciation) of providing goods or services to the general public on a 
continuing basis be financed or recovered primarily through user charges, or (b) where the 
governing body has decided that periodic determination of revenues earned, expenses incurred, 
and/or net income is appropriate for capital maintenance, public policy, management control, 
accountability or other purposes. Enterprise fund budgets for Plymouth Utilities, a major fund, and 
and the Stormwater Utility, a minor fund, are included herein.  
 

Internal Service Funds 
Internal service funds are used to account for the financing of goods or services provided by one 
department to other departments of the City.  Internal service funds utilized by the City include the Risk 
Management Fund  and Self-Health Insurance Fund. 

  



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

17 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

GENERAL 
FUND 

  



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

18 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

CITY OF PLYMOUTH 
GENERAL FUND REVENUE SOURCES AND TRENDS 

 
Property taxes (including personal property) represent the largest source of revenue for the General 
Fund, providing 57% of operating revenue. The second largest source is intergovernmental revenues 
(23%).   
 

 

57%

10%

23%

2%
1% 1% 3% 2% 1%

2025 General Fund
Budgeted Revenue

Tax Levy (Local Property Tax) Taxes (Non Property) InterGovernmental Revenue

Licenses & Permits Fines,Forfeits & Penalities Public Charges for Services

Public Charges for Leisure IntGovt Charges for Services Miscellaneous Revenue



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

19 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 
 

 

59%

10%

21%

3%
1% 1% 2% 2% 1%

2024 General Fund
Budgeted Revenue

Tax Levy (Local Property Tax) Taxes (Non Property) InterGovernmental Revenue

Licenses & Permits Fines,Forfeits & Penalities Public Charges for Services

Public Charges for Leisure IntGovt Charges for Services Miscellaneous Revenue



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

20 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 
 
 

General Fund Property Tax Revenue 
 
The $4.74M property taxes levied for the 2025 General Fund budget is $30,371 less than 2024.  
Personal Property Tax Aid saw increase in 2025 as a result of a state law change, which allowed the 
property tax levy to slightly decrease. The following chart shows the 15-year trend in the General Fund 
Property Tax Levy:  

 
 

For the 2025 budget, the City is limited on property tax levies imposed as part of the state budget 
process, which restricts the increase in levy to the greater of 0% or growth from net new construction. 
Debt service costs are in addition to the levy limits.  Property taxes are expected to be approximately 
57% or more of total revenues in the future, which is due mainly to flat trends in other significant revenue 
sources. 

State of Wisconsin Shared Revenue & General Aids & Payments 

Monetary aids from the State of Wisconsin are the second primary source of City revenues.  

 The State Transportation Aid is 24.79% of budgeted intergovernmental revenue for 2025. The 
anticipated allocation is $480,804. The State Transportation Aid includes aid for connecting 
streets and for state highways.   

 State Shared Revenue accounts for 11.44% or $945,775 of budgeted revenue in 2025.  These 
revenues are based on a formula that considers per capita and aid able revenue factors. 2025 
saw a $19,830 increase in shared revenue based on changes in state law to follow inflation.  
We also include the Expenditure Restraint Program (ERP) payment in our state shared 
revenue line-item.  The ERP program is a $58 million dollar pool of funds shared among 
Wisconsin Communities that qualify by keeping their levy increase at or below a pre-
determined formula based on CPI and net new construction.   



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

21 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 
 

 

 

The following tables illustrates the trends in overall State revenues as well as the individualized aids 
discussed above:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 -
 100,000
 200,000
 300,000
 400,000
 500,000
 600,000
 700,000
 800,000
 900,000

 1,000,000

ACTUAL
2022

BUDGET
2023

ACTUAL
2023

BUDGET
2024

PROJECTED
2024

BUDGET
2025

Shared Revenue and Transportation Aids

Shared Revenues WI Grant-Gen Transp Aid



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

22 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 

 

For 2025, the City estimates $690,000 
in revenue from Plymouth Utilities 
(water and electric utilities) payment in 
lieu of taxes (PILOT).  PILOT as been 
flat since 2021 as a result of a reduction 
of the school district levy and an 
assessment ratio decrease.  

 

  



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

23 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

24 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 
 

 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

25 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

26 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 
CITY OF PLYMOUTH 

GENERAL FUND EXPENDITURE SOURCES AND TRENDS 
 

The pie charts below illustrate where General Fund monies are allocated.  For 2025 the Police 
Department accounts (28%) for the highest amount of expenditures on a year to year basis followed 
by Public Works (19%). In 2025, debt service accounts for just 5% of spending while capital spending 
accounts for 12%.   

 

 

 

MAYOR & COMMON 
COUNCIL

1%
MUNICIPAL COURT

1%
CLERK-TREASURER

3%
ADMINISTRATION

3%

CONTRACTED 
GOVERNMENT SERVICES

2%

MISCELLANEOUS 
GENERAL GOVERNMENT

4%

POLICE DEPARTMENT
28%

FIRE DEPARTMENT
5%

MISCELLANEOUS PUBLIC 
SAFETY

0%

COMPUTER / IT SERVICES
2%

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC 
WORKS

19%

SANITATION (Waste 
Disposal & Recycling

1%

PLYMOUTH LIBRARY
7%

RECREATIONAL & LEISURE 
SERVICES

7%

DEBT SERVICE
5%

CAPITAL PROJECTS
12%

2025 General Fund Budgeted Expenses



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

27 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

For 2024 the Police Department accounts (28%) for the highest amount of expenditures on a year to 
year basis followed by Public Works (17%). In 2024, debt service accounts for just 6% of spending 
while capital spending accounts for 13%.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MAYOR & COMMON 
COUNCIL

1%

MUNICIPAL COURT
1% CLERK-TREASURER

CITY ADMINISTRATOR
2%

CONTRACTED GOVERNMENT 
SERVICES

3%

MISCELLANEOUS 
GENERAL GOVERNMENT

3%

POLICE DEPARTMENT
28%

FIRE DEPARTMENT
5%

MISCELLANEOUS PUBLIC 
SAFETY

0%
COMPUTER / IT SERVICES

2%

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC 
WORKS

17%

SANITATION (Waste 
Disposal & Recycling

2%

PLYMOUTH LIBRARY
7%

RECREATIONAL & 
LEISURE SERVICES

7%

DEBT SERVICE
6%

CAPITAL PROJECTS
13%

2024 General Fund Budgeted Expenditures 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

28 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

GENERAL FUND EXPENDITURE SUMMARY 

 (Includes Debt Service & Capital Transfers) 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

29 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

CITY OF PLYMOUTH 
TAX RATE TRENDS 

 
The charts below illustrate the current trend of tax rates (per 1,000 of valuation) for the City of Plymouth 
(municipal portion) from 2010-2011 to the present on an equalized and assessed value basis.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

6.73 6.80 
7.02 7.05 6.87 

6.63 6.77 6.79 
6.60 6.45 

6.29 6.08 
5.88 

5.23 
4.94 

 -

 1.00

 2.00

 3.00

 4.00

 5.00

 6.00

 7.00

 8.00

City of Plymouth Equalized Tax Rate Trend



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

30 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 

The 2025 assessment ratio is .81 meaning that the assessments in the City of Plymouth were 81% of 
fair market value. In 2023, the assessment ratio was 1.02 meaning that the assessments were 102% 
of fair market value following a full community revaluation.  

The tax rates shown below are before various credits from the State of Wisconsin.   

 

6.83 6.75 6.68 6.67
6.56

6.48
6.57

6.79 6.87
6.95

7.06 
7.21 

5.74 

5.96 
6.06 

5.00

5.50

6.00

6.50

7.00

7.50

8.00

City of Plymouth Assessed Tax Rate Trend



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

31 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

  

0.
98

6

1.
00

74
02

61
5 

1.
05

05
69

69
9 

1.
05

65
07

62
1 

1.
04

69
22

92
9 

1.
02

43
07

21
3 

1.
02

82
56

63
7 

0.
99

90
76

89
1 

0.
96

37
36

85
 

0.
92

80
63

25
 

0.
89

14
55

20
3 

0.
84

22
55

71
1 

1.
02

40
83

14
1

0.
88

19
47

93
6

0.
81

44
96

69
1

0.500

0.600

0.700

0.800

0.900

1.000

1.100

Assessment Ratio Trend



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

32 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

33 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY. 

  



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

34 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

PROGRAM & SERVICE 

 BUDGET SECTIONS 

  



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

35 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

MAYOR & COMMON COUNCIL 

 
DEPARTMENT:  Mayor & Common Council 
 
PROGRAM MANAGER:  Mayor/Council President 
 
PROGRAM DESCRIPTION: 
 
The Mayor is the Chief Elected Executive Officer of the City of Plymouth and serves on a part-time 
basis.  The Mayor works with the City Administrator/Utilities Manager to ensure that all city ordinances 
and state laws are observed and enforced, and that all city officers, staff, boards, committees, and 
commissions properly discharge their duties.  The Mayor presides at the Common Council meetings 
and may vote in the case of a tie.  The Mayor is elected for a two-year term of office.  The Mayor 
represents the City at official gatherings where the City’s presence is required and serves as the 
Chairperson of the Plan Commission and serves on the Finance and Personnel Committee as well as 
the Public Works and Utilities Committee. 
 
The Common Council is the legislative branch of City government.  The Common Council is the forum 
for review and debate of proposed ordinances, resolutions and policies proposed by the standing 
Common Council committees and boards and commissions.  The most important legislation is the 
annual City budget.  The Common Council is comprised of eight (8) part-time alderpersons 
representing four aldermanic districts.  Each alderperson serves a two-year term.  The Council 
operates on a committee structure, with the following standing committees: 

 
 Committee of the Whole 
 Public Works & Utilities Committee 
 Finance & Personnel Committee 

 
In addition to the Council committees, there are a number of boards and commissions that provide 
policy input to the Mayor and Common Council and are comprised of citizen members and alderperson 
representation.  These bodies include the Plan Commission, Parks Committee, Public Safety 
Committee, Police and Fire Commission, Redevelopment Authority (RDA), and Library Board, as 
prescribed by Wisconsin statutes.  From time-to-time the City may also have “ad-hoc” committees that 
serve a specific one-time or limited time purpose. 
 
SERVICES: 
 
 Mayor and Council represent the citizens of Plymouth. 
 Assist constituents with issues and assists with dealing with City departments. 
 Sets City-wide short-term and long-term policies with assistance of staff. 
 Mayor nominates individuals to serve on various committees, boards, and commissions and 

the Council approves appointments (unless the position is directly appointed by the Mayor). 
 Introduces ordinances and resolutions and guides the policies of the City through adoption (or 

amendment) of ordinances and resolutions. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

36 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 
 
STAFFING: 
  

Position (Part-Time Elected) 2021 
Actual 

2022 
Actual 

2023 
Actual 

2024 
Projected 

2025 
Budget 

Mayor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 
Alderpersons 8.00 8.00 8.00 8.00 8.00 

 
ACTIVITY MEASURES (MAYOR & COMMON COUNCIL): 
 

Activity 2021 
Actual 

2022 
Actual 

2023 
Actual 

2024 
Projected 

2025 
Budget 

Ordinances Adopted 14 9 9 10 10 
Resolutions Passed – Council 14 9 14 10 10 

Common Council Meetings 27 24 25 25 25 

Finance & Personnel Committee Mtgs. 13 7 12 12 12 
Public Works &  
Utilities Committee Meetings 3 2 3 6 6 

 
 
OBJECTIVES ACCOMPLISHED IN 2024: 

1. Close TID#4 
2. Create TID#7 
3. Begin Implementation of 2023-2026 Strategic Plan Document  
4. Adopt 2025 budget 

 
 

OBJECTIVES TO BE ACCOMPLISHED IN 2025: 

5. Adopt Housing Study and Comp and Class Study 
6. Continue Implementation of 2023-2026 Strategic Plan Document  
7. Review and adopt small cell ordinance 
8. Adopt 2026 budget 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

37 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 
 
 
PROGRAM BUDGET: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

38 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

MUNICIPAL COURT 
 
DEPARTMENT:  Municipal Court 
 
PROGRAM MANAGER:  Municipal Judge 
 
PROGRAM DESCRIPTION: 
 
The Municipal Court has jurisdiction over local ordinance and traffic citations issued in the City of 
Plymouth.  The mission of the municipal court is to impartially adjudicate ordinance and traffic violation 
cases such that legal rights of individuals are safeguarded and public interest is protected.  The Court 
is presided over by an elected part-time Municipal Judge.   
 
 
SERVICES: 
 
 Managing and administering dispositions of local ordinance and traffic cases. 
 Additional plea and trial dates as needed. 

 
STAFFING: 
  

Position  2021 
Actual 

2022 
Actual 

2023 
Actual 

2024 
Projected 

2025 
Budget 

Municipal Judge  
(Part-Time, Elected) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 

Court Clerk 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 
Total 1.50 1.50 1.50 1.50 1.50 

 
ACTIVITY MEASURES: 
  

Activity 2021 
Actual 

2022 
Actual 

2023 
Actual 

2024 
Projected 

2025 
Budget 

Court Sessions – Initial 
Appearances 12 12 12 12 12 

Trials 1 6 2 2 2 
Cases Transferred to Plymouth 
Municipal Court 1 1 1 1 1 

 
PROGRAM BUDGET:  
 

 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

39 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

CITY CLERK-TREASURER 
 

 
DEPARTMENT:  City Clerk-Treasurer 
 
PROGRAM MANAGER:  City Clerk-Treasurer 
 
PROGRAM DESCRIPTION: 
 
The City Clerk-Treasurer’s office serves the public, elected officials and other City Departments.  The 
City Clerk-Treasurer office is responsible for city records management, election administration, legal 
notification to the public, issuance of licenses and permits, and provides administrative support to other 
City staff, boards, and commissions, and is responsible for financial matters such as accounts payable 
and receivable, billing and collections, cash management, and property tax collection for the general 
fund. 
 
SERVICES: 
 
 Prepare and distribute resolutions, ordinances, proclamations, agendas and meeting minutes 

for the Common Council and various city boards, commissions and committees, including “ad 
hoc” meetings when assigned. 

 Attend and provide administrative support to city committees including the Committee of the 
Whole, Common Council, Public Works & Utilities Committee, Finance & Personnel Committee 
and various other committees. 

 Maintain custody of the City’s official records, providing access to and responsible to public 
records requests. 

 Administer oaths of office, from time to time record legal documents, and certify official city 
documents. 

 Issue permits and licenses as required by local and state laws. 
 Oversee records management and retention of city materials. 
 Administer elections, which include voter registration, verification and updating of voter records, 

assist with absentee voting, election inspector training, hiring of poll workers, and direct 
supervision of Election Day activities. 

 Primary office for the collection of complaints and providing customer service. 
 Provide billing and collection for most general fund operations. 
 Disbursement of monies to general fund vendors. 
 Property tax collection and settlement with other governments. 
 Cash management and investment of city general fund resources. 
 Work with auditor/professional accounting services and staff on annual audit, quarterly and 

annual financial statements, and other state reporting. 
 Provide support to the City Administrator/Utilities Manager and the Finance & Personnel 

Committee on the preparation and administration of the annual budget. 
 Provide administrative support to other departments as needed. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

40 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

STAFFING: 
  

Position  2021 
Actual 

2022 
Actual 

2023 
Actual 

2024 
Projected 

2025 
Budget 

City Clerk/Treasurer 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 
Deputy Clerk-Treasurer 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 
City Clerk 0.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 
City Treasurer 0.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 
General Accountant 0.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 
Part-time Deputy Clerk-
Treasurer 0.25 0.25 0.00 0.00 0.00 

Records Person I-II 0.50 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 
Total 2.75 3.25 3.00 3.00 3.00 

*Part-time Clerk- Deputy Treasurer in 2021 and 2022 was due to a Full-time employee on FMLA for 12 weeks. 
 
ACTIVITY MEASURES (Clerk’s Office): 

Activity 2021 
Actual 

2022 
Actual 

2023 
Actual 

2024 
Projected 

2025 
Budget 

Registered Voters 5478 5500 5349 5400 5400 
Elections Held 2 3 2 3 2 
Absentee Voters Processed 1941 2900 1488 1827 1500 
Park Reservations 121 98 102 90 100 
Youth Center Reservations 17 19 42 23 30 
Street Use Permits 7 8 7 6 6 
Fire Permits 129 201 122 0 0 
Operator Licenses and 
Provisionals 243 227 236 240 240 

Class A Beer Licenses 4 3 3 2 2 
Class A Beer with Cider Licenses 1 1 1 1 1 
Class A Liquor Licenses (Comb) 8 8 8 8 8 
Class B Beer Licenses 7 7 6 6 6 
Class B Liquor Licenses (Comb) 14 18 16 16 17 
Class C Wine Liquor Licenses 5 5 4 4 4 
Temporary Class B Licenses 22 23 24 35 35 
Cigarette Licenses 11 10 14 13 13 
Transient Merchant Licenses 8 3 8 4 6 
Taxi Vehicle Licenses 0 0 0 0 0 
Taxi Drivers Licenses 0 0 0 0 0 
Dog Licenses 963 823 797 795 795 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

41 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

OBJECTIVES ACCOMPLISHED IN 2024: 

1. Held three successful elections.  
2. Arranged Coffee with Council for community engagement with the Mayor and Council. 
3. Started a City web-based newsletter.  
4. Continued to update voter registration roll by removing inactive voters from the active 

poll books and remove non-indefinitely confined voters from the absentee ballot list. 
5. Completed first year using new dog licensing software. 
6. Streamlined accounts payable invoice entry and credit card receipting process. 

 
OBJECTIVES TO BE ACCOMPLISHED IN 2025: 

1. Hold two successful elections in 2025. 
2. Train additional Chief Election Inspectors ahead of 2026 elections. 
3. Purchase and train on Badger Books election equipment.   
4. Implement quarterly city fund review process. 

 
PROGRAM BUDGET: 
 

  



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

42 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

CITY ADMINISTRATOR / UTILITIES MANAGER 
 

 
DEPARTMENT:  City Administrator/Utilities Manager 
 

PROGRAM MANAGER:  City Administrator/Utilities Manager 
 

PROGRAM DESCRIPTION: 
 
The City Administrator/Utilities Manager serves as the Chief Administrative Officer of the Municipal 
Corporation including the enterprise fund operations of Plymouth Utilities; leading, planning, organizing 
and directing the administration of the City of Plymouth toward fulfillment of goals and policies 
determined by the Mayor and Common Council.  The City Administrator/Utilities Manager assists the 
Mayor and Common Council by facilitating the establishment of goals and proposing alternative 
strategies for their accomplishment.  The City Administrator/Utilities Manager directs the use of human 
and fiscal resources toward accomplishment of City goals and objectives. 
 

SERVICES: 
 
 Oversee the preparation of the annual budget and 10-year capital improvement plan. 
 Oversee preparation of the Common Council agenda and other committee agendas. 
 Provide professional staff services to the Common Council and various city committees, 

boards, and commissions. 
 Serves as Personnel Director responsible for negotiation and administration of collective 

bargained labor agreements and personnel policies and management of the city. 
 Oversees the operations and activities of the City general fund and Plymouth Utilities 

(enterprise funds). 
 Carries out and implements policy directives of the Common Council. 
 Prepares administrative policies and procedures for the conduct of City operations. 
 Represents the City in intergovernmental matters and in public relations. 
 Responsible for payroll, benefit administrations, and risk management services.   

 

STAFFING:  
Position  2021 

Actual 
2022 

Actual 
2023 

Actual 
2024 

Projected 
2025 

Budget 
City Administrator/Utilities Manager* 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.50 0.50 
Assistant City Administrator/ 
Community Development Director**  0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.65 

Finance Director*** 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.05 
Human Resources Specialist* 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.50 0.50 
Total 2.00 2.00 2.00 1.00 1.00 
*Note: Positions are split between the general fund (50%) and Plymouth Utilities (50%).  **Position 
Split general fund (65%) and Plymouth Utilities (35%).  ***Position Split general fund (5%) and 
Plymouth Utilities (95%).  
 
 

ACTIVITY MEASURES: 
Activity  2021 

Actual 
2022 

Actual 
2023 

Actual 
2024 

Projected 
2025 

Budget 
Common Council Meetings 27 24 25 25 25 
Finance & Personnel Committee 
Meetings 13 7 12 12 9 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

43 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

Public Works & Utilities Committee 
Meetings 3 2 3 6 4 

Plan Commission Meetings 8 12 11 11 12 
 

OBJECTIVES ACCOMPLISHED IN 2024: 

1. Coordinate the preparation, development, and adoption of the 2025 annual budget. 
2. Ensure capital improvements plan is implemented. 
3. Implement new performance evaluation review process. 
4. Begin implementation of 2023-2026 strategic plan. 
5. Facilitate discussion and decision on Mill Pond Dam project. 
6. Close TID#4 and investigate future TID options. 
7. Begin development of TID#4 affordable housing fund program. 
8. Implement TID#7 Creation. 

 
OBJECTIVES TO BE ACCOMPLISHED IN 2025: 

9. Coordinate the preparation, development, and adoption of the 2026 annual budget. 
10. Ensure capital improvements plan is implemented. 
11. Implement various development projects (SCEDC/Wangard). 
12. Implement new Plan Commission staff memo process. 
13. Continue implementation of 2023-2026 strategic plan. 
14. Begin implementation of Mill Pond Dam Project and Ski-Hill License Agreement 
15. Investigate TID#8 creation. 

 
 
 
PROGRAM BUDGET: 
 

 
     

 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

44 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

CONTRACTED SERVICES 

 
City Attorney & Legal Services,  

City Assessor, Building Inspector/Zoning Administrator 
 
DEPARTMENT:  Contracted Services – City Attorney, City Assessor, Building Inspector/Zoning 
Administrator 
 
PROGRAM MANAGER:  City Administrator/Utilities Manager and Mayor & Common Council 
 
PROGRAM DESCRIPTION: 
 
Under pressure to do more with less resources, governments across Wisconsin and the country have 
moved from direct service provision to providing services by contract.  The aim has been to reduce 
costs, increase service and labor flexibility, improve customer satisfaction, and add capabilities or 
expertise to the organization.  This section represents several contracted services for the City of 
Plymouth including the City Attorney and Legal Services, City Assessor services, Building Inspection, 
and Zoning Administration services.  The city contracted out City Assessor services in 2009, Building 
Inspection services in 2009, City Attorney services in 2010, and Zoning Administration in 2009, most 
recently contracting with Sheboygan County for Zoning Administration in 2019.  
 
SERVICE:  City Attorney 
 Acts as legal counsel at meetings of the Common Council, Plan Commission, and other local 

boards, commissions, and committees. 
 Drafts and revises local ordinances and resolutions as needed. 
 Researches and writes legal and advisory opinions and memoranda for the City Administrator, 

elected officials, and city departments. 
 Prosecutes ordinance violations. 
 Drafts development agreements. 
 Assists with the negotiating and drafting of various city contracts, leases, and indemnification 

agreements. 
 Oversees all real estate activity (purchases, sales, easements).  
 The City Attorney performs other duties provided by State law and as designated by the 

Common Council. 
 
SERVICE: City Assessor 
 Delivers annual assessment roll to the City Clerk-Treasurer and Board of Review. 
 Updates information in property database. 
 Provide assessment information to interested parties and review property sales. 
 Preparation and completion of the Municipal Assessor’s Report, Computer Exemption Report, 

Exempt Property Reports for submission to the Department of Revenue. 
 Attend Board of Review to give sworn testimony defending real and personal property 

assessments and serving as the municipality’s expert witness.  Defend assessments upon 
appeal from the Board of Review. 

 Perform onsite inspections of all new construction. 
 Maintain values used to establish Mobile Home parking fees. 
 Establish annual values of personal property owned by businesses. 
 Respond to inquiries of property owners contesting the current assessed value of their 

property. 
 
 
 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

45 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

SERVICE:  Building Inspector 
 Perform building/construction inspections. 
 Respond to citizen inquiries and complaints concerning construction, code clarification, public 

nuisance complaints, permits, and other information. 
 Consult with the Director of Public Works/City Engineer on stormwater issues. 
 Perform plan review for commercial and residential projects as needed. 

 
SERVICE: Zoning Administrator 
 Perform zoning administration services including the administration of the sign ordinance. 
 Serve as staff and secretary of the Plan Commission.  

 
OBJECTIVES ACCOMPLISHED IN 2024: 
 

1. Hire new building inspector contractor 
2. Continue with improvements to code enforcement. 

 
OBJECTIVES TO BE ACCOMPLISHED IN 2025: 

3. Coordination new zoning processes with ACA/CDC and building inspector.   
4. Evaluate assessment revaluation.  

PROGRAM BUDGET:   



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

46 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 
MISCELLANEOUS GENERAL GOVERNMENT 

 
Debt Service Fund Transfer, Capital Projects Fund Transfer 

 
 

DEPARTMENT:  Miscellaneous General Government 
 

PROGRAM MANAGER:  City Administrator/Utilities Manager 
 
PROGRAM DESCRIPTION: 
 

The Miscellaneous General Government budget includes City Hall, Insurance (non-health), Cable 
TV, Redevelopment Authority contribution, and the Plan Commission / Zoning Board of Appeals.  
The program provides for various accounts that are not normally contained in department operating 
budgets or historically have not been included in department operating budgets.  The general fund 
contingency, contributions to the debt service fund, and contributions or transfers to the capital 
projects fund are also found in Miscellaneous General Government. 
   
PROGRAM BUDGET:  
 
  



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

47 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 

BUDGET NOTES: 

1) Debt Service transfer is $382.600 for 2025. 
2) Capital Projects Fund transfer totals $1,008,988.     

  



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

48 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY  



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

49 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 

IT SERVICES / COMPUTER 
 

 
DEPARTMENT:  IT Services/Computer 
 
PROGRAM MANAGER:  IT Manager 
 
PROGRAM DESCRIPTION: 
 
General fund and enterprise fund computing needs are administered by this program.  This includes 
City Hall (Administration, Police and Fire Department), Public Works Garage, Fire Department, 
Aquatic Center, and Plymouth Utilities. Costs associated to enterprise funds (Plymouth Utilities) are 
allocated directly to the fund.  Financial information in this section is the summary for the general fund 
only.   
 
SERVICES: 
 
 Perform hardware and software maintenance and repair (ie. servers, switches, 

computers) 
 Install, maintain, and upgrade computer software 
 Provide training and software support to personnel 
 Recommend and implement cyber security training, systems, and upgrades 
 Implement and maintain physical security (ie. camera systems, entrance security) 
 Special projects as assigned. 

 
STAFFING: 
 

 Position  2021 
Actual 

2022 
Actual 

2023 
Actual 

2024 
Projected 

2025 
Budget 

IT Manager 0.50 0.50 0.50 .50 .50 
Total 0.00 0.00 0.50 1.00 1.00 

*Note: Position is split between the General fund (50%) and Plymouth Utilities (50%). 
 
ACTIVITY MEASURES: 
 

Activity  2021 
Actual 

2022 
Actual 

2023 
Actual 

2024 
Projected 

2025 
Budget 

Server 19 18 17 18 19 
Storage Servers 2 2 2 3 5 
Laptops 31 32 33 33 35 
Desk Top Computers 46 45 44 44 46 
Printers 25 25 21 23 23 
Copiers 4 4 4 4 3 
Projectors 4 4 3 1 1 
Network Switches 30 30 29 33 34 
Firewalls 2 4 4 3 3 
Camera Systems 4 4 4 3 3 
Door Access 2 2 2 2 2 
Wireless Access Points 11 12 12 16 18 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

50 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

Security Cameras 77 79 79 79 83 
Panic Systems 2 2 2 2 2 
Users - Network 67 63 65 63 75 

 

 
OBJECTIVES ACCOMPLISHED IN 2024: 

1. GIS projects for Water Department 
2. SQL Server replacements 
3. Hyper-V server replacement 
4. Mirror Hyper-V to substation 4 
5. Scada Server upgrades 
6. Fire Department office network wiring 
7. Police Department office network wiring 
8. Computer replacements 
9. Install fiber at Golf Course 
10. Install Smart TV at Utilities 
11. Caselle Connect server upgrade 
12. Created Electric Department online forms 
13. PSC Chapter 119 website forms and workflow 
14. Customer self Service Outage Reporting on website 
15. Built On-Call service workflow 
16. Squad car replacement laptops 
1. Created Strategic Plan web application  

 

OBJECTIVES TO BE ACCOMPLISHED IN 2025: 

1. Hyper-V server replacement 
2. Police Department closed evidence system 
3. Computer replacements 
4. Clerk copy machine replacement 
5. Install camera in Utility Room at the Pool 
6. Install Fiber at the Pool 
7. Install EOC second Smart TV 
8. Evaluate Park Reservation workflow 
9. Install water department mobile modems 
10. Install electric department mobile modems 
11. Install server racks for additional capacity 
12. Purchase GIS/GPS device for locates 
13. Upgrade Veeam backup server 
14. Fiber to new substation 

 

 
 

PROGRAM BUDGET: 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

51 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 
 

BUDGET NOTES: 
1) The IT Manager is a shared position between the General Fund (50%) and Enterprise 

fund (50%).  
  



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

52 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

POLICE DEPARTMENT 
 

 
DEPARTMENT:  Police Department 
 
PROGRAM MANAGER:  Police Chief 
 
PROGRAM DESCRIPTION: 
 
The mission for every member of the Plymouth Police Department is to consistently seek and find ways 
to affirmatively promote, preserve, and deliver a feeling of security, safety, and quality policing services 
to the members of our community.  
 
SERVICES: 
 
 24-hour/7 day a week patrol services. 
 Traffic Safety Enforcement/Accident Investigation. 
 Special Event Management Police Services (example: County Fair). 
 Crime Prevention Programs. 
 Providing Crossing Guards.  
 Apprehension and prosecution of violators and offenders of local, state and federal laws. 
 Criminal Investigation. 
 K9 Officer program. 
 Emergency management oversight, preparation, and planning. 

 
STAFFING: 
 

Position  2021 
Actual 

2022 
Actual 

2023 
Actual 

2024 
Projected 

2025 
Budget 

Chief of Police  1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 
Deputy Chief 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 
Lieutenant 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 
Patrol Officer 11.00 11.00 11.0 11.0 11.0 
Administrative Assistant .00 .00 .00 0 0 
Records Person I-II 1.70 1.70 1.70 1.0 1.0 
Senior Records Person/Court Rsv. .75 .75 .75 1.0 1.0 
Patrol Officer (Part-Time) .00 .00 .00 0 0 
Crossing Guards (2) .10 .10 .10 .10 .10 
Total 18.50 18.50 18.50 18.10 18.10 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

53 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

ACTIVITY MEASURES: 
 

Activity 2021 
Actual 

2022 
Actual 

2023 
Actual 

2024 
Projected 

2025 
Budget 

Theft 42 90 61 132 90 
Burglary 8 6 3 8 7 
Motor Vehicle theft 8 5 0 6 5 
Assault 15 12 21 52 21 
Disorderly Conduct 198 257 107 120 150 
Criminal damage to property 57 76 44 40 50 
Animal related 141 136 265 170 180 
Open Doors 44 56 112 98 75 
Auto lock outs 90 141 152 128 124 
Alarm calls 111 1,009 109 120 200 
Fire Dept. assist 48 48 39 84 64 
Ambulance assist 282 533 471 514 471 
All other incidents 4,020 3,740 3,401 4,436 4,060 
Traffic accident 138 149 165 172 156 
Counter assist 6,189 6,510 2,725 3,158 4,645 
Assist outside agency 228 296 244 326 274 
Citizen assist 6,570 6,212 383 396 3,390 
Felony Arrest 201 90 72 84 111 
Misdemeanor Arrest  222 209 252 376 265 
Ordinance Arrest 90 111 152 208 140 
Traffic Citation  717 419 816 1,458 852 
Traffic Warning 1,152 1,014 1,430 2,376 1,493 

 
 

OBJECTIVES ACCOMPLISHED IN 2024: 

1. Maintain full staffing in the Police Department. 
a. Vacancy created by January retirement filled in April. 

2. Increased K-9 Unit by one.  Now 2 dogs and handlers. 
3. Career Development of officers and supervisors continued: 

a. Two Lieutenants attended Leadership in Police Organizations (LPO) 
b. Deputy Chief will attend Wisconsin Command College beginning in August 2024. 
c. A senior officer will attend LPO beginning in Fall 2024. 

4. Began multi-year replacement of portable radios.  Ballistic shields replaced. 
5. Researched and recommended replacement of all body-worn and in-car camera 

systems for 2025 budget.   
6. Increased community interaction and outreach: 

a. Booth at Mill Street Fest 
b. Community presentations on Scams/Fraud at senior apartment complexes. 
c. Held first ever Police/Fire Youth Miniature Golf Outing in August 2024. 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

54 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

7. Two Officers attended ALICE Instructor training in August 2024 for active threat 
response. 

8. Replaced all spike strip systems for pursuit mitigation in fall 2024. 
9. Purchased electric bike for PD Bike Unit 

 

OBJECTIVES TO BE ACCOMPLISHED IN 2025. 

1. Negotiate union contract (Current contract ends December 2025) 
2. Build Community Outreach Program including Citizen Police/Fire Academy 
3. Career development of all Officers and Command Staff. 
4. Update and maintain technology for law enforcement. (ALPR, Digital Forensics) 
5. Continue to develop Chaplain program. 
6. Continue development of community Active Threat Response program.   
7. Implement effective Bicycle Patrol Unit 

 
PROGRAM BUDGET: 
 
 

 
BUDGET NOTES: Wage line-item includes 2023-2025 union contract.  



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

55 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

FIRE DEPARTMENT 
 
DEPARTMENT:  Fire Department 
 
PROGRAM MANAGER:  Fire Chief 
 
PROGRAM DESCRIPTION: 
 
The Mission of the Plymouth Fire Department is to protect the lives and property of its citizens and 
visitors, without prejudice or favoritism, from natural or man-made hazards and medical emergencies 
through prevention, education, and intervention. 
 
The Plymouth Fire Department is comprised of the City and Town Fire Departments.  The Fire 
Department covers an area of approximately 36 square miles and a population of over 10,000.  The 
Department utilizes two fire stations (one in the city and one in the town). 
 
SERVICES: 
 
 Provide hazardous condition and disaster mitigation. 
 Fire suppression. 
 Automobile extrication. 
 Ice rescue. 
 Fire education and prevention services. 
 Emergency Medical Service (EMS). 

 
STAFFING: 
 

Position (Volunteer)  2021 
Actual 

2022 
Actual 

2023 
Actual 

2024 
Projected 2025 Budget 

Fire Chief (Full-Time) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 
Assistant Fire Chief 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 
Captain  6.00 6.00 6.00 6.00 6.00 
Fire Prevention/Inspection  1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 
Fire Fighters  44.00 44.00 44.00 44.00 44.00 
Total 54.00 54.00 54.00 54.00 54.00 

 
Note: Actual yearly fluctuations in active Volunteer Fire Fighters does occur. 
 
ACTIVITY MEASURES: 

 
Fire 

Activity  2021 
Actual 

2022 
Actual 

2023 
Actual 

2024 
Projected 

2025 
Budget 

100 Fire, Other 0 1 0 1 0 
111 Building Fires 16 14 16 20 15 
112 Fires in Structure Other than in a building 0 1 0 1 1 
113 Cooking Fire, confined to container 2 4 1 2 2 
114 Chimney or flue fire, confined to chimney 0 1 1 1 2 
116 Fuel burner/boiler malfunction 0 0 0 0 0 
118 Trash or rubbish fire contained 0 5 1 3 2 
131 Passenger vehicle fire 2 4 1 4 2 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

56 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

132 Road freight or transport vehicle fire 0 1 0 1 1 
137 Camper or recreational vehicle (RV) fire 0 0 0 1 1 
138 Off-road vehicle or heavy equipment fire 4 1 1 3 1 
140 Natural Vegetation Fire, other 4 0 1 2 4 
141 Forest, woods or wild land fire 0 0 0 1 0 
142 Brush or brush-and-grass mixture fire 2 2 1 4 2 
143 Grass Fire 2 3 2 2 4 
150 Outside rubbish fire, other 0 1 0 0 0 
151 Outside rubbish, trash or waste fire 4 2 1 1 1 
153 Construction or demo landfill fire 0 0 0 0 0 
154 Dumpster or other outside trash receptacle 0 1 2 2 2 
160 Special outside fire 0 1 0 1 2 
161 Outside storage fire 0 0 1 1 0 
162 Outside equipment fire 0 0 0 0 0 
170 Cultivated vegetation, crop fire, Other 0 0 0 0 1 
171 Cultivated grain or crop fire 0 0 1 0 1 
Sub-Total 36 44 31 51 44 

 
Overpressure Rupture, Explosion, Overheat (no fire) 

Activity  2021 
Actual 

2022 
Actual 

2023 
Actual 

2024 
Projected 

2025 
Budget 

200, 251 Overpressure rupture, explosion, 
overheat 0 0 0 0 0 

Sub-Total 0 0 0 0 0 
 

 
Rescue & Emergency Medical Service Incident 

Activity  2021 
Actual 

2022 
Actual 

2023 
Actual 

2024 
Projected 

2025 
Budget 

300 Rescue, EMS incident, other 2 5 1 1 1 
311 Medical Assist EMS Crew 40 55 86 85 90 

321 EMS call, excluding vehicle accident 4 14 
24 25 30 

322 Motor Vehicle Accident with Injuries 22 10 18 22 20 

324 Motor Vehicle Accident with no injuries 0 4 3 10 4 

340 Search for lost person, other 0 0 0 0 0 

341 Search for person on land 0 2 0 1 0 

350 Extrication, rescue, other 2 1 2 2 2 

351 Extrication of victims 0 0 0 1 0 

352 Extrication of victim(s) from vehicle 0 6 1 1 1 

353 Removal of victim from stalled elevator 0 0 0 0 0 

355-356 High-angle rescue/Confined Space 0 1 0 0 0 

357 Extrication of victims from machinery 0 0 0 0 0 

360 Water & Ice-related rescue, other 2 1 1 1 2 

361 Swimming/Recreational Water Rescue 0 1 0 0 1 

362-365 Ice Rescue/Watercraft Rescue 0 0 1 1 2 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

57 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

381 Rescue or EMS Standby 36 152 49 50 50 

Sub-Total 108 252 217 200 203 
      
Breakdown of standbys      
3811 Standby for stock car races n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 
3812 Standby for football game n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 
3813 Standby for Plymouth/ Orange Cross 
Ambulance Service n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 

3814 Standby for Sheboygan County Fair n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 

3815 Snowmobile Races n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 

3816 Standby for Fire Calls n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 

3817 Standby for Dive Team n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 
 
Hazardous Condition (No Fire) 

Activity  2021 
Actual 

2022 
Actual 

2023 
Actual 

2024 
Projected 

2025 
Budget 

400 Hazardous Condition, Other 2 4 0 2 0 

411 Gasoline or flammable liquid spill 0 1 0 3 2 

412 Gas leak (natural gas or LPG) 6 6 5 5 10 

413 Oil or other combustible liquid spill 4 2 4 1 4 

423 Refrigeration Leak 0 1 0 0 0 

424 Carbon monoxide incidents 6 2 9 12 10 

440 Electrical Wiring/Equipment Problem 0 0 2 1 1 

441 Heat from short circuit (wiring) 2 0 0 0 0 

442 Overheated Motor 0 0 0 0 0 

443 Breakdown of light ballast 0 0 0 0 0 
444 Power line down 0 3 3 3 3 

445 Arching, Shorten Electrical Equipment 0 0 1 3 0 

463 Vehicle accident, general cleanup 4 5 3 3 5 

Sub-Total 24 24 27 33 35 
Service Call 

Activity  2021 
Actual 

2022 
Actual 

2023 
Actual 

2024 
Projected 

2025 
Budget 

500 Service Call, Other 0 2 3 2 1 
510 Person in distress, other 0 0 0 0 0 
511 Lock Out 6 4 6 5 5 
521 Water Evacuation 0 1 0 0 0 
522 Water or steam leak 0 1 1 0 0 
531 Smoke or odor removal 6 3 1 4 4 
550 Public service assistance, other 0 0 0 2 0 
551 Assist Police/other government agency 0 5 0 5 3 
553 Public Service 0 0 0 3 0 
554 Assist invalids 0 1 0 0 0 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

58 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

571 Cover assignment, standby, move-up 0 1 1 0 1 
Sub-Total 12 18 12 21 14 

Good Intent Call 

Activity  2021 
Actual 

2022 
Actual 

2023 
Actual 

2024 
Projected 

2025 
Budget 

611 Dispatched & cancelled in route 56 29 37 57 34 
631 Authorized Controlled Burning 2 1 1 1 1 

650 Steam, other gas mistaken for smoke 0 0 0 1 0 

651 Smoke scare, odor of smoke 2 3 3 1 3 

652 Steam/vapor/fog/dust thought to be fire 0 0 0 0 0 

Sub-Total 60 33 43 60 38 
 
False Alarm & False Call 

Activity  2021 
Actual 

2022 
Actual 

2023 
Actual 

2024 
Projected 

2025 
Budget 

700 False alarm or call, other 2 5 3 5 3 
710 Malicious, mischievous false call 0 1 0 2 0 
730 System malfunction, other 2 1 3 3 3 
731 Sprinkler activation due to malfunction 0 3 2 1 2 
733 Smoke detector activation 2 5 11 6 10 
734 Heat detector activation due to malfunction 2 0 1 1 1 
735 Alarm system sounded due to malfunction  16 15 6 10 15 
736 CO detector activation due to malfunction 6 5 3 3 3 
740 Unintentional transmission of alarm, other 2 2 4 2 3 
741 Sprinkler activation, no fire 2 1 2 0 2 
743 Smoke detector activation, no fire 8 5 1 4 1 
744 Detector activation, no fire 4 3 0 3 0 
745 Alarm system activation, no fire 10 11 5 15 5 
746 CO detector activated, no carbon monoxide 2 3 3 1 2 
Sub-Total 58 60 50 56 50 

 
Severe Weather & Natural Disaster 

Activity  2021 
Actual 

2022 
Actual 

2023 
Actual 

2024 
Projected 

2025 
Budget 

800 Severe weather/natural disaster, other 0 0 0 0 0 
813 Wind storm, tornado assessment 0 2 1 1 1 
814 Lightning strike (no fire) 0 0 0 0 0 
815 Severe weather stand-by 0 0 0 0 0 
Sub-Total 0 2 1 1 1 

 
 
 
Special Incident 

Activity  2021 
Actual 

2022 
Actual 

2023 
Actual 

2024 
Projected 

2025 
Budget 

900 Special type of incident 0 5 3 3 3 

Sub-Total 0 5 3 3 3 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

59 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

TOTAL CALLS BY CATEGORY 

Activity  2021 
Actual 

2022 
Actual 

2023 
Actual 

2024 
Projected 

2025 
Budget 

Fire 36 44 31 51 44  
Overpressure Rupture, Explosion Overheat 0 0 0 0 0 
Rescue & EMS 108 252 217 200 203 
Hazardous Condition 24 24 27 33  35 
Service Call 12 17 12 21 14 
Good Intent Call 60 33 43 60 38 
False Alarm & False Call 58 60 50 56 50 
Severe Weather or Natural Disaster 0 2 1 1 1 
Special Incident 0 5 3 3 3 
Total 298 437 357 375 388 

 
 
OBJECTIVES ACCOMPLISHED IN 2024: 

1. Worked with City and Fire Department Staff to place an order for a new ladder truck. 
2. Completed multiple inspections with different agencies to include ISO and DSPS. 
3. Went live on new Remote Management System for fire department. 
4. Updated fitness center through donations. 
5. Draft of Vehicle and Equipment Replacement Plan completed. 

 
 

OBJECTIVES TO BE ACCOMPLISHED IN 2025: 

1. Implement Vehicle and Equipment Replacement plan. 
2. Continue to work on officer development programs. 
3. Begin talks of a joint fire safety training center with surrounding departments. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

60 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

PROGRAM BUDGET: 
 
 

 
 
 

 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

61 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

MISCELLANEOUS PUBLIC SAFETY 

 
DEPARTMENT:  Miscellaneous Public Safety 
 
PROGRAM MANAGER:  Shared Between Various Department Heads (Police, Fire, DPW) 
 
PROGRAM DESCRIPTION: 
 
This budget section accounts for miscellaneous public safety accounts including Weights and 
Measures, Emergency Management/Emergency Operations Center, and Animal Control. 
 
SERVICES: 
 
 Provide an operational Emergency Operations Center (EOC) in the case of a community 

disaster or emergency. 
 Provide limited funding for animal control related activities. 
 The Wisconsin Department of Agriculture, Trade and Consumer Protection monitor the 

accuracy of gas station pumps, grocery store packages and scales, and checkout 
scanners.  The City contracts with the state to provide weights and measure inspections. 

 
OBJECTIVES ACCOMPLISHED IN 2024: 

1. Replaced animal cage in PD Garage. 
2. Updated batteries in 2 Tornado Sirens 

 
OBJECTIVES TO BE ACCOMPLISHED IN 2025: 

1. Maintain Public Warning (Tornado) Siren System 
2. Update City Emergency Operations Plan (EOP)-moved from 2023 objectives 
3. Investigate Traffic Safety Barriers (purchase or rental) for Special Events. 

 
PROGRAM BUDGET: 
 

 
 

  



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

62 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS & SANITATION (Waste & Recycling) 
 
 
DEPARTMENT:  Department of Public Works 
 
PROGRAM MANAGER:  Director of Public Works/City Engineer 
 
PROGRAM DESCRIPTION: 
 
The City of Plymouth Department of Public Works touches the lives of all residents and visitors to the 
City along with all commercial, institutional, industrial, and recreational entities when they or their 
employees travel on City streets, have their trash picked up, or enjoy the various parks and recreation 
activities provided by the department.  The employees of the Department of Public Works are 
dedicated to developing and maintaining parks, buildings, and municipal infrastructure to meet the 
needs of our community.  The department provides services and service levels as directed by policies, 
goals and objectives established by the Common Council of the City of Plymouth. 
 
SERVICES: 
 
 Provide snow and ice removal for all City streets. 
 Provide general maintenance to road surfaces (pot holes, large patches). 
 Repair catch basins and municipal storm sewers. 
 Provide general maintenance and upkeep of parks, athletic fields, and cemeteries. 
 Provide day to day oversight and management of the golf course operations, aquatic 

center operations, ski hill, and ice skating rink. 
 Provide general maintenance and upkeep of City Hall and DPW facility. 
 Provide weed and tree trimming in public spaces. 
 Maintain City signs, equipment, and paint crosswalks, parking areas, and curbs. 
 Provide assistance to special events as directed by the Mayor and Common Council. 
 Provide staff support to the Public Works & Utilities Committee, Park Committee, Plan 

Commission, and Common Council. 
 Other special projects as assigned by the City Administrator/Utilities Manager, Mayor 

and/or Common Council. 
 

 

STAFFING: 
 

Non-Seasonal Position  2021 
Actual 

2022 
Actual 

2023 
Actual 

2024 
Projected 

2025 
Budget 

Director of Public Works/City Eng.* 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 
DPW Street Superintendent 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 
Management Assistant .25 .25 .25 .15 .15 
DPW Laborer 7.00 8.00 9.00 9.00 9.00 
DPW Arborist 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 
City Hall Custodian 9.25 10.25 10.25 10.15 10.15 
Total Full-time/Regular Staff 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 

 
Seasonal Position 2021 

Actual 
2022 

Actual 
2023 

Actual 
2024 

Projected 
2025 

Budget 
Recycling Attendants (Saturdays) 3 3 3 5 5 
Parks & Cemetery Seasonal 4 3.5 6 6 5 
Total Seasonal Staff 7 6.5 9 11 10 

 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

63 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

ACTIVITY MEASURES  (DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS):   
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

64 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

OBJECTIVES ACCOMPLISHED IN 2024: 
1. Completed the 2024 Street Program: Forest Avenue  
2. Completed planned capital improvement projects.  
3. Started design work for new Mill Pond Dam.  
4. Updated website for request for repair of broken/damaged garbage and recycling bins.  
5. Diggers Hotline ticket system moved to GIS.   

 
OBJECTIVES TO BE ACCOMPLISHED IN 2025: 

1. Complete planned capital improvement projects. 
2. Start updating ordinances and policies relating to DPW.  

Begin Storm Sewer Mapping in GIS. 
 
PROGRAM BUDGET:  
 

 
 
 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

65 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 
 

 

BUDGET NOTES: 

General Fund allocation to Stormwater fund to support the entire year of costs until the 
Stormwater Utility starts billing for services.    



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

66 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

PLYMOUTH PUBLIC LIBRARY 

 
DEPARTMENT:  Plymouth Public Library 
 
PROGRAM MANAGER:  Library Director 
 
PROGRAM DESCRIPTION: 
 
The Plymouth Public Library supports community empowerment as a hub of learning, literacy, and 
innovation. 
 
SERVICES: 
 
 Provide access to physical materials (books, audiobooks, CDs, DVDs, magazines, 

newspapers etc.) through a Library System-Wide Catalog and Interlibrary Loan. 
 Provide access to digital services including ebooks, audiobooks, digital magazines, 

online databases, online courses, and more. 
 Provide local history resources including subject files, microfilm of Plymouth 

Newspapers from 1870 to present, yearbooks, and more. 
 Provide free programs and events for children, teens, and adults including a Summer 

Reading Program. 
 Provide expert help with research, technology, library services, and local services to 

meet community member’s personal, educational, and professional needs. 
 Provide access to a public meeting room for community member’s informational, civic, 

and professional needs. 
 Provide public computers with popular software and internet access along with free WIFI 

for personal devices. 
 Provide printing, copying, scanning, and faxing including wireless printing from personal 

devices. 

 
STAFFING: 

Position  2021 
Actual 

2022 
Actual 

2023 
Actual 

2024 
Projected 

2025 
Budget 

Library Director 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 
Reference Librarian 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 
Children’s Librarian 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 
Young Adult Librarian 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 
Library Aide (5) 2.76 2.76 2.88 2.88 3.34 
Library Maintenance* 0.30 0.30 0.50 0.55 0.55 
Library Custodian 0.50 0.50 0.00 0.00 0.00 
Library Page (1) 0.28 0.28 0.30 0.30 0.30 
Total  7.84 7.84 7.68 7.73 8.19 

* In 2021, the Maintenance and Custodian positions were combined into a half-time position, with some of the 
previous duties completed by contract.  
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

67 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

ACTIVITY MEASURES: 
Activity  2021 Actual 2022 

Actual 
2023 

Actual 
2024 

Projected 
2025 

Budget 
Open Hours 2,350 2,704 2,704 2,704 2,704 
New Library Cards 271 435 549 550 500 
Physical Circulation 73,739 89,412 98,787 99,000 99,000 
Digital Circulation 21,894 22,887 24,927 24,000 26,000 
User Visits 26,921 45,559 54,980 56,000 56,000 
Program Attendance 1,584 2,490 4,285 6,000 6,000 
Computer Usage 1,578 2,868 3,202 3,400 3,400 
Wireless Usage 6,708 8,535 15,052** 15,000 15,000 
Collection Additions 6,253 5,018 4,354 5,000 4,500 

* Due to COVID-19 activity measures in 2021 were affected in a number of areas. Program attendance in 
2021 include in-person and virtual attendance, with virtual attendance including any views of recorded 
programs for over one minute. **Due to inconsistence data for two months a lower number that 
anticipated was reported, but this number could be as high at 18,000.  
 
OBJECTIVES ACCOMPLISHED IN 2024: 
 

1. Continued work on the four goal areas in the library’s 5-year strategic plan (Innovating 
with our Community, Activating Community Assets, Getting the Word Out, and Finding 
Organizational Balance) Highlights include but are not limited to: 

a. Completed a space needs study to assess space needs for the next 20 years. 
b. Re-evaluated and changed programming to meet the needs of all age groups. 
c. Restarted school visits to promote Summer Reading. 
d. Created more technology tutorial videos. 

2. Continued to build partnerships with community organizations to collaborate on events 
and bring awareness to services within the Plymouth community. 

a. Started the Sheboygan County Memory Café Project with ADRC and select 
Sheboygan County Libraries. 

3. Attended more community-wide events to promote library services. 
a. Attended Fallooza, Walk to End Alzheimer’s, and will be involved in Generation’s 

Jingle Mingle. 
4. Coordinated discussion with the Library Board of Trustees to set future department 

goals. 
 
 

OBJECTIVES TO BE ACCOMPLISHED IN 2025: 
 

1. Evaluate feasibility of renovating and expanding the current library building. 
2. Continue to evaluate program offerings to make sure the library is meeting the needs of 

the community. 
3. Continue work on action items in the library’s strategic plan in discussion with the Library 

Board of Trustees. 
4. Partner with local organizations to broaden the awareness of library services within the 

Plymouth community. 
5. Coordinate discussion with the Library Board of Trustees to set future department goals. 

 
 
 
 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

68 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 
 
 
 
PROGRAM BUDGET: 
 

 
 
BUDGET NOTES: 

1) The Sheboygan County Library System Reimbursement revenue line-item is estimated 
at $258,871.  The net City funding for the library is estimated at $346,262 

  



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

69 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

RECREATIONAL & LEISURE SERVICES 
 
DEPARTMENT:  Recreational & Leisure Services 
 
PROGRAM MANAGER:  Director of Public Works/City Engineer 
 
PROGRAM DESCRIPTION: 
 
This section entitled Recreational and Leisure Services includes the Plymouth Aquatic Center, 
contribution to Generations/PIC, downtown Skating Rink, Ski Hill, Youth Center, golf course, 
contribution to the Plymouth Youth Athletic Association, and contribution to Plymouth Municipal Band.   
 
SERVICES: 
 
 Operate the Plymouth Aquatic Center from May through August. 
 Provide a 9-hole municipal golf course. 
 Provide for an ice skating rink on the Mill Pond and Nutt Hill ski hill in winter. 
 Provides funding to Community Education & Recreation for running a youth program at 

the Youth Center near Riverview School during the school year. 
 Provides limited support to Plymouth Municipal Band. 
 Provides funding to Generations/Plymouth Intergenerational Coalition to help support a 

senior center/Plymouth Adult Community Center. 
 

STAFFING: 
 

Seasonal Position 2021 
Actual 

2022 
Actual 

2023 
Actual 

2024 
Projected 

2025 
Budget 

Aquatic Center Manager 1 1 1 1 1 
Aquatic Center Concession 
Manager 1 1 1 1 1 

Aquatic Center Lifeguards 34 29 44 45 45 

Aquatic Center Attendants 16 23 20 20 20 
Golf Course Manager 1 1 1 1 1 
Golf Course Attendant 8 8 8 8 8 
Golf Course Grounds Crew 3 3 4 4 3 
Ski Hill Manager 1 1 1 1 1 
Ski Hill Attendants 1 1 1 1 2 
Skating Rink Manager 66 69 81 82 82 
Skating Rink Attendants 1 1 1 1 1 
Total 1 1 1 1 1 
 
 
ACTIVITY MEASURES (RECREATION & LEISURE SERVICES): 
  
 See Department of Public Works budget for labor allocation.   

 
OBJECTIVES ACCOMPLISHED IN 2024: 

• Finished replacing tee-off pads at the frisbee golf course in Meyer Park.  
• Planted 84 new trees. 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

70 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

• Celebrated Arbor Day with planting 9 trees with 100+ 2nd Graders and the Mayor.  
• Fully staffed Aquatic Center.  
• New LED lights installed at the tennis courts.  

 
OBJECTIVES TO BE ACCOMPLISHED IN 2025: 

• Complete capital improvement projects.  
• Continue making improvements to the frisbee golf course. 
• Updating ordinances and policies relating to Parks.  
• Continue to improve the new City website. 

 
PROGRAM BUDGET: 
 
 

  



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

71 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

GENERAL FUND EXPENSE SUMMARY BY DEPARTMENT 
 
 

 

 

 

 

  



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

72 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

DEBT 
SERVICE FUND 

  



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

73 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

CITY OF PLYMOUTH 
DEBT SERVICE FUND 

 
The debt service fund of the City is used to account for the payment of debt service on all general 
obligation (G.O.) debt, with the exception of debt issued for enterprise fund purposes or tax 
incremental finance districts. The property tax levy is the primary source of funds to make payments 
on general obligation debt issued for general government purposes. 
 
Historically, the City has issued debt on a periodic basis to fund applicable projects and purchases of 
long-lived infrastructure and facilities.  Depending on the type of project funded, desired repayment 
period, and market conditions, the City issues G.O. bonds, notes, or a combination thereof.  Future 
debt issues to pay for public improvement projects will add to the City’s debt load; however, the City 
works with its financial advisor to structure the repayment terms for any additional debt to mesh new 
debt with amortization of debt currently outstanding as much possible. The general fund debt is 
currently scheduled to be paid off at the end of 2027 unless future debt is issued. The City and Utility 
are in the process of gathering information for potential future debt issuance starting in 2025. 
Principal and interest payments for any future debt issuance will not occur until 2026. The potential 
future debt issuance could include items listed on the chart below. The items are at the preliminary 
stage and still require all necessary approvals: 

 
The following is a summary of the debt service fund for 2025 and general obligation debt service 
requirements (general fund portion only): 
 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

74 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
  

$382,600 

$226,700 $227,250 

2025 2026 2027

Total Annual Debt Service
General Fund 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

75 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

ADDITIONAL MUNICIPAL DEBT INFORMATION 
 

DEBT LIMIT 

The constitutional and statutory general obligation debt limit for Wisconsin municipalities, including 
towns, cities, villages, and counties (Article XI, Section 3 of the Wisconsin Constitution and Section 
67.03, Wisconsin Statutes) is 5% of the current equalized value.  Outstanding general obligation debt 
as of August 20, 2024 is as follows: 

Equalized Value  $1,161,710,500 

Multiply by 5%   0.05 

Statutory Debt Limit $58,085,525 

Less: G.O. Debt   (4,710,000) 

Unused Debt Limit  $53,375,525 

% of Debt Capacity Used: 8.1% 

In addition, the City of Plymouth has a self-imposed policy limiting debt.  The policy statement states 
that “Except for unique circumstances, General Obligation debt shall not exceed 60% of the City’s 
legal debt limit (3% of equalized property value).  Under no circumstances, except for the case of 
extreme emergency, shall the city exceed more than 80% of the City’s debt limit (4% of equalized 
value).”  The City is currently below the 60% self-imposed threshold goal.   

 

58,085,525 

4,710,000 

34,851,315.0 

46,468,420.0 

Statutory Debt Limit Outstanding Debt Debt Pol icy Goal Debt Pol icy Limit

General Obligation Debt



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

76 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

DIRECT DEBT 

The City of Plymouth borrows money on a general obligation basis and a revenue basis.  As of 
August 20, 2024, the total outstanding debt was $4,710,000.  The overall debt encompasses 
borrowed funds for the general fund, enterprise funds (electric, water, sewer), Tax Incremental 
Finance District #5, and Tax Incremental Finance District #6. 

 
ANNUAL DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS – PRINCIPAL & INTEREST 
  

  
 
 

 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

77 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 
 

  



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

78 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 

  

 

2025 CAPITAL 
IMPROVEMENT                 
FUND BUDGET 

  



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

79 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 
CITY OF PLYMOUTH 

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT FUND BUDGET &  
TEN-YEAR CIP 

 
Communities today are faced with the difficult task of allocating limited resources among a seemingly 
unlimited number of demands and needs for public services.  In many instances, local officials must 
determine the merits of one project over another without the benefit of comparison, which may result 
in misjudgment and further limit the community's ability to act precisely on major budget allocation 
decisions.  One method available to local units of government to help manage and systematize the 
budget allocation process is a Capital Improvement Program. 
 
Capital Improvement Programming (CIP) is simply an ongoing, systematic approach to identify, 
schedule, and efficiently allocate public dollars to needed capital projects.  Typically, a CIP schedules 
needed municipal projects over a period of five to ten years.  Projects, including cost estimates and 
funding sources, are assigned a date for completion based on community needs and revenues.  Each 
year the program is updated and extended one year to stay responsible to the community's changing 
needs.  CIP will eliminate “crises” or reactive financial management. 
 
A carefully developed CIP allows a community to anticipate its facility needs and to schedule 
improvements according to project needs and its local financial capabilities.  The CIP process offers 
several additional benefits to a community. 
 
 Aid in the task of effectively allocating limited resources among a seemingly unlimited number 

of demands and needs for public service; 
 Improve communications and cooperation among various interests; 
 Provide continuity in financial decisions by linking long-term planning to the programming and 

budgeting of major projects; 
 Stabilize local tax rates by more effectively relating expenditures to financial capacity in a given 

time frame; and 
 Improve local ability to use state and federal grant-in-aid programs when possible. 

 
The City of Plymouth adopts an annual capital improvement budget, based on a ten-year capital 
improvement program (CIP).  The annual budget and CIP are prepared by department heads and 
reviewed by the City Administrator/Utilities Manager as part of the review of department and program 
operating budgets.  The annual capital improvement budget is then presented to the Finance & 
Personnel Committee or the Public Works & Utilities Committee for discussion and review, and 
subsequently adopted by the Common Council via budget resolution.  As part of the budget review 
process, the impact of capital projects on future operating budgets is considered.  Such analysis is 
necessary as new capital facilities can affect ongoing operating costs, either increasing such costs 
(e.g., electricity for new buildings), or lowering costs through more efficient use of equipment or reduced 
maintenance (e.g., road maintenance costs may be reduced if repaving is done proactively).  Deferred 
or delayed maintenance of capital facilities can actually increase costs over the long term, as the costs 
of minor maintenance plus ultimate replacement of a facility can be higher than major maintenance 
costs done proactively.   
 
Capital improvement expenditures must be made in accordance with the budgeted amounts.  As a 
general guideline, capital improvement expenditures in the City of Plymouth are defined as those 
amounts expended for equipment or other assets with a multi-year useful life where the total cost is 
estimated to be more than $5,000.  Expenditures not meeting these criteria, or which have a useful life 
of less than the payback period of any borrowed funds used for the item’s purchase, are generally 
included in the operating budgets of departments. 
 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

80 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

The City seeks to finance capital improvement expenditures through all feasible means, such as 
special assessments; deposits or fees collected from developers as called for in the City code; issuance 
of debt (for long-term projects or long-lived assets), and grants or other intergovernmental assistance.  
Budgets for general government projects, that is, those funded primarily by debt supported by property 
tax levy, are also included in the following schedules.   
 
The 2025-2034+ CIP includes those projects that are considered for funding based on completed 
infrastructure and land use plans, as well as certain items that represent tentative needs related to 
development.  The CIP does not include capital costs related to all Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) 
Districts or other planning document, which have been identified in the overall project budget per the 
TIF project plan or other plan.  The CIP does not necessarily include costs related to future 
infrastructure necessary to support redevelopment efforts for which TIF financing could not be used.  
In such cases it may be necessary for the Council to amend the CIP and substitute or re-prioritize 
projects in accordance with the process described above.   
 

2024 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN – APPROVED PROJECTS 
 

 
 
 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

81 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

SOURCES & USES 
 

2025 CITY CAPITAL BUDGET SUMMARY (See CIP for detailed information): 
 

Category 2025 ADOPTED 

DPW - Vehicles, Machinery, Facilities $            445,000.00 

DPW - Parks, Recreation, Cemetery  $         1,832,900.00 

DPW - Streets, Parking Lots, Sidewalks, Traffic Signals $            720,500.00 

Admin & IT $              70,350.00 

Library          $                          - 

Fire Department $              27,700.00 

Police Department $            207,052.00 

CIP TOTAL $         3,303,502.00 

 
 

BUDGET NOTES: 

1) See Appendix A: General 
Government 10-Year Capital 
Improvement Plan for more detail.  

2) City contribution of $327,000 to 
county Riverwalk Trail project may 
decrease based on bid amount as 
the county received additional 
federal funding. However, full 
amount is budgeted per 
conservative budget practices.  

3) Debt Financing Total   
$2,000,000.00  

4) General Fund Total   
$1,303,502.00 
 
Note: Red area indicates target 
fund balance range 
 
 

 

 $700,000

 $800,000

 $900,000

 $1,000,000

 $1,100,000

 $1,200,000

 $1,300,000

 $1,400,000

 $1,500,000

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

Capital Fund Balanace



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

82 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

83 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

INTRODUCTION TO PLYMOUTH UTILITIES: 

Plymouth Utilities is a municipal-owned electric, water, and 
wastewater utility.  The electric utility services the City of 
Plymouth and parts of 10 surrounding towns. Water, and 
wastewater service is provided primarily to customers 
within the City of Plymouth. Municipal Utilities, like 
Plymouth Utilities, are considered to be part of the local 
government and are presented as an enterprise fund(s) of 
the municipality.  Enterprise funds are used to account for 
operations that are financed and operated in a manner 
similar to private business or where the governing body 
has decided that the determination of revenues earned, 
costs incurred, and net income is necessary for 
management accountability.  Municipal utilities own and 
operate the capital intensive infrastructure necessary to 
deliver the service to their customers. The City 
Administrator/Utilities Manager serves as the Chief 
Administrative Officer (CAO) of Plymouth Utilities with the 
support of management personnel including the Director of 
Public Works/City Engineer, Electrical Operations 
Manager, and Finance Director.  Plymouth Utilities is a 
member-owner of WPPI Energy who is the wholesale 
power provider for Plymouth Utilities along with ancillary 
utility services.   
 
BUSINESS LINES 
 
ELECTRIC UTILITY:  Municipal power utilities (MPUs) are created for the purpose of providing 
electricity and energy services to area residents in an attempt to provide services at a cost less than 
or equal to that of a privately-owned power utility (investor owned utilities - IOUs).  The Plymouth 
Electric Utility purchases power from an outside generating source or service provider (WPPI Energy) 
and distributes the power over the local distribution system.  The Electric Utility serves the City of 
Plymouth and parts of 10 surrounding townships. 
 
WATER UTILITY:  The City of Plymouth Water Utility supplies, stores, treats and distributes potable 
drinking water to City residents.  The utility’s system of accounts records all costs related to the 
operation and maintenance of the water utility’s wells, storage tanks, and the water distribution 
system.  The Water Utility primarily serves the residents of the City of Plymouth. 
 
SEWER UTILITY:  The City of Plymouth Wastewater Utility provides the staff and materials to 
operate and maintain the sanitary sewer collection system and the wastewater treatment plant.  The 
Sewer Utility primarily serves the residents of the City of Plymouth. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Vintage photo is of Plymouth Utilities employees Ray Kapellen (upper 
left on truck), Frank Wacker (left standing), Shorty Schalenberg (left 
kneeling), and Charles Halle (right standing). 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

84 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

PLYMOUTH UTILITIES 
(ELECTRIC, WATER, SEWER) 

 

DEPARTMENT:  Plymouth Utilities 
 

PROGRAM MANAGER:  City Administrator/Utilities Manager 
 

PROGRAM DESCRIPTION: 
 

The mission of the City of Plymouth is to “provide safe, reliable, and responsible utility services and 
traditional local government services now and into the future.”  For Plymouth Utilities, that means our 
goal is to provide safe, reliable, affordable, and responsible electric, water, and sewage services 
(business lines) that contribute to the overall well-being of our customers and community for the long-
run.   
 
SERVICES: 
 
 Maintain and operate 7 ground water well stations and 3 water reservoirs for a reliable 

water supply to our customers. 
 Responsible for maintaining transmission and distribution water main in the City of 

Plymouth. 
 Monitor and test on a regular basis for compliance with EPA and DNR requirements for 

the water and sewer utilities. 
 Coordinate hydrant flushing, exercise and repair water main valves, and maintain 

records on the water system. 
 Repair water main breaks as required. 
 Clean approximately 20% of the sanitary sewer system on an annual basis. 
 Maintain sanitary sewer lift stations. 
 Operate and maintain the wastewater treatment plant (WWTP). 
 Perform laboratory analyses on wastewater samples for process control, permit 

compliance, and industrial monitoring. 
 Maintain electric distribution system and four (4) substations within our electric service 

territory which includes urban (City) and rural areas (outside of City corporate 
boundaries). 

 Maintain proper metering for the electric utility and water utility. 
 Ensure compliance with Public Service Commission of Wisconsin (PSC) rules, 

regulations, and tariffs. 
 Implement capital improvement plan (CIP) projects as approved by the Mayor and 

Common Council.      
 Provide for administrative services such as accounts receivable, accounts payable, 

billing and customer care, financial and budget planning, project management and 
engineering review, state and federal reporting, general management, and 
miscellaneous administrative matters. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

85 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

STAFFING: 
Position (Administration) 2021 

Actual 
2022 

Actual 
2023 

Actual 
2024 

Projected 
2025 

Budget 
City Administrator/Utilities Mgr. .50 .50 .50 .50 .50 
Asst. Administrator/Cmty. Develop 0 0 0 0 .35 
Human Resources Specialist* .50 .50 .50 .50 .50 
DPW/City Engineer .50 .50 .50 .50 .50 
Finance Director 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 .95 
IT Administrator/Manager 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 .50 
GIS & Asset Mgmt. Specialist 0.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 
Management Assistant 0.75 0.75 0.83 0.85 .90 
Staff Accountant 1.00 1.00 0.50 1.00 1.00 
Utilities Account Specialist 1.00 2.00 2.25 2.00 2.00 
Laborer – Meter Reader 0.50 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 
Custodian/Bldg. Maint. 0.35 0.35 0.33 0.33 0.33 
Total 6.10 6.60 7.91 8.18 8.53 

 
 

Position (Electric) 2021 
Actual 

2022 
Actual 

2023 
Actual 

2024 
Projected 

2025 
Budget 

Electrical Operations Mgr. 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 
Assistant Electrical Ops. Mgr. 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 
Line Crew Foreman 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 
Journeyman Lineman 4.00 4.00 6.00 6.00 6.00 
Apprentice Lineman 3.00 3.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 
Tree Trimmer Foreman 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 
Tree Trimmer / Serviceman 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 
Electric Meter Technician 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 
Total 13.00 13.00 13.00 13.00 13.00 

 

Position (Wastewater) 2021 
Actual 

2022 
Actual 

2023 
Actual 

2024 
Projected 

2025 
Budget 

Wastewater Superintendent 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 
Wastewater Operator 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 
Total 4.00 4.00 4.00 4.00 4.00 

 
Position (Water) 2021 

Actual 
2022 

Actual 
2023 

Actual 
2024 

Projected 
2025 

Budget 
Water Foreman 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 
Water Operator 2.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 
Skill Level Worker - Temporary 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 
Total 3.00 4.00 4.00 4.00 4.00 

 
Total FTE (Utility Wide) 2021 

Actual 
2022 

Actual 
2023 

Actual 
2024 

Projected 
2025 

Budget 
Administration 6.10 6.60 7.91 8.18 8.53 
Electric Utility 13.00 13.00 13.00 13.00 13.00 
Wastewater Utility 4.00 4.00 4.00 4.00 4.00 
Water Utility 3.00 4.00 4.00 4.00 4.00 
Total 26.10 27.60 28.91 29.18 29.53 

 
 
 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

86 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS: 
 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

87 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 
 
WATER UTILITY ACTIVITY MEASURES: 

Activity  2021 
Actual 

2022 
Actual 

2023 
Actual 

2024 
Projected 

2025 
Budget 

Number of water main break repairs 5 6 4 5 5 

Number of service break repairs 10 8 4 10 10 

Wells Maintained 7 7 7 7 7 

Reservoirs Maintained 3 3 3 3 3 

Gallons Pumped (000s gal) 439,231 468,911 445,126 440,000 440,000 

Gallons Sold (000s gal) 360,025 346,764 356,232 350,000 350,000 

Non-Revenue Water (000s gal) 79,206 122,147 88,894 90,000 90,000 

Water Loss 74,437 118,471 86,359 88,000 88,000 

Water Loss % 17% 25% 19% 20% 20% 

Non-Revenue Water % 18% 26% 20% 20% 20% 

KWH used by water utility 712,003 763,010 716,381 765,000 765,000 

Max. Gallons pumped 1 day (000s) 1,868 1,972 1,944 1,950 1,950 

Number of Hydrants 657 658 658 658 658 

Number of Hydrants Operated 512 412 327 658 658 

% of Hydrants Operated 77.9% 62.6% 49.7% 100% 100% 

Number of Distribution System 
Valves 1,133 1,141 1,143 1,143 1,143 

Number of Distribution Valves 
Operated 453 511 463 1,143 1,143 

% of Distribution Valves Operated 40.0% 44.8% 40.5% 100% 100% 

Number of customers 3,745 3,731 3,863 3,865 3,865 

Lead Water Services Laterals (City) 570 539 539 510 480 

 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

88 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 
 
SEWER UTILITY ACTIVITY MEASURES: 
  

Activity  2021 
Actual 

2022 
Actual 

2023 
Actual 

2024 
Projected 

2025 
Budget 

Number of lift stations 4 4 4 4 4 
WWTP Septic Tank Volumes 2,349,285 2,758,679 2,916,386 2,900,000 2,900,000 
WWTP Holding Tank Volumes 6,874,872 8,437,050 8,577,004 8,600,000 8,600,000 
Lift Station kWh Consumed 117,723 126,528 129,453 130,000 130,000 
WWTP kWh Consumed 1,066,960 1,742,960 1,663,680 1,800,000 1,800,000 
% of Sewer Collection System 
Cleaned 20% 24.5% 24.6% 20% 20% 

% of Sewer Collection System 
Televised 5% 6% 7% 5% 5% 

% of Manhole Inspection  20% 20% 20% 20% 20% 
% of Manholes Rehabbed 1% 1% 1% 2% 2% 
% of Mainline Rehabilitation 1% 1% 1% 1% 1% 
Miles of Sanitary Sewer 53.8 53.8 53.8 53.8 53.8 
Number of Basement Backups 4 1 1 3 3 

 
ELECTRIC UTILITY ACTIVITY MEASURES: 
 

Activity  2021 
Actual 

2022 
Actual 

2023 
Actual 

2024 
Projected 

2025 
Budget 

Energy Sales (kWh in Thousands) 266,317 264,823 260,599 260,000 260,000 
Number of customers 8,662 8,703 8,720 8,720 8,720 
Number of meters (installed non-
stock) 8,662 8,703 8,720 8,720 8,720 

Substations 4 4 4 4 5* 
Substation Transformers 5 5 5 5 7* 

 
  

*Substation 5 is currently under construction  



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

89 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 
 
OBJECTIVES ACCOMPLISHED IN 2024: 
 

1. Continued improvement of electric mapping ESRI Arc-GIS based software. 
2. Implement new online application for PSC 119. 
3. Implement new internal programs for outage tracking, locating, and fleet management. 
4. File Electric comprehensive rate case with the PSC. 
5. Start construction of Substation 5 and direct lines. 
6. Removal and clean-up of collapsed Digester Roof at the Waste Water Treatment Plant. 
7. Complete Forest Avenue water and sewer infrastructure project.  
8. File regulatory application for construction of new Utility storage building.  
 
 

OBJECTIVES TO BE ACCOMPLISHED IN 2025: 
1. Install new Digester Roof at the Waste Water Treatment Plant 
2. Implement new Census RNI utility metering software. 
3. Implement new rates and tariffs from Electric Comprehensive rate case. 
4. Complete the Collins Street water and sewer infrastructure project. 
5. Rehab Waste Water Treatment Plant’s primary clarifier. 
6. Gain regulatory approvals and start construction of new Utility storage building. 

 
BUDGET NOTES: 
 

1) Budget includes a 3% wage adjustment  
2) Supply chain issues and material & labor shortages continue to burden many vendors and 

their products.   
3) Proposed electric rate increase to help combat increased costs due to inflation and Pandemic 

related issues. 
a. A comprehensive electric rate case was filed with the PSC in July 2024, and if 

accepted, would be implemented in early to mid-2025.  
4) Total projected operating revenue of Electric is $25,692,590; Water $2,444,369; 

Wastewater $2,952,216. 
5) Purchased Power accounts for 79% of Electric Utility operating expenditures.   

a. Purchase power projected 2024 decrease to be $863K (4%) 
b. 2025 budgeted to increase $294K (1.5%) 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

90 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

STORMWATER UTILITY 
 

DEPARTMENT:  Stormwater Utility 
 

PROGRAM MANAGER:  City Administrator/Utilities Manager 
 

 
STORMWATER UTILITY: The stormwater utility is a separate enterprise fund that was created in 2019 
due to increasing water quality regulation from the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and 
Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources (WDNR). The City is anticipating changes to stormwater 
regulations as a result of the Northeast Lakeshore TMDL (Total maximum daily load) and becoming a 
future MS4 permitted community.  Under the Stormwater Utility, the City may work on reducing 
phosphorous, which may help permit compliance for the sewer utility (WPDES permit).   
 
Stormwater service is provided primarily to customers within the City of Plymouth and is supported by 
DPW, utility billing and administrative staff.    
 
SERVICES:      
 Ensure compliance with water quality regulation for stormwater.  
 Provide leaf collection, storm sewer maintenance, and street cleaning services. 
 Invest in capital assets that maintain and improve stormwater management. 

 
 
OBJECTIVES TO BE ACCOMPLISHED IN 2025: 

• Determine implementation of stormwater utility billing. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

91 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

92 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ELECTRIC 

UTILITY 

  



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

93 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Residential , 31%

Small C&I , 11%

Large C&I, 56%

Other Public Auth/Interdepartmental, 2% Other, 0%

2025 ELECTRIC UTILITY OPERATING REVENUE



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

94 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

95 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Depreciation & Taxes
12%

Purchased Power
79%

Operations
2%

Maintenance
2%

Metering
1%

A&G
4%

2025 ELECTRIC UTILITY OPERATING EXPENSES



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

96 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

  

 

WATER 

UTILITY 

  



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

97 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Residential
38%

Small C&I
6%

Large C&I
24%

Multifamily
4%

Fire Protection
26%

Other
2%

2025 WATER UTILITY OPERATING REVENUE



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

98 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

99 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Depreciation & Tax
43%

Supply-Wells
3% Pumping

5%

Water Treatment
8%

Trans & Distribution
19%

Customer Account
4%

Admin & General
18%

2025 Water Utility Operating Expenses



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

100 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

           

 

 

 

 

WASTEWATER 

UTILITY 

  



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

101 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Residential
35%

Small C&I
10%

Large C&I
45%

Other
10%

2025 SEWER UTILITY OPERATING EXPENSES



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

102 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 

 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

103 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

104 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

  

 

STORMWATER 
UTILITY 

  



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

105 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Note: The 2025 budget only includes a contribution from the general fund for the stormwater utility budget 
revenue. 

 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

106 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

SELF HEALTH 

INSURANCE FUND 

  



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

107 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CITY OF PLYMOUTH 

HEALTH INSURANCE INTERNAL SERVICE FUND 
 

The purpose of an Internal Service Fund is “to account for the financing of goods or services provided 
by one department or agency to other departments or agencies of the governmental unit, or to other 
governmental units, on a cost-reimbursement basis.”  The City of Plymouth previously made a policy 
decision to self-fund the health insurance program offered to City employees.  In 2011, the City joined 
the Center for Health & Wellness.  The consortium provides nurse practitioner, physical therapist, 
chiropractic care, primary medical doctor care, and limited wellness services to its members at a 
reduced cost.  The public-private partnership contracts with Prevea Health to staff the Center. Costs 
of the self-health insurance program and the Center for Health & Wellness are billed to the funds 
benefiting from the service. 

Health Insurance Fund revenues come from four main sources: 

 City & Utility budget contribution for active employees. 
 Active employee’s contributions. 
 Retired employee’s contribution, when applicable. 
 Rebates from the Pharmacy Benefit Manager (drug manufacture rebates). 

 
OBJECTIVES ACCOMPLISHED IN 2024: 

1. COBRA rates decreased for 2024. 
 

 
OBJECTIVES TO BE ACCOMPLISHED IN 2025: 

1.   Review broker options and possible RFP. 
2.   Continue to review benefit offerings. 

 
 
 
 

 
 
  



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

108 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

109 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

110 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

RISK MANAGEMENT 
FUND 

  



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

111 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 
CITY OF PLYMOUTH 

RISK MANAGEMENT FUND 
 

Risk management activities of a governmental entity can be accounted for in either the General Fund 
or an Internal Service Fund, if one fund is used.  Beginning in 2012, the City changed its process for 
budgeting such costs to use the Risk Management Internal Service Fund.  All costs (premiums, 
claims, and related) will be reflected in a single fund/budget.  This allows for better monitoring of the 
City’s risk management costs. 

Costs account for in this budget include premiums and claims costs for: 

 General Liability Insurance (CVMIC) 
 Property/Casualty Insurance (MPIC) 
 Auto Physical Damage Coverage (CVMIC) 
 Boiler & Machinery Coverage (CVMIC) 
 Excess Liability (CVMIC) 
 Worker’s Compensation Insurance (CVMIC) 
 Pollution Insurance (CVMIC) 

 
The general liability insurance is provided through the Cities and Villages Mutual Insurance Company 
(CVMIC), a municipal insurance pool, in which the City retains exposure to losses for liability claims 
up to $25,000 per occurrence, with a $100,000 yearly claims payment maximum.  The City also 
obtains Auto Physical Damage, Boiler and Machinery Coverage, Excess Liability, and Worker’s 
Compensation Insurance through CVMIC.  Property insurance is obtained via the Municipal Property 
Insurance Corporation (MPIC).  Litigation expenses related to defending the City against claims is 
also included in this budget. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

112 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 
 

 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

113 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY. 

  



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

114 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS 

  



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

115 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

CITY OF PLYMOUTH 
SPECIAL REVENUE FUND BUDGET 

 
Special Revenue Funds are used to account for the proceeds of specific revenue sources (other than 
major capital projects), that have been designated or are legally restricted to expenditures for specific 
purposes.  The City of Plymouth reports the following special revenue funds in the annual budget: 
 
Business Revolving Loan Fund 
 
This fund accounts for the expenditures and revenues of the low-interest business revolving loan 
fund.  The fund was established through a Community Development Block Grant and interest income 
on loans, which are shown as revenue and used to make future loans.  The Business Revolving 
Loan Committee and Common Council approve loans to businesses from this fund.  The business 
revolving loan fund (RLF) was capitalized with two Community Development Block Grants (CDBG) in 
the 1980s.  In 2018, the Wisconsin Department of Administration (DOA) submitted a substantial 
amendment that converted the CDBG-RLF program into a CDBG-CLOSE program.  The CDBG-
CLOSE program ends all CDBG-RLF programs in the State of Wisconsin.  Since the City of 
Plymouth RLF program was funded with pre-1992 CDBG funds, the State of Wisconsin authorized 
the defederalization of the program in spring 2019. The Revolving Loan Fund Committee has created 
new policies for these funds that were rolled out in 2023.    
 
As of October 2024, the RLF Program has 5 active loans with a total outstanding value of 
$1,645,000. The available funds for loans total $800,000.   
 
 

 

 

 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

116 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 

 

USDA Revolving Loan Fund –  

This fund accounts for the expenditures and revenues of low-interest USDA Rural Development 
loans.  The first priority of this fund is to properties located in the downtown business district; leading 
to the redevelopment, revitalization, or rehabilitation of key properties.  The second priority is given to 
proposed projects in the industrial park, expanding industry, obtaining new industry, or proposals to 
use vacant or blighted property in key target areas.  In 2015, the Plymouth Common Council adopted 
a resolution and program guidelines to establish a low-interest loan program .   
 
As of October 2024, the USDA RLF Program has 1 active loans with a total outstanding value of 
$50,000. The available funds for loans total $332,000.   
 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

117 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 

 

 

Housing Loan Fund- Community Development Block Grant 

This program was funded with CDBG Housing Rehabilitation Loan Program and provides two 
different types of loans for home repairs.  The first type is a deferred payment loan at 0% interest to 
homeowners for home repairs.  This type of loan is not paid back until the homeowner sells the home 
or no longer lives there.  The second type is an installment loan for home repairs for landlords who 
rent to low-to-moderate income tenants.  This program is managed by MSA Housing.   
 
Currently, the program has 28 active loans totaling $448,000. Approximately $186,000 is available for 
future loans.      
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

118 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 

 

 

Revolving Loan Fund – Water & Sewer Lateral Program 

This fund accounts for the expenditures and revenues of the low-interest water and sewer lateral 
revolving loan fund.  In August 2019, Plymouth Common Council adopted a resolution and program 
guidelines to help residential property owners replace lead water laterals, failed or leaking water 
laterals, and/or failed or deficient sewer laterals.  The program was funded with approximately 
$500,000 from the defederalized CDBG Business Revolving Loan Fund program.   
 
Currently, the program has 37 loans totaling $248,000.  Approximately $244,000 is available for 
future loans.      
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

119 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 
 
 
 
 
Committed Funds 
 
The Committed Fund accounts for the expenditures and revenues for funds received for a specific 
purpose or involve certain restrictions.  Currently there are budgeted expenses in 11 committed funds 
which are listed below.   
 
Room Tax Commission is one of the larger funds.  The City Treasurer collects an 8% Room Tax and 
retains 30% of the tax in the General Fund.  The other 70% of the tax is transferred into the 
Committed Fund for the Room Tax Commission.  Disbursements are made to the Chamber and the 
RDA based on the current contract.  The Room Tax Commission has oversight on the Room Tax 
committed fund balance.  

 
 
 
 
 
   
 
 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

120 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 
 
 
 
 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

121 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

American Rescue Plan 
 
The American Rescue Plan Fund accounts for the expenditures and revenues related to the ARPA 
program.  The City of Plymouth received the first 50% of the funds in June of 2021 and the second 
installment in June of 2022.  Funds will need to be contracted before the end of 2024 and spent no 
later than 2026. All funds are projected to be spent by the end of 2024. 
 
Projects funded with ARPA funds include: 
SCBA tanks for the Fire Department  $149,847 
Library Covid air purification & laptops  $    7,847 
Fiber Optic for Wells and Lift Station  $147,684  
Railroad Crossing Warning Signals  $594,410 
Comp and Class Study      $  14,073 
Total spend        $913,861 
 
ARPA funds received:      $913,861 
Less total spent       -913,861 
Available funds to spend:      $          0      
 
 

 
 
 
 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

122 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 
 
Garbage & Recycling Fund 
 
This fund accounts for the expenditures and revenues for the garbage and recycling program.  The 
fund was established for the budget year 2013.  Part of the garbage and recycling services for 
residential services is paid for with revenue from the general fund (tax levy).  The other portion is 
funded by special charges on the tax bill.  In August 2016, the Common Council voted to phase the 
program costs away from the tax levy to a special charge over the next 10-years. 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

123 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

Tax Incremental Finance Funds 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

TIF 4 was created in 2001 and has filed to close in 2025, which includes a one-year extension for 
affordable housing purposes.  



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

124 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

TIF 5 was created in 2008 and is planned to close in 2028.  



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

125 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

TIF 6 was created in 2010 with an expenditure deadline in December of 2025. 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

126 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

 
CITY OF PLYMOUTH 

GLOSSARY OF BUDGET RELATED TERMS 
 

ACCRUAL ACCOUNTING:  Recognition of revenues when earned and expenses when 
incurred. Such transactions are recorded at the end of an accounting period even though cash 
has not been received or paid.  

ADOPTED BUDGET:  Refers to the budget amounts as originally approved by the Common 
Council at the beginning of the year along with any amendments that have been approved 
throughout the year that have continuing effect (for example, transfers from contingency to 
salary accounts for employee salary adjustments). 

AMI:  Advanced Metering Infrastructure (AMI) is architecture for automated, two-way 
communication between a smart utility meter and an IP address (Plymouth Utilities).  The goal is 
to provide Plymouth Utilities real-time data about power and water consumption.   

AMORTIZATION:  The accounting treatment whereby costs of long-lived, intangible assets are 
charged as expenses over the useful lives of such assets.  

APPRAISED VALUE:  To make an estimate of value for the purpose of taxation. 

APPROPRIATION:  An authorization made by the governing body which permits officials to 
incur obligations against and to make expenditures of governmental resources for specific 
purposes. Appropriations are usually made for fixed amounts and are typically granted for a 
one-year period. An appropriation account is a budgetary account set up to record specific 
authorizations to spend.  

ASSESSED VALUATION:  A valuation set upon real estate and certain personal property by 
the City Assessor (currently a contracted service) as a basis for levying property taxes. 

ASSETS:  Probable future economic benefits obtained or controlled by a particular entity as a 
result of past transactions or events. 

AUTHORIZED RESOLUTION:  Refers to the act of adopting an initial or authorizing resolution 
for a bond or other debt instrument but not the actual issuance. 

BOND:  A written promise to pay a specified sum of money at a specified future due date along 
with periodic interest paid at a specified percentage of the principal.  Bonds are typically used 
for long-term debt to pay for specific capital expenditures.  The difference between a note and a 
bond is that the latter is issued for a longer period (over ten years) and requires greater legal 
formality. 

BUDGET CALENDAR:  Schedule of key dates which City follows in the preparation of the 
budget. 

BUDGET:  A plan of financial information embodying an estimate of proposed expenditures for 
a given period and the proposed means of financing them.  The term usually indicates a 
financial plan for a single fiscal year. 

BUDGETARY CONTROL:  Formal integration of budgetary information approved by the legislative 
body into the accounting system to provide accountability for expenditures by departments or 
agencies. 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

127 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM:  A plan for capital expenditures to be incurred each year 
over a period of five or more years setting forth each capital project and the amount to be expended 
in each year and the method of financing those expenditures. 

CAPITAL MAINTENANCE:  Expenditures to maintain and upgrade long-lived tangible assets, 
particularly public infrastructure, such as roads, storm sewers, etc. 

CAPITAL PROJECT:  The largely one-time cost for construction, improvement, replacement or 
renovation of land, structures and equipment. 

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES:  Expenditures made to acquire, reconstruct, or construct major 
fixed or capital assets.  A fixed asset is a tangible object of a long-term character that will 
continue to be held or used, such as land, buildings, machinery, furniture and other equipment.  
City policy is that such items included in the capital improvement program should have a cost of 
at least $1,000 or greater and a multi-year useful life.   

CASH FUNDING:  A methodology of paying for replacement of capital equipment whereby monies 
are accumulated in lieu of borrowing for such items. 

CDBG: Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) refers to federal funding grant opportunities 
that pass through the State of Wisconsin. 

COMMON COUNCIL:  The governing body of the city, consisting of 8 alderpersons elected in 
seven districts. 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN:  A long term planning process completed by the City in 2001 and 
amended in 2011 to guide land-use decisions over the next 20 years and beyond. 

CONTINGENCY:  A budgetary account (appropriation) set aside for emergencies or unforeseen 
expenditures for which no other budget exists.  City budgetary policy is to maintain contingency 
funds in a separate appropriation from which only the Common Council can authorize the use of 
such monies.  Departments do not carry their own contingency accounts and are to request 
transfers from the contingency account for unanticipated expenditures. 

COST ALLOCATION:  A method of assigning costs to activities, outputs, or other cost objects. 

DEBT SERVICE:  Payment of interest and repayment of principal to holders of the City’s debt 
instruments.  In governmental accounting, a fund type used to account for the accumulation of 
resources for, and the payment of, general long-term debt principal and interest except that payable 
from proprietary funds. 

DEBT SERVICE LEVY:  Refers to that part of the debt payment actually paid from the tax levy (net 
of abatement sources such as TIF increments, utility revenues, special assessments, etc.) 

DEPARTMENT:  A major administrative organizational unit of the City that indicates overall 
management responsibility for an operation or a group of related operations within a functional 
area.  

DEPRECIABLE ASSETS:  Certain types of assets (e.g. plant and equipment) that gradually lose 
their value over time.  

DEPRECIATION:  The accounting treatment whereby costs of long-lived tangible assets (buildings, 
machinery, furniture, equipment) are charged as expense over the useful lives of such assets. 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

128 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

DNR:  Department of Natural Resources 

DPW:  Department of Public Works 

ENCUMBRANCE:  The commitment of appropriated funds to purchase an item or service.  To 
encumber funds means to set aside or commit funds for a future expenditure. 

EPA:  Environmental Protection Agency 

EQUALIZED VALUE:  The estimate of the State of Wisconsin Department of Revenue of the 
full market value of property; used to apportion property tax levies of counties, school districts 
and municipalities among tax districts. 

ESTIMATED REVENUE:  The amount of projected revenues to be collected during the fiscal 
year. 

EXPENDITURE:  Use of financial resources for current operating expenses, debt service, 
capital outlay and intergovernmental transfers. 

FEMA:  Grants or other financial assistance from the Federal Emergency Management Agency for 
disaster relief or similar items.  

FUND EQUITY:  The excess of fund assets and resources over fund liabilities.  A portion of the 
equity may be reserved or designated; the remainder is referred to as Fund Balance. 

FUND:  A fiscal and accounting entity with a self-balancing set of accounts recording cash and 
for other financial resources, together with all related liabilities and residual or equities, which 
are segregated for the purpose of carrying on specific activities or attaining certain objectives in 
accordance with special regulations, restrictions or limitations. 

GENERAL FUND:  The general fund is the general accounting fund of the City.  It is used to account 
for all financial resources except those required to be accounted for in another specialized fund. 

GENERAL OBLIGATION NOTES OR BONDS:  City debt instruments that finance a variety of 
public projects, such as streets, sewers, buildings and improvements, the repayment of which is 
supported by the full faith and credit of the City. 

GRANT:  A contribution by a government or other organization to support a particular function. 

INFRASTRUCTURE ASSETS:  Roads, bridges, curbs and gutters, sidewalks, drainage 
systems, and lighting systems installed for the common good. 

INTERFUND CHARGES:  Amounts transferred from one fund to another, primarily as 
reimbursements for services provided. 

INTERGOVERNMENTAL REVENUE:  Revenue received from another government in the form 
of grants and shared revenues.  Typically, these contributions are made to local governments 
from the State and Federal governments and are made for specified purposes. 

LIABILITIES:  Probable future sacrifices of economic benefits arising from present obligations 
of a particular entity to transfer assets or provide services to other entities in the future as a 
result of past transactions or events. 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

129 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

LINE ITEM BUDGET:  A budget methodology that provides budgetary control by individual cost 
elements (objects) within departments. 

MISSION STATEMENT:  A broad statement which states the activities that improve the quality 
of life of City residents. 

MODIFIED ACCRUAL:  Governmental and Agency funds use this basis of accounting to 
measure financial position and operating results.  Revenues are recognized in the accounting 
period in which they become available and measurable. (Available means collectible within the 
current period or soon enough thereafter to pay current liabilities). Expenditures are recognized 
in the accounting period in which the fund liability is incurred, if measurable, except: 1) 
accumulated unpaid sick pay and other employee amounts which are not accrued in the 
governmental funds, 2) principal and interest on general long-term debt which is recognized 
when due; and 3) claims and judgments which are recognized when the obligations are 
expected to be liquidated with expendable available financial resources. 

MPIC:  Municipal Property Insurance Corporation 

OBJECTIVES:  Something to be accomplished in specific, well-defined, and measurable terms 
and that is achievable within a specific time frame. 

OPERATING EXPENDITURES:  The expenditures that provide a financial plan for the 
operation of government and the provision of services for the year. 

PRINCIPAL RETIREMENT:  The repayment of debt issued by the city in prior years. 

PROGRAM/SERVICE BUDGET:  A budgetary format whereby costs related to the delivery of 
related services are grouped into programs for purposes of budget analysis and decisions. 

PROMISSORY NOTES:  A debt instrument issued by the City that can have a term of up to 10 years 
as per Wisconsin law.  

PROPERTY TAXES:  Used to describe all revenues received in a period from current taxes, 
delinquent taxes, penalties and interest on delinquent taxes.  Property taxes are levied on both 
real and personal property according to the property’s assessed valuation and tax rate. 

PROPRIETARY FUNDS:  Funds that are used to account for activities that are similar to commercial 
enterprises, whereby the cost of services is recovered via user fees and charges. 

PSCW:  Public Services Commission of Wisconsin. 

RDA:  An RDA or Redevelopment Authority is a separate body politic authorized under 66.1333 of 
Wisconsin Statutes to promote the prevention and elimination of blighted and deteriorated areas and 
properties through all means appropriate so to encourage a stable, safe and healthy neighborhoods 
and places of employment.   

REFUNDING BONDS:  Bonds issued by a municipality to refinance previously outstanding debt, to 
achieve interest or cash flow savings or re-structuring of debt payments. 

REPLACEMENT FUNDS:  Monies required per debt covenants or regulatory authorities for future 
replacement of capital equipment or other items. 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

130 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

RETAINED EARNINGS:  The cumulative amount by which revenues have exceeded expenses in 
proprietary funds – to some extent, retained earnings can be seen as a measure of how well a fund 
has succeeded in recovering its costs. 

REVENUE BONDS:  Bonds whose principal and interest are payable exclusively from a 
revenue source (such as utility revenues).  Such pledge is made before issuance. 

REVENUES:  Increases in assets of an organization or decreased in liabilities during an accounting 
period, primarily from an organization’s operating activities. 

RISK MANAGEMENT:  An organized attempt to protect a government’s assets against 
accidental loss in the most economic method. 

Room Tax:  A tax levied by the Common Council on overnight stays for purposes of tourism 
promotion and tourism development activities.   

SCADA:  Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition.  Information retrieval and monitoring 
system for wastewater plant and lift stations, and water utility. 

SHARED REVENUE:  Revenue that is levied by one governmental unit but shared usually on a 
predetermined basis, with another unit of government or class of governments. 

SPECIAL ASSESSMENT:  A compulsory levy made against certain properties to defray part or 
all of the cost of a specific improvement or service which is presumed to be of general benefit to 
the public and of special benefit to such properties. 

SPECIAL REVENUE FUND:  These funds are used to account for the proceeds from specific 
revenue sources that are legally restricted to expenditures for specific purposes. 

TAX INCREMENTAL FINANCING (TIF):   A mechanism for financing development and 
redevelopment projects whereby property tax revenue from increased property values in a 
defined geographic district is used to pay for public improvements, such as roads, sewer and 
water lines. Once the improvements are paid for, the property taxes go to the city, county and 
school districts. 

TAX LEVY:  The total amount of taxes, special assessments, or service charges imposed by a 
governmental unit. 

TAX RATE:  The rate, usually expressed in terms of dollars per one thousand dollars of 
assessed valuation, at which taxes are levied against the total assessed valuation of the City.  
Due to changes in the total assessed valuation of the City from year to year, the tax levy change 
and the tax rate change will not be the same.  The tax rate change reflects what impact the 
property owner will see in their total taxes. 

TAXES:  Compulsory charges levied by a government for the purpose of financing services 
performed for the common benefit. 

UTILITY ENTERPRISE FUNDS:  A fund set up for use by the Utilities (Sewer/Water/Electric) of the 
city that provides goods or services to the public for a fee that makes the entity (Plymouth Utilities) 
self-supporting.  

WWTP:  Wastewater Treatment Plant 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

131 2025 Annual Budget & Operations Plan    
 

WPDES:  Wisconsin Pollution Discharge Elimination Permit.  The WPDES is a permit issued by the 
Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources for the Wastewater Treatment Plant (WWTP). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

AAPPENDIX A: GENERAL GOVERNMENT 10-YEAR CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX A: 
GENERAL 

GOVERNMENT 
10-YEAR CAPITAL 

IMPROVEMENT PLAN 

 

  



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

BAPPENDIX A: GENERAL GOVERNMENT 10-YEAR CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 

 

 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

CAPPENDIX A: GENERAL GOVERNMENT 10-YEAR CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 

 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

DAPPENDIX A: GENERAL GOVERNMENT 10-YEAR CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 

 

 

 

 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

EAPPENDIX A: GENERAL GOVERNMENT 10-YEAR CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 

 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

FAPPENDIX A: GENERAL GOVERNMENT 10-YEAR CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 

 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

GAPPENDIX A: GENERAL GOVERNMENT 10-YEAR CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

HAPPENDIX A: GENERAL GOVERNMENT 10-YEAR CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 

 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

A APPENDIX B:  PLYMOUTH UTILITIES 10-YEAR CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX B: 
PLYMOUTH UTILITIES 

10-YEAR CAPITAL 
IMPROVEMENT PLAN 

 

  



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

B APPENDIX B:  PLYMOUTH UTILITIES 10-YEAR CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 
 

 

  



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

C APPENDIX B:  PLYMOUTH UTILITIES 10-YEAR CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

D APPENDIX B:  PLYMOUTH UTILITIES 10-YEAR CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 
 

 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

E APPENDIX B:  PLYMOUTH UTILITIES 10-YEAR CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 
 

 

  



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

F APPENDIX B:  PLYMOUTH UTILITIES 10-YEAR CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

G APPENDIX B:  PLYMOUTH UTILITIES 10-YEAR CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 
 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 
Your Utility. Your Government. Working Together.                                                

A APPENDIX C:  LINE-ITEM BUDGET SUMMARY 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX C: 
LINE-ITEM BUDGET 

SUMMARY 

 

  



APPENDIX C:  LINE-ITEM BUDGET SUMMARY  
 

B 

 



 

 
 
 
City of Plymouth 
128 Smith St. - P.O. Box 107 
Plymouth, WI  53073-0107 
  
 

 
  
 

 
 
 

Telephone: (920) 893-3745 
Facsimile: (920) 893-0183 

     Web Site:        plymouthgov.com 
 
 

 
DATE:  November 7, 2024 

TO:  Mayor and Common Council  
 
FROM: Tim Blakeslee, City Administrator/Utilities Manager   

 
RE: Ordinance No. 18 - Comp Plan Amendment - Parcel No. 59271829009 from a future land use 

designation of Commercial to Residential.  
 

Ordinance No. 19 - Rezoning - Parcel No. 59271829009 currently Zoned as B1, Business 
Office. Seeking R6 – High Density Multi-Family Residential  

 
 

 
Background:  
Parcel No. 59271829009 is located on the south side of Columbia 
Drive, west of the Baymont Hotel in Plymouth. With the property 
owner's approval, Terrace Realty is requesting a comprehensive 
plan amendment and rezoning for a proposed senior 
housing/workforce housing development.  
 
Comp Plan Amendment:  
The comprehensive plan future land use map lists Parcel No. 
59271829009 as Commercial. Terrace Realty is requesting 
approval of a comprehensive plan amendment to designate the 
parcel as Residential. With the upcoming Wangard development 
project to the west of Walmart, the inclusion of this parcel as a 
prospect for residential in TID#7 project plan, and Plymouth’s 
growing senior and workforce housing needs, staff supports the 
request for a comprehensive plan map amendment to Residential. 
 
Rezoning:  
Parcel No. 59271829009 is currently zoned B1, Business Office. Terrace Realty is requesting rezoning of the 
parcel to R6 - High Density Multi-Family Residential. 
 
The property to the north across the street is vacant (zoned PO – Planned Office). The property to the east is 
the Baymont Hotel (zoned B1 – Business Office). The properties to the south include a vacant parcel (zoned B1 
– Business Office) and a shopping center anchored by Dollar Tree (zoned B1 – Business Office). The property 
to the west is vacant (zoned PO – Planned Office). Since the proposed rezoning to residential is limited to high-
density uses, staff is comfortable with its location amidst office/commercial development. Recent planning trends 
favor intermixing higher-density multi-family and commercial uses for mutual benefit. This also aligns with the 
following outcomes from the Common Council’s 2023-2026 Strategic Plan: 

• Expanded Economic Development 
• Increased Housing Options for All 

Staff supports the rezoning request to R6. 



 
A draft site plan is included in the packet and will be discussed in more detail at an upcoming Plan Commission 
meeting. 
 
Plan Commission Recommendation: 

• At the October 3, 2024 meeting, the Plan Commission unanimously recommend the Comp Plan 
Amendment as presented to the Common Council for approval. 

• At the October 3, 2024 meeting, the Plan Commission unanimously recommend the Rezoning Request 
as presented to the Common Council for approval. 

 
Staff Recommendation:  

• Approve Ordinance No. 18 an Ordinance Amending the City of Plymouth, Wisconsin Comprehensive 
Plan Existing Land Use Map and Future Land Use Plan Map by Changing Property from Agriculture and 
Commercial to Residential. 

• Approve Ordinance No. 19 an Ordinance Amending Section 13-1-21, Zoning Map of the Zoning Code of 
the City of Plymouth. 

 
Attachments: 

• Ordinance No 18 and No 19 
• Application Materials.  



Page 1 of 2

CITY OF PLYMOUTH, WISCONSIN
Ordinance No. _____ of 2024

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE CITY OF PLYMOUTH, WISCONSIN 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN EXISTING LAND USE MAP AND 

FUTURE LAND USE PLAN MAP BY CHANGING PROPERTY FROM 
AGRICULTURE AND COMMERCIAL TO RESIDENTIAL 

WHEREAS, property owner James Pankow, by way of Terrace Realty, has requested a 
Comprehensive Plan amendment for approximately 2.86 acres of real property lying south of 
Columbia Drive and being Parcel No. 59271-829009 (the "Property"), which is a part of a 
proposed senior/workforce housing development project; and

WHEREAS, the Property is currently zoned B-1 Business Office District on the zoning 
map of the City of Plymouth and the developer has petitioned for the rezoning to R-6, High 
Density Multi-Family Residential District; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Plymouth Comprehensive Plan adopted October 25, 2022, 
designates the described Property as Agriculture and Commercial, which is inconsistent with the 
proposed zoning; and

WHEREAS, Wis. Stat. § 66.1001 requires that any amendment to a City zoning 
ordinance or map be consistent with the City’s Comprehensive Plan and that best management 
practices are to ensure zoning and land use designations are consistent; and

WHEREAS, the City of Plymouth Plan Commission has recommended that the Common 
Council amend the Comprehensive Plan to re-designate the herein described property as 
Residential on the Comprehensive Plan Existing Land Use Map and Future Land Use Plan 
Map; and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Common Council on _____, 
2024 after duly publishing notice of such hearing, pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 66.1001(4); and

WHEREAS, the Common Council has determined that an amendment to the 
Comprehensive Plan will promote the orderly development of land in the City of Plymouth.

NOW, THEREFORE, the Common Council of the City of Plymouth, Wisconsin, does 
hereby ordain as follows:

Section 1. Amending Comprehensive Plan.  The City of Plymouth Comprehensive 
Plan Existing Land Use Map and Future Land Use Plan Map are hereby amended to 
re-designate the approximately 2.86 acres of real property lying south of Columbia Drive, west 
of Walton Drive and east of Kiley Way and being Parcel No. 59271-829009 to Residential.

(The remainder of this page intentionally blank; signature page to follow.)



Page 2 of 2

Section 2. Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall take effect the day after publication.

Enacted on __________________, 2024.

CITY OF PLYMOUTH

By: 
DONALD O. POHLMAN, Mayor

Date: _________________________, 2024

CLERK’S CERTIFICATE OF ENACTMENT

I hereby certify that the foregoing Ordinance was duly enacted by the City of Plymouth 
Common Council and approved by the Mayor on the dates indicated above.

Dated: ____________________, 2024 ____________________________
ANNA VOIGT, Clerk

9431\258952











CITY OF PLYMOUTH, WISCONSIN

Ordinance No.  of 2024

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 13-1-21, ZONING MAP OF 
THE ZONING CODE OF THE CITY OF PLYMOUTH

WHEREAS, the City of Plymouth received a request from James Pankow by way of 
Terrace Realty to amend the City of Plymouth Zoning Map from B-1, Business Office District to 
R-6, High Density Multi-Family Residential District, for approximately 2.86 acres of real property 
lying south of Columbia Drive, Plymouth, Wisconsin, and as more specifically described on the 
attached Exhibit A (hereinafter referred to as the "Property"); and  

WHEREAS, on October 3, 2024, the Plan Commission reviewed the rezoning 
application and supplementary materials and recommended the parcel be rezoned to High 
Density Multi-Family Residential District (R-6). 

WHEREAS, on , 2024, a public hearing was held before the 
Common Council on the rezoning application, after providing notice as required by Wis. Stat. 
§ 62.23 and City Ordinance Section 13-1-192; and

WHEREAS, an ordinance amending the City of Plymouth Comprehensive Plan maps 
has been approved to ensure the proposed rezoning is consistent with the City of Plymouth 
Comprehensive Plan of 2022; and

NOW, THEREFORE, the Common Council of the City of Plymouth, Wisconsin, does 
hereby ordain as follows:

Section 1. Amending Code.  Section 13-1-21, Zoning Map of the City of Plymouth 
is hereby amended so that the map entitled “Zoning Map, Plymouth, Wisconsin” designates the 
classification of property as more specifically described on Exhibit A, as High Density 
Multi-Family Residential District (R-6).

Section 2. Severability.  Should any portion of this Ordinance or the affected 
Municipal Code Section be declared unconstitutional or invalid by a court of competent 
jurisdiction, the remainder shall not be affected.

Section 3. Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall take effect the day after publication.

Enacted on , 2024.

CITY OF PLYMOUTH

By: 
Donald O. Pohlman, Mayor

Date: 



2

CLERK'S CERTIFICATE OF ENACTMENT

I hereby certify that the foregoing Ordinance was duly enacted by the City of Plymouth 
Common Council and approved by the Mayor on the dates indicated above.

Dated: , 2024
Anna Voigt, Clerk 

9431\258886



3

EXHIBIT A
Legal Description 

Lot One (1) of a Certified Survey map recorded in Volume 23 of Certified Survey Maps, 
Pages 8/10, as Document No. 1821853, being a re-division of Lot 1 of a Certified Survey 
map as recorded in Volume 19 on Pages 189-191 of Certified Survey Maps of the 
Sheboygan County Register of Deeds as Document No. 1681891, and being a part of 
the Southeast Quarter (SE 1/4) of the Northeast Quarter (NE 1/4) of Section 23, 
Township 15 North, Range 21 East, situated in the City of Plymouth, Sheboygan County, 
Wisconsin.

Tax Parcel Number: 59271829009













 

 
 
 
City of Plymouth 
128 Smith St. - P.O. Box 107 
Plymouth, WI  53073-0107 
  
 

 
  
 

 
 
 

Telephone: (920) 893-3745 
Facsimile: (920) 893-0183 

     Web Site:        plymouthgov.com 
 
 

 
DATE:  November 7, 2024 

TO:  Mayor and Common Council  
 
FROM: Tim Blakeslee, City Administrator/Utilities Manager   
 
RE:  Ordinance No. 20 - Rezoning Parcel No. 59271821078 currently Zoned as R-4, Multi-Family 

Residential, Seeking R-6 High Density Multi-Family Residential 
 
Background:  
Parcel 59271821078 is located south of Jimmy John's, 
Scooter's, Advanced Auto Parts, and vacant parcel 
59271821077. Plankview Green Development, LLC is 
requesting a rezoning for an upcoming multi-family residential 
project. It is highlighted in blue to the right. 
 
Rezoning: Parcel 59271821078 is currently zoned R-4, Multi-
Family Residential. Plankview Green Development, LLC 
requests that the parcel be rezoned to R-6, High-Density Multi-
Family Residential. 
 
The properties to the north include vacant parcel 
59271821077, with Jimmy John's, Scooter's, and Advanced 
Auto Parts to the north of that vacant parcel (all zoned B3). The 
property to the west includes the Pick N Save Shopping Center 
(zoned B3) and Hunter’s Ridge Apartments (zoned R4). The 
property to the south is vacant (zoned Ag). The property to the 
east is within the town and consists of a vacant wooded area. 
 
The Comprehensive Plan future land use map designates this 
property for residential development. 
 
Given the adjacent property uses, the absence of directly adjacent single-family homes, and consistency with 
the Comprehensive Plan, staff supports this request to rezone to the R-6 district. This also aligns with the 
following outcomes from the Common Council’s 2023-2026 Strategic Plan: 

• Expanded Economic Development 
• Increased Housing Options for All 

 
A draft site plan for the upcoming development will be discussed in more detail at an upcoming Plan Commission 
meeting. 
 
Plan Commission Recommendation: 

• At the October 3, 2024 meeting, the Plan Commission unanimously recommend the Rezoning Request 
as presented to the Common Council for approval. 

 



 
Staff Recommendation:  
Approve Ordinance No. 20 An Ordinance Amending Section 13-1-21, Zoning Map of the Zoning Code of the City 
of Plymouth. 
 
Attachments:   

• Ordinance No. 20 
• Plankview Green Development, LLC Application 



 

 

CITY OF PLYMOUTH, WISCONSIN 
 

Ordinance No.   of 2024 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 13-1-21, ZONING MAP OF  
THE ZONING CODE OF THE CITY OF PLYMOUTH 

 
 

 WHEREAS, the City of Plymouth received a request from Plankview Green 
Development, LLC to amend the City of Plymouth Zoning Map from R-4, Multi-Family District to 
R-6, High Density Multi-Family Residential District, for approximately 9.77 acres of real property 
lying south of Eastern Avenue (County Highway C), Plymouth, Wisconsin, and as more 
specifically described on the attached Exhibit A (hereinafter referred to as the "Property"); and   
 
 WHEREAS, on October 3, 2024, the Plan Commission reviewed the rezoning 
application and supplementary materials and recommended the parcel be rezoned to High 
Density Multi-Family Residential District (R-6).  
 

WHEREAS, on    , 2024, a public hearing was held before the 
Common Council on the rezoning application, after providing notice as required by Wis. Stat. 
§ 62.23 and City Ordinance Section 13-1-192; and 

 
WHEREAS, the herein proposed rezoning is consistent with the City of Plymouth 

Comprehensive Plan of 2022; and 
 

 NOW, THEREFORE, the Common Council of the City of Plymouth, Wisconsin, does 
hereby ordain as follows: 
 
 Section 1. Amending Code.  Section 13-1-21, Zoning Map of the City of Plymouth 
is hereby amended so that the map entitled “Zoning Map, Plymouth, Wisconsin” designates the 
classification of property as more specifically described on Exhibit A, as High Density 
Multi-Family Residential District (R-6). 
 
 Section 2. Severability.  Should any portion of this Ordinance or the affected 
Municipal Code Section be declared unconstitutional or invalid by a court of competent 
jurisdiction, the remainder shall not be affected. 
 
 Section 3. Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall take effect the day after publication. 

 
 Enacted on      , 2024. 
 
 
      CITY OF PLYMOUTH 
 
 
      By:         
       Donald O. Pohlman, Mayor 
 
      Date:        
 
 
 



 

2 
 

 
CLERK'S CERTIFICATE OF ENACTMENT 

 
 
 I hereby certify that the foregoing Ordinance was duly enacted by the City of Plymouth 
Common Council and approved by the Mayor on the dates indicated above. 
 
 
Dated:     , 2024          
       Anna Voigt, Clerk  
 
9431\261204  



 

3 
 

EXHIBIT A 
Legal Description  

 
 

 
Lot One (1) of a Certified Survey map recorded on September 19, 2023, in Volume 31 of 
Certified Survey Maps, Pages 203/6 in the Sheboygan County Register of Deeds Office 
as Document No. 2155484, being a part of the Northwest Quarter (NW 1/4) and 
Southwest Quarter (SW 1/4) of the Northeast Quarter (NE 1/4) of Section 26, Township 
15 North, Range 21 East, City of Plymouth, Sheboygan County, Wisconsin. 
 
Tax Parcel Number: 59271821078 

 
 

 















 

 
 
 
City of Plymouth 
128 Smith St. - P.O. Box 107 
Plymouth, WI  53073-0107 
  
 

 
  
 

 
 
 

Telephone: (920) 893-1271 
Facsimile: (920) 893-0183 

     Web Site:        plymouthgov.com 
 
 

 
DATE:  November 7, 2024 

TO:  Mayor and Common Council 

FROM: Tim Blakeslee, City Administrator/Utilities Manager  

RE: Ordinance No. 21 an Ordinance Amending Section 15-1-4 of the City of 
Plymouth, Wisconsin General Ordinances Regarding Adoption of Camping Unit 
State Code 

 
 
Background: 
From time to time, the State of Wisconsin updates the Uniform Dwelling Code. Through the 
process of notifying the State about the City’s switch in building inspectors, staff became aware 
that the City of Plymouth has not adopted SPS 327, which pertains to camping units/sites. 
According to the State Department of Safety and Professional Services, the City is required to 
adopt SPS 327, even though Plymouth does not have any camping units/sites. 
 
Staff Recommendation: 
Approve Ordinance No. 21 an Ordinance Amending Section 15-1-4 of the City of Plymouth, 
Wisconsin General Ordinances Regarding Adoption of Camping Unit State Code. 
 
Attachment: 

• Draft Agreement 



     

CITY OF PLYMOUTH
Ordinance No.  of 2024

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 15-1-4 OF THE CITY OF 
PLYMOUTH, WISCONSIN GENERAL ORDINANCES REGARDING

 ADOPTION OF CAMPING UNIT STATE CODE
 

WHEREAS, the Common Council hereby determines it is necessary to update City code 
section 15-1-4, State Uniform Dwelling Code Adopted, to adopt current Department of Safety 
and Professional Services standards regarding jurisdiction over the construction and inspection 
of new camping units; and

NOW, THEREFORE, the Common Council of the City of Plymouth, Wisconsin, does 
hereby ordain as follows:

Section 1. Amending Code.  Section 15-1-4 (8) regarding adoption of Uniform 
Dwelling code, is hereby amended to read as follows (additions shown by underscore, deletions 
by strikeout):

“(8) Uniform Dwelling Code means those Administrative Code Provisions and 
any future amendments, revisions or modifications thereto, contained in the 
following chapters of the Wisconsin Administrative Code:

Wis. Admin. Code Ch. SPS 320 Administrative and Enforcement

Wis. Admin. Code Ch. SPS 321 Construction Standards

Wis. Admin. Code Ch. SPS 322 Energy Conservation Standards

Wis. Admin. Code Ch. SPS 323 Heating, Ventilating and Air Conditioning

Wis. Admin. Code Ch. SPS 324 Electrical Standards

Wis. Admin. Code Ch. SPS 325 Plumbing Water Standards

Wis. Admin. Code Ch. SPS 327 Camping Units

Section 2. Severability.  Should any portion of this Ordinance or the affected 
Municipal Code Section be declared unconstitutional or invalid by a court of competent 
jurisdiction, the remainder shall not be affected.

(The remainder of this page intentionally blank.)



Page 2 of 2

Section 3. Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall take effect the upon enactment and 
publication as required by law.

Enacted this  day of November, 2024.

CITY OF PLYMOUTH

By: 
Donald O. Pohlman, Mayor

Date: 

CLERK'S CERTIFICATE OF ENACTMENT

I hereby certify that the foregoing Ordinance was duly enacted by the City of Plymouth 
Common Council and approved by the Mayor on the dates indicated above.

Dated: , 2024
Anna Voigt, Clerk 

9431\264500



 

 
 
 
City of Plymouth 
128 Smith St. - P.O. Box 107 
Plymouth, WI  53073-0107 
  
 

 
  
 

 
 
 

Telephone: (920) 893-3745 
Facsimile: (920) 893-0183 

     Web Site:        plymouthgov.com 
 
 

 
DATE:  November 7, 2024 

TO:  Mayor and Common Council 
 
FROM: Tim Blakeslee, City Administrator/Utilities Manager   
 
RE:  Nutt Ski Hill Exclusive License Discussion and Approval 
 
 
 
Background: 
Nutt Ski Hill has not been used for organized winter recreation since February 2014. Over the 
past two years, a group of Plymouth community members formed a non-profit organization, 
Cheese Capital Winter Park LLC (CCWP), to explore the reestablishment of Nutt Ski Hill for winter 
activities. In July 2023, CCWP presented the Ski Hill Rehabilitation concept to the Committee of 
the Whole, seeking feedback before further logistical and fundraising efforts. The Committee of 
the Whole's consensus was for CCWP to finalize the ski hill design and return with a more 
developed concept and request.  
 
On April 28, 2024, CCWP presented their updated concept for revitalizing Nutt Ski Hill to the 
Committee of the Whole. At the meeting on May 15, 2024, the Common Council directed staff to 
negotiate a lease with Cheese Capital Winter Park LLC. At the meeting on August 27 and October 
29 staff presented an update of negotiations in closed session.  The direction from the meeting 
on October 29 is that the negotiated terms are agreeable to the CCWP and Common Council. 
 
Plan Commission Recommendation:   
At the meeting on November 7, 2024, the Plan Commission unanimously recommended the 
Common Council approve the Nutt Ski Hill Exclusive License with Cheese Capital Winter Park 
LLC. 
 
Staff Recommendation: Approve the Nutt Ski Hill Exclusive License with Cheese Capital Winter 
Park LLC. 
 
Attachment: 

• Draft License Agreement 



Exclusive License Agreement for Nutt Ski Hill  Page 1 of 7 
      

EXCLUSIVE LICENSE AGREEMENT FOR  
NUTT SKI HILL 

 
 
 THIS AGREEMENT is entered into this    day of    , 2024 
by and between the CITY OF PLYMOUTH, a Wisconsin municipal corporation, maintaining its 
principal office at 128 Smith Street, P.O. Box 107, Plymouth, Wisconsin 53073, hereinafter 
referred to as "CITY," and Cheese Capital Winter Park, Inc., a Wisconsin non-stock, non-profit 
corporation existing under Wisconsin Chapter 181, maintaining its principal office at 518 E. Edna 
Street, Plymouth, Wisconsin 53073, hereinafter referred to as "OPERATOR”. 
 

RECITALS 
 

 WHEREAS, the CITY owns Nutt Ski Hill, a city park, located at 750 W. Main Street within 
the City of Plymouth, Sheboygan County, Wisconsin (the "Ski Hill") legally described on Exhibit 
A attached hereto; and  
 
 WHEREAS, OPERATOR wishes to reestablish skiing, snowboarding, and tubing at the 
Ski Hill (the “Winter Recreational Activities”); and  
 
 WHEREAS, OPERATOR proposes to construct certain improvements for the Winter 
Recreational Activities including construction of skiing, snowboarding, and tubing runs, fixtures 
as approved by the City Administrator/Utilities Manager, and structural improvements to the 
existing building at the Ski Hill and build a maintenance shed (the “Ski Hill Improvements”); and  
 

WHEREAS, OPERATOR will bear all construction and maintenance costs of the Ski Hill 
Improvements, which will be constructed and maintained for the public benefit; and 
 
 WHEREAS, CITY and OPERATOR wish to enter into this agreement for the purpose of 
establishing the parties’ respective roles related to the construction, operation and maintenance 
of the Ski Hill and Ski Hill Improvements. 
 

AGREEMENT 
 

 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the terms contained herein and other good and 
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, CITY and 
OPERATOR do agree as follows: 

 
1. Recitals.  The Recitals set forth above are incorporated herein and made an 

enforceable part of this Agreement.  
 
2. Grant of Exclusive License.  CITY grants to OPERATOR an exclusive license to 

use the Ski Hill subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement.  
 

3. Term and Renewal.  The term of this Agreement commences on January 1, 2025, 
(“Commencement Date”) and terminates on December 31, 2030 (“Termination Date”).  The 
OPERATOR shall have the ability to renew this License Agreement for up to three (3) additional 
five- (5-) year terms provided OPERATOR is in compliance with the terms of this Agreement.  



Exclusive License Agreement for Nutt Ski Hill  Page 2 of 7 
      

  
4. Construction and Maintenance.  The OPERATOR shall be solely responsible for 

all construction and maintenance costs of the Ski Hill Improvements, including obtaining all 
permits and approvals necessary and required. The location of the Ski Hill Improvements, 
including location of any lighting or structures, attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit 
B, are approved as part of this Agreement.  The OPERATOR understands and agrees that the 
CITY will have ownership of the Ski Hill Improvements and that the OPERATOR is constructing 
and maintaining the Ski Hill Improvements for public use.  OPERATOR shall retain ownership of 
any equipment and personal property – including, but not limited to, the magic carpet, groomer, 
snow making equipment (pumps, guns (both guns attached to the ski hill and not attached to the 
ski hill), hoses, etc.) - supplies and inventory used in connection with the Winter Recreational 
Activities (collectively referred to as “OPERATOR’s Property”)  

 
5. Permitted and Prohibited Uses and Improvements. 
 

a. Use.  The OPERATOR may use the Ski Hill for providing Winter 
Recreational Activities to the public.  The OPERATOR may also sublicense the Ski Hill to 
third party groups for short-term use of the Ski Hill for Winter Recreational Activities.  This 
short-term use includes, but is not limited to, corporate events and private parties.  The 
OPERATOR shall determine, in its sole discretion, the fees to be charged to the public 
and third parties and shall retain all fees charged.  Any public use of the Ski Hill shall be 
during normal City Park hours (6:00am to 10:00pm) unless the OPERATOR has obtained 
prior written approval from the City Administrator/Utilities Manager.  All overhead lighting 
at the Ski Hill shall be turned off one (1) hour after park closure, except as otherwise 
approved by the City Administrator/Utilities Manager.  The OPERATOR may make snow 
and groom during City Park hours and up to one (1) hour after park closure. In addition, 
the OPERATOR shall be permitted to make snow and groom the Ski Hill for Winter 
Recreational Activities between the hours of 11 p.m. and 6:00 a.m. no more than fifteen 
(15) times per season, unless approved by the City Administrator/Utilities Manager.  The 
making of snow and grooming may also include the use of lights on the groomer or 
snowmobile 

 
b. Structures.  The OPERATOR agrees to obtain approval of the City 

Administrator/Utilities Manager to build, construct, reconstruct, install or place a structure 
on the Ski Hill after construction of the Ski Hill Improvements, and shall be responsible for 
obtaining necessary permits and approvals.  OPERATOR expressly understands and 
agrees that any improvements made to the structures or affixed to the Ski Hill (except as 
stated in Section 4 above) will become the property of the CITY. 

 
c. Liens.  The OPERATOR will not have third parties perform work or provide 

materials on the Ski Hill without prior notice to the City Administrator/Utilities Manager, 
and OPERATOR will not cause or allow any construction, contractor, mechanics or related 
liens to be placed against the Ski Hill.  No CITY funds will be provided for the construction 
of the Ski Hill Improvements. 

 
d. CITY Obligations and Access.  CITY agrees to maintain the vegetation and 

landscaping of the Ski Hill from April through November; OPERATOR shall be responsible 
for maintain the grounds of the Ski Hill from December 1 through March 31 of each year.  
OPERATOR will be responsible for snow removal from pedestrian and parking areas, 
trash removal.  CITY will provide an annual payment of eleven thousand and 00/100 
dollars ($11,000.00) to OPERATOR on or before January 1 of each year to be used for 



Exclusive License Agreement for Nutt Ski Hill  Page 3 of 7 
      

electrical, sewer and water service at the Ski Hill.  CITY may access the Ski Hill, and any 
secured areas upon prior notice to OPERATOR, to confirm the OPERATOR’s compliance 
with the terms of this Agreement.   

 
e. Nutt Hill Shelter.  OPERATOR will have access to the Nutt Hill Shelter, may 

use the Nutt Hill Shelter as it sees fit, and shall retain any revenue received from the use 
of the Nutt Hill Shelter.  OPERATOR may rent the Nutt Hill Shelter to third parties, at such 
times and subject to such conditions as OPERATOR deems appropriate.  OPERATOR 
will be responsible for coordinating the rental with the renting party and shall be entitled to 
the rental fee paid.  OPERATOR shall remain responsible for any damage to the Shelter 
occurring as a result of such rental. 
 
6. Noise Levels.  To the extent possible, snow production shall occur at such times 

and for a duration to minimize disturbance to the surrounding areas.  OPERATOR agrees that 
Section 11-2-7 of the City Code applies to noise production at the Ski Hill.   

 
7. Tree Removal and Replacement.  The City Forester will inventory existing trees 

on Ski Hill and shall approve all tree removal he or she deems necessary for the completion of 
the Ski Hill Improvements.  OPERATOR shall be responsible for replacing the trees removed 
from the Ski Hill with an equal number of trees, in such species and locations as approved by the 
City Forester, within city parks or such other locations as the City Forester determines best serve 
the public interest.  OPERATOR will replace each live tree with a 3-inch caliper or more that is 
removed with a 1.0 to 1.5 inch caliper tree of a like species. 

 
8. No Agency Relationship Created.  The OPERATOR is not an agent of the CITY 

and does not possess any actual or implied authority to act for or on behalf of the CITY.  The 
OPERATOR shall not be an additional insured under the CITY’s insurance policy.  The CITY shall 
not have any obligation to indemnify or defend the OPERATOR related to any liability attributable 
to the OPERATOR or any matter arising out of, directly or indirectly, this Agreement. 

 
9. Insurance Required.  The OPERATOR shall maintain, and require its contractors 

that work in the Ski Hill Improvements to maintain, during the course of construction and operation 
of the Ski Hill for Winter Recreational Activities, for the protection of the CITY and the 
OPERATOR, at least the following minimum insurance coverage: 

 
(a) worker’s compensation; as required by Wisconsin law; and 
 
(b) commercial general liability; $1,000,000 per occurrence; $2,000,000 

aggregate; and 
 
(c) commercial automobile liability; $1,000,000 per accident; and  
 

The required insurance policies shall include, to the extent available, provisions preventing 
their cancellation without ten (10) days prior written notice to the CITY, which shall be named as 
an additional insured.  The OPERATOR shall provide to the CITY, at or before the 
commencement of construction, certificates of insurance evidencing at least the minimum 
insurance requirements set forth above.  The CITY shall be named as an additional insured on 
said certificate.  OPERATOR shall be solely responsible for carrying any other insurance it deems 
necessary to protect its interests in any equipment it owns. 

 



Exclusive License Agreement for Nutt Ski Hill  Page 4 of 7 
      

10. Indemnification.  OPERATOR shall indemnify, hold harmless, and defend CITY 
and their respective officers, employees, and agents from any and all liability, loss, costs, 
expenses (including reasonable attorneys' fees and litigation costs), expert fees, interest, and 
damages that it or they might suffer or pay out to another as a result of any claim, demand, suit, 
action or right of action (in law or equity) as a result of any injury (including death) or damage to 
any person or property against CITY or their officers, employees, and agents brought by any 
person to the extent that such injury or damage arises as a direct or indirect result of any negligent 
or intentional act or misconduct of OPERATOR in connection with the design, construction, 
inspection, operation or maintenance of the Ski Hill for Winter Recreational Activities or Nutt Hill 
Shelter events on CITY property.   

 
11. Restoration.  In the event that the Ski Hill Improvements do not receive final 

approval or construction of the Ski Hill Improvements are terminated before completion for any 
reason, foreseen or unforeseen, OPERATOR shall at OPERATOR's expense, restore the site to 
a condition that does not create a hazard or other unsafe condition subject to the CITY's approval. 
Within thirty (30) days of termination of this Agreement, OPERATOR shall remove all equipment, 
signage, personal property, inventory, supplies, garbage, waste and refuse and OPERATOR’s 
Property from the Ski Hill.  Any OPERATOR property remaining at the Ski Hill after expiration of 
the thirty (30) days will be considered abandoned and CITY shall be entitled to remove and 
dispose of such property as it deems appropriate.  If OPERATOR fails to return the Ski Hill to the 
CITY in a condition substantially similar to the Commencement Date condition (except for the Ski 
Hill Improvements), CITY shall be entitled to restore the property to Commencement Date 
condition and OPERATOR shall be responsible for such costs. 

 
12. Advertising, Sales, Sponsorship, and Naming.  The CITY grants the 

OPERATOR the right to use the name Nutt Hill in its marketing and at its discretion.  The CITY 
grants the OPERATOR the right, in OPERATOR’s sole discretion, to sell any products, goods, 
foods, beverages (including but not limited to alcohol if proper permits/licensing is obtained), or 
services at the Ski Hill with prices to be set by the OPERATOR and to retain all income therefrom.  
The CITY grants the OPERATOR the right, in the OPERATOR’s sole discretion, to charge fees 
in amounts to be determined by the OPERATOR for the use of the Ski Hill and the Winter 
Recreational Activities.  The CITY also grants the OPERATOR the right, in OPERATOR’s sole 
discretion, to sell naming rights, sponsorship rights, advertising rights, and other commercial 
rights related to the Ski Hill and the Winter Recreational Activities and to retain all income 
therefrom.  The CITY grants the OPERATOR the right to construct signage and displays related 
to naming, sponsorship, advertising, other commercial rights, and Winter Recreational Activities.  
OPERATOR may install signs not exceeding 5 feet by 5 feet except that no signs shall be placed 
within thirty feet of any residential lot line. 

 
13. Miscellaneous. 

 

A. Waiver.  No delay or omission by either of the parties hereto or their heirs, 
successors, and/or assigns to exercise any right or power accruing upon any 
non-compliance or failure of performance by another party under the provisions of this 
Agreement shall impair any such right or power or be construed to be a waiver thereof.  A 
waiver by either of the parties hereto or their heirs, successors, and/or assigns, of any of 
the covenants, conditions, or agreements hereof to be performed by another shall not be 
construed to be a waiver of any succeeding breach thereof or of any other covenant, 
condition, or agreement herein contained. 

 



Exclusive License Agreement for Nutt Ski Hill  Page 5 of 7 
      

B.  Heirs, Successors, or Assigns.  The Agreement and each and all of the 
terms, covenants, and conditions hereof shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of 
the parties and their respective heirs, personal representatives, successors, or assigns 
and no third party other than such heirs, personal representatives, successors, and/or 
assigns shall be entitled to enforce any term, covenant, or conditions of this Agreement or 
have any rights hereunder. 

 
C. Headings.  The headings appearing in this Agreement are for convenience 

and reference only and in no way define or limit the scope and content of this Agreement 
or in any way affect its provisions. 

 
D. Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in 

accordance with the laws of the State of Wisconsin. 
 
E. Severability.  If any provisions or portions thereof of this Agreement or the 

application thereof to any person or circumstances shall to any extent be invalid or 
unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement or the application of such provision or 
portion thereof to any other persons or circumstances shall not be affected thereby, and 
each provision of this Agreement shall be valid and enforceable to the fullest extent 
permitted by law. 

 
F. Modifications.  No agreement shall be effective to add to, change, modify, 

waive, or discharge this Agreement, in whole or in part, unless such Agreement is in writing 
and signed by the parties to be bound. 

 
G. Notices.  Any notice, demand, statement, and request required or 

permitted to be given under this Agreement shall be in writing and deemed to have been 
properly given or served when personally delivered to the other party, via overnight 
courier, facsimile, or upon after deposit in the United States mail, postage prepaid, and 
addressed to the address set forth below: 

 
If to CITY:    City of Plymouth 

Attn: City Clerk 
128 Smith Street 
P.O. Box 107 
Plymouth, WI 53073 

 
With a copy to:   City Attorney Crystal H. Fieber 

HOPP NEUMANN HUMKE LLP 
2124 Kohler Memorial Drive, Suite 310 
Sheboygan, WI  53081 

 
If to OPERATOR:   Cheese Capital Winter Park, Inc. 
     Attn: Joe Van Derven 
     518 E. Edna Street 
     Plymouth, WI 53073 

 
H. Change of Address.  Any party hereto may change the address to which 

notices to such party shall be sent by written notice to the other party given in accordance 
with this Section.  At such time as a party transfers its interest under this Agreement so 
as to create a new party in interest, the previous party in interest or such new party in 



Exclusive License Agreement for Nutt Ski Hill  Page 6 of 7 
      

interest shall send notice to the other parties of the name and address to which notice to 
the new party shall be sent or delivered.  Until such time as such notice is given, the 
previous party in interest shall be deemed to be the agent for such new party in interest 
for purposes of receipt of service of notices. 

 
I. CITY Authorization.  The City Administrator/Utilities Manager is hereby 

authorized, on behalf of the CITY, to execute all documents convenient or necessary to 
carry out the terms of this Agreement and effect the terms described herein. 

 
J. Authority.  The persons executing this Agreement represent that they 

have the legal authority to bind the respective party for which such signature is made. 
 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF the undersigned have signed this Non-Exclusive License 
Agreement for Nutt Ski Hill to take effect as of the date first above written. 
 
      CITY:  

      CITY OF PLYMOUTH 
 
 
      By:         
       Donald O. Pohlman, Mayor 
 
 
      By:         
       Anna Voigt, City Clerk 
 
STATE OF WISCONSIN ) 
    ) ss. 
SHEBOYGAN COUNTY ) 
 
 Personally came before me this   day of    , 2024, Donald O. Pohlman, 
Mayor, and Anna Voigt, City Clerk, to me known to be the persons who executed the foregoing 
instrument and acknowledged the same. 
 
              
      Print Name:        
      Notary Public, State of Wisconsin 
      My Commission is permanent or expires:    
 
 

(The remainder of this page intentionally blank; 
signature page for Operator to follow.) 

 
  



Exclusive License Agreement for Nutt Ski Hill  Page 7 of 7 
      

OPERATOR: 
 
      CHEESE CAPITAL WINTER PARK, INC.: 
 
 
      By:         
       Joe Van Derven 

Title:        
 
STATE OF WISCONSIN ) 
    ) ss. 
SHEBOYGAN COUNTY ) 
 
 Personally came before me this   day of    , 2024, Joe Van Derven, to me 
known to be the person who executed the foregoing instrument and acknowledged the same. 
 
              
      Print Name:        
      Notary Public, State of Wisconsin 
      My Commission is permanent or expires:    
 

 

 

This Instrument Drafted By: 

Attorney Crystal H. Fieber 
HOPP NEUMANN HUMKE LLP 
2124 Kohler Memorial Drive, Suite 310 
Sheboygan, WI 53081 
T:  (920) 457-8400 
F:  (920) 457-8411 



Exclusive License Agreement for Nutt Ski Hill  Page 1 of 2 
Exhibit A 

EXHIBIT A 
 

Legal Description of Ski Hill 
 
 

Part of the Northwest Quarter (NW1/4) of the Southeast Quarter (SE1/4) of Section 21, Township 
15 North, Range 21 East, in the City of Plymouth, Sheboygan County, Wisconsin, described as:  
 

Commencing at the Southwest corner of said quarter section; thence N0°05’E along the North 
and South Half line of said Section, 794.2 feet; thence N30°55’E, 42.95 feet to the Southwest 
corner of Lot Number 1 of the recorded plat of Bruns’ Second Addition; thence S59°32’E along 
the southerly line of said plat 600 feet; thence S30°55’W, 121.35 feet; thence S59°32’E, 80.7 
feet to the westerly line of Lot Number 8 of Taylor’s Addition; thence S30°55’W, 441.1 feet to 
the South line of said quarter section; thence S89°5’W, 321.3 feet to the place of beginning,  
 

AND 
 
Part of the Southwest Quarter (SW1/4) of the Southeast Quarter (SE1/4) of Section 21, Township 
15 North, Range 21 East, in the City of Plymouth, Sheboygan County, Wisconsin, described as:  

 
Commencing at a point 350 feet West of the Southwest corner of Block 3, Original Plat of the 
City of Plymouth (recorded as the Original Plat of the Village of Plymouth), and 660 feet North 
of the South line of the South Half of the SE1/4 of Section 21; thence running West parallel with 
the South line of the South Half of the SE1/4, 639.7 feet to the Southeast corner of land of H. 
Brockman; thence North parallel with the West line of the South Half of the SE1/4, 333 feet to 
a point; thence East 646 feet to a point 329 feet North of the place of beginning; thence South to 
the place of beginning; 
 

EXCEPT commencing at the Southwest corner of Lot 23, Taylor’s Addition No. 2 to the City 
of Plymouth, running thence West 20 feet; thence North parallel with the West line of said Lot 
23 to a point due West of the Northwest corner of Lot 23; thence East 20 feet to said Northwest 
corner; thence South along the lot line to place of beginning;  
 
EXCEPT the East feet of Lot 5, Plat of Roosevelt Park, in the City of Plymouth, Sheboygan 
County, Wisconsin;  
 
EXCEPTING AND RESERVING a strip of land 33 feet in width on the South side of the 
above-described tract for road.  Said premises now known as the plat of Roosevelt Park.  
 

AND 
 
The West Half (W1/2) of the Northwest Quarter (NW1/4) of the Southwest Quarter (SW1/4) of 
the Southeast Quarter (SE1/4) of said Section 21, EXCEPTING the South 33 feet thereof for street 
purposes;   
 
AND 
 



Exclusive License Agreement for Nutt Ski Hill  Page 2 of 2 
Exhibit A 

Lot 8, Taylor’s Addition to the City of Plymouth, EXCEPTING THEREFROM the northerly 300 
feet thereof measured parallel with Western Avenue;  
 
AND 
 
The South 90 feet of the following described parcel of real estate, to-wit:  Commencing at a point 
in the center line of Western Avenue in the City of Plymouth, 730.1 feet Southeast of its 
intersection with the West line of the SE1/4 of said Section 21, running thence southwesterly at 
right angles to Western Avenue, 300 feet; thence southeasterly parallel with the center line of 
Western Avenue, 80.7 feet to the East line of the property described above; thence northeasterly 
at right angles to Western Avenue, 300 feet to a point in the center line of Western Avenue; thence 
Northwest along the center line of the Western Avenue, 80 feet to the place of beginning.  
 

EXCEPT a part of the NW1/4 of the SE1/4 of Section 21, described as: beginning at the 
Southwest corner of those lands described in Volume 737 of Records, Page 275; thence 
N29°19’10”E, 27.39 feet along the West line of said lands; thence S32°07’20”W, 60.00 feet 
along the West side of an existing fence; thence S58°58’50”E, 83.90 feet along the South line 
of an existing fence; thence N29°19’14”E, 35.42 feet; thence N60°57’30”W, 80.93 feet to the 
point of beginning.  
 
EXCEPT RESERVING UNTO THE SAID CITY OF PLYMOUTH, a permanent easement 
ten (10) feet wide for ingress and egress to lands owned by the City of Plymouth over and 
across the North 60.00 feet thereof in conjunction with that certain easement as set forth in 
Volume 737 of Records, pages 538/9. 
 

Parcel No. 59271-817210 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Exclusive License Agreement for Nutt Ski Hill  Page 1 of 2 
Exhibit B 

EXHIBIT B-1 
 

Ski Hill Improvements 
 

 

 



Exclusive License Agreement for Nutt Ski Hill  Page 2 of 2 
Exhibit B 

EXHIBIT B-2 
 

Ski Hill Lighting 

 



 

 
 
 
City of Plymouth 
128 Smith St. - P.O. Box 107 
Plymouth, WI  53073-0107 
  
 

 
  
 

 
 
 

Telephone: (920) 893-1271 
Facsimile: (920) 893-0183 

     Web Site:        plymouthgov.com 
 
 

 
DATE:  November 7, 2024 

TO:  Mayor and Common Council 

FROM: Tim Blakeslee, City Administrator/Utilities Manager  

RE: Discussion and Possible Action of Sargento Development Agreement Update 
 
Background: 
The City of Plymouth and Sargento entered into a Development Agreement in July 2019 in which 
the City vacated the cul-de-sac of Sunset Drive to allow Sargento to construct a private roadway 
and parking area. In exchange, Sargento would reconstruct, at its cost, the cul-de-sac of Sunset 
Drive further to the south.  The attached agreement extends the time-period of the agreement to 
September 2025.  The Plan to reconstruct the cul-de-sac was approved at Plan Commission on 
November 7, 2024 subject to plan approved by the Public Works Director.  
 
Staff Recommendation: 
Approve Sargento Development Agreement Update 
 
Attachment: 

• Draft Agreement 



FIRST AMENDMENT TO DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT FOR
SARGENTO FOODS INC.

This FIRST AMENDMENT TO DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT FOR SARGENTO 
FOODS INC. (the “Amendment”) is entered into by and between the CITY OF PLYMOUTH, a 
Wisconsin municipal corporation, maintaining its principal office at 128 Smith Street, Plymouth, 
Wisconsin 53073 (hereinafter referred to as “CITY”) and SARGENTO FOODS INC., a Wisconsin 
corporation, maintaining its principal office at One Persnickety Place, Plymouth, Wisconsin 53073 
(hereinafter referred to as "SARGENTO"). 

RECITALS

WHEREAS, SARGENTO and the CITY entered into a Development Agreement For 
Sargento Foods Inc. executed on July 30, 2019 (the "Development Agreement"), for the 
development of real property more particularly described in the Development Agreement (the 
“Property”).  All capitalized terms not defined herein shall have the meanings assigned to them in 
the Development Agreement; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Development Agreement, SARGENTO has the obligation to 
reconstruct, at its cost and expense, the cul-de-sac of Sunset Drive in the City of Plymouth; and 

WHEREAS, the parties wish to amend the Development Agreement as set forth herein. 

AGREEMENT

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the Recitals and other good and valuable 
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as 
follows:

1. Incorporation of Recitations.  The Recitals set forth above are incorporated 
herein and are made an enforceable part of this Agreement. 

2. Development Obligations Amended.  Paragraph 8, entitled Development 
Required, of the Development Agreement shall be amended to read as follows:

8. Development Required.  SARGENTO shall construct the 
Development in accordance with the site plan, unless otherwise approved by the 
Plan Commission.  All phases of the Development shall be complete, including final 
grading and paving, no later than September 30, 2025.

3. Development Agreement Ratified.  Except as expressly modified by this 
Amendment, all other terms and conditions of the Development Agreement are hereby ratified 
and confirmed and shall remain in full force and effect and binding upon the parties. 

(The remainder of this page intentionally blank; 
signature page for City to follow.)



First Amendment to Development Agreement for Sargento Foods Inc. Page 2 of 3

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the CITY and SARGENTO execute this Amendment as of the 
year and date indicated below.

CITY OF PLYMOUTH

By: 
Timothy Blakeslee, 
City Administrator/Utilities Manager

Dated: 

STATE OF WISCONSIN )
)ss

COUNTY OF SHEBOYGAN )

Personally came before me this _____ day of ___________________, 2024, Timothy 
Blakeslee, City Administrator/Utilities Manager to me known to be the person who executed the 
forgoing instrument and acknowledged the same.

Print Name: 
Notary Public, State of Wisconsin
My Commission: 

(The remainder of this page intentionally blank; 
signature page for Sargento to follow.)



First Amendment to Development Agreement for Sargento Foods Inc. Page 3 of 3

SARGENTO FOODS INC.

By: 
Michael Pellegrino, Chief Operating Officer

Dated: 

STATE OF WISCONSIN )
)ss

COUNTY OF SHEBOYGAN )

Personally came before me this _____ day of ___________________, 2024, Michael 
Pellegrino, Chief Operating Officer, to me known to be the person who executed the forgoing 
instrument and acknowledged the same.

Print Name: 
Notary Public, State of Wisconsin
My Commission: 

This Instrument Drafted By:
City Attorney Crystal H. Fieber
HOPP NEUMANN HUMKE LLP
2124 Kohler Memorial Drive, Suite 310
Sheboygan, WI 53081
Telephone:  (920) 457-8400
Facsimile:  (920) 457-8411

8032\266014



 

 
 
 
City of Plymouth 
128 Smith St. - P.O. Box 107 
Plymouth, WI  53073-0107 
  
 

 
  
 

 
 
 

Telephone: (920) 893-3745 
Facsimile: (920) 893-0183 

     Web Site:        plymouthgov.com 
 
 

 
DATE:  November 7, 2024 

TO:  Mayor and Common Council 
 
FROM: Tim Blakeslee, City Administrator/Utilities Manager   
 
RE: Approval of Plymouth Substation #5 Relay Panels 
 
 
 
Background:  
Plymouth Utilities is responsible for the construction and maintenance of electric distribution lines 
to local homes and businesses. The electric distribution equipment in the southwestern portion of 
the Plymouth service territory has reached near capacity in recent years. The Public Service 
Commission (PSC) approved the Certificate of Authority (CA) to construct a new substation in the 
Town of Mitchell at their open meeting on February 1, 2024 and issued their final order on March 
4, 2024. 
 
Now that the final order for the CA has been issued, staff is moving forward with bidding the 
various components of the substation project. Bids for Plymouth Substation #5 Relay Panels were 
opened on October 30, 2024. The low bid was from EP2 totaling $201,044.  Per Attachment 1, 
our engineering consultant Forster Electrical Engineering have evaluated EP2 to be the lowest 
qualified bidder. These bids are higher than budgeted, however the scope of the original budget 
has expanded to include an additional panel for SCADA.  In addition, costs for these components 
have increased since the project was originally scoped.  Forster believes Plymouth will not receive 
better pricing by rebidding these components.  
 
Staff requests Common Council approval of the bid subject to attorney/staff review and approval 
of the terms and conditions.  Please recall that ANR will pay 8/11 of this cost as part of the project 
agreement including the additional landscaping and site work required by the Town of Mitchell.  
 
Recommendation:  
Approval of Plymouth Substation #5 Relay Panels from EP2 totaling $201,044 subject to 
attorney/staff review and approval of the terms and conditions. 
 
Attachments: 

1. Recommendation from Forster Electrical Engineering 
2. Bid Summary 







Preliminary Bid Tab 

Plymouth Utilities

Relay Panels

Project P05-23A, Specification 4199

Bids opened October 30, 2024

Bid submitted by:

Base bid $239,688.00 $195,630.00 $212,536.00
Bid bond received Yes Yes Yes
Estimated Delivery 15-17 weeks 16 weeks 225 days

Comments
optional adder $5,414 to 
provide Wiring Diagrams

SEL EP2 KVA


	Common Council Agenda 11-12-24
	Consent Agenda
	3A. Common Council Minutes 10-29-24
	3BI. Approve List of City & Utility Vouchers dated 10/01/24 - 10/31/24
	3C. Acknowledge Minutes for filing
	3D. Building Report for October 2024
	3E. Approve Request to sell Department of Public Works Surplus Equipment
	3F. Approve Temporary "Class B"  and Class "B" Alcohol License for Plymouth Historial Society

	Public Hearings
	7A. Resolution No. 11 Adopting the Annual Budget, Making Appropriations, and Levying 2024 Property Taxes
	7B. Ordinance No. 18 An Ordinance Amending the City of Plymouth, Wisconsin Comprehensive Plan Existing Land Use Map and Future Land Use Plan Map by Changing property from Agriculture and Commercial to Residential
	7C. Ordinance No. 19 An Ordinance Amending Section 13-1-21, Zoning Map of the Zoning Code of the City of Plymouth
	7D. Ordinance No. 20 An Ordinance Amending Section 13-1-21, Zoning Map of the Zoning Code of the City of Plymouth

	Ordinance
	8A. Ordinance No. 21 An Ordinance Amending Section 15-1-4 of the CIty of Plymouth, WIsconsin General Ordinances Regarding Adoption of Camping Unit State Code

	New Business
	9A. Discussion and Possible Action of Ski-Hill License Agreement Approval
	9B. Discussion and Possible Action of Sargento Development Agreement Update
	9C. Discussion and Possible Action of Substation Relay Panels




